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The focus of this month’s issue is tax-
ation. An ever-changing tax code, as
well as complex and sometimes con-
fusing processes and procedures,
mean that CPAs are always chal-

lenged in trying to stay on top of new develop-
ments when serving their clients. 

First, authors Frank Agostino, Brian D. Burton, and
Caren Zahn provide a comprehensive review of the
processes involved in securing relief for taxpayers
that cannot pay their liabilities in full. The three
major options offered by the IRS—offers in com-
promise, installment agreements, and currently-not-
collectible status—are discussed in detail, and
programs at the state level are also mentioned.

Offshore tax evasion has long been a concern for
the IRS, and recent initiatives have sought to

improve cooperation with foreign governments,
mostly notably Switzerland. B. Anthony Billings,
William H. Volz, and Antonié W. Y. Walsh
summarize the history of compliance efforts in
this arena. 

Beyond compliance and enforcement, the tax
code can be the locus of incentives meant to spur
investment and development. Carnet A. Brown
and Vincent Cosenza provide an overview of tax
credits at the federal and state level that encour-
age homeowners to implement energy efficiency
improvements and renewable energy systems. 

A number of other taxation topics are covered in
shorter articles throughout the issue, including
innocent spouse relief, cost segregation, bond
premium amortization, document requests, state
taxes, and payment plans. 
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p u b l i s h e r ’ s  c o l u m n

Now You See It, Now You Don’t

Do you remember the tablecloth
parlor trick from your childhood
days? Picture this: Elegantly dressed

guests sit at a finely set table, and every-
thing—from wineglass to bread plate to cake
fork—is perfectly in place. Perhaps there is
a candelabra or a freshly pressed linen nap-
kin, expertly folded. They sip fine wine.

Suddenly, an emboldened “waiter”
appears and, in one dramatic swoop, pulls
the tablecloth clean off of the table. The
startled guests reach for their plates and
glasses, hoping to avoid disaster, but before
they can react, their place settings remain,
undisturbed. 

There is no better metaphor for what is
happening in the accounting profession
today. 

As I travel the state, talking to firm part-
ners and employees, communicating with
CPAs in education and industry, and inter-
acting with my colleagues from across
the country, they tell much the same story:
On the surface, everything is perceived to
be the same. There are a few challenges to
the profession, but no indication that the
proverbial tablecloth is about to be pulled
out from under everything. 

I know that many of you, even those who
have reached retirement age, continue to
work because you are expert at what you
do. You love running a successful practice,
you enjoy your client relationships, your
billings are most likely up, and life is pret-
ty good—but recent studies have shown that
things may not be so rosy. 

A Changing Culture
I have often used this column to speak

about the future of the profession. As much
as the profession has evolved in its 118-
year history, the culture of the profession
has remained more or less unchanged.
For more than a century, a CPA career was
fairly linear: go to school, get a degree,

work for a firm, take the exam, and then
either remain in public accounting or move
into industry. 

But now change is upon us due to the
progress and disruption of technology. The
demographics of up to four generations
working within a firm also present chal-
lenges. Student attitudes, education, and
career paths are different. As firms become
more specialized, and add different lines
of business outside of attest work, they’re
hiring more nonlicensed professionals. 

Numerous national studies focus on the
state of the profession, but I wanted to find
out what changes are happening in New
York. To that end, The CPA Journal has
partnered with Growth Partnership, which
publishes the annual Rosenberg Practice
Management Survey. This unique survey
identifies firm trends in New York and
even provides a qualitative analysis by
leading management and business consul-
tants within the profession.

If you don’t think change can upend a
profession overnight, look at what has
already happened to others. I have a com-
munications department at the  NYSSCPA
full of former journalists because they
woke up one morning and the career they
thought they were going to have didn’t
exist anymore. Nearly 19,600 newspaper
and 36,000 magazine jobs disappeared
between 2003 and 2012 (American Soci-
ety of Newspaper Editors; Advertising
Age). Ten years isn’t a long time when
talking about a profession that is consid-
ered so critical to American democracy that
the U.S. Constitution protects it.

The results of the NYSSCPA-Rosenberg
survey defied my assumptions and expecta-
tions—and they’re not necessarily what you
might assume. Look for this to be featured
in an upcoming issue of The CPA Journal.
Your firm’s potential growth and new prac-
tice opportunities may depend on it. q

Joanne S. Barry, CAE
Publisher, The CPA Journal
Executive Director & CEO, NYSSCPA
jbarry@nysscpa.org
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One needs only to peruse an early
edition of Montgomery’s Auditing
to learn that more than 100 years

ago, modern auditing began with a clear
emphasis on finding employee defalca-
tions; however, following the U.S.
Securities Act of 1933 and Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, that emphasis shift-
ed to the fair presentation of financial state-
ments, where it remains today. In 1938,
McKesson & Robbins—perhaps the
most notorious financial fraud of the 20th
century—led to the development of the
first formal auditing standards and a new
focus on intentionally overstated assets in
financial statements, particularly invento-
ry and receivables. According to a
February 1939 editorial in the AICPA’s
Journal of Accountancy, “the wave of pub-
licity raised by the McKesson & Robbins
case has shocked the accountancy profes-
sion into breathlessness.”

Nevertheless, over the succeeding
decades, the focus on fraud with respect
to financial audits increasingly took a back
seat as auditors began disclaiming respon-
sibility for discovering fraud unless it
resulted in a material misstatement.
Auditors treated fraud not as something to
search for, but rather as something to
deal with if they stumbled upon it—until
the late 1990s, when technological devel-
opments facilitated new, creative frauds.
Only then was the profession’s view of an
auditor’s responsibility to seek and find
fraud (if material to the financial state-
ments) articulated expressly in the audit-
ing standards for the first time in Statement
on Auditing Standards (SAS) 82,
Consideration of Fraud in a Financial
Statement Audit. Early in the 21st centu-
ry, several highly publicized, fraud-relat-
ed audit failures—Enron, Adelphia,
WorldCom, Waste Management, Tyco—
led to the passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002 (SOX); the formation of the
PCAOB; and a new, more robust auditing
standard on fraud (SAS 99, Consideration
of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit).

Currently, an auditor’s responsibility for
detecting fraud is addressed in the auditing
standards, primarily in the ASB’s recently
clarified (and expanded) AU-C section 240,
“Consideration of Fraud in a Financial
Statement Audit,” and the identically titled
AU section 316 in the PCAOB’s Interim
Auditing Standards (replaced, effective as
of December 31, 2016, with earlier appli-
cation permitted, with AS 2401 of the
“Reorganization of PCAOB Auditing
Standards” approved by the SEC September
17, 2015). These two standards are sub-
stantially the same; however, the AICPA
standard offers more detailed guidance
than the somewhat briefer PCAOB standard.
To aid CPAs in complying with these
standards, this article contains nonauthorita-
tive supplemental guidance on identifying
and addressing fraud risk in compliance with
the applicable standard. It is intended to sup-
plement the standards in selected critical
areas where the PCAOB has recently
expressed concern. 

Documenting Fraud Risk Assessments
Auditors are concerned with two dif-

ferent types of fraud: fraudulent financial
reporting and misappropriations of
resources. The first is often motivated by
a need to hide the second. As part of audit
planning and risk assessment, CPAs typ-
ically consider both general fraud risk fac-
tors and specific risks at the financial
statement assertion level that tend to pre-
sent elements of the fraud triangle (i.e.,
incentives or pressures, opportunities, or
attitudinal/rationalization factors) for both
types of fraud. This author has observed
that auditors commonly assign risk assess-
ment ratings to financial statement asser-

tions or line items and characterize some
as “fraud risks” with little or no specifici-
ty in their documentation as to the partic-
ular risk factors that resulted in these
assessments (i.e., how, why, and in what
form a fraud might likely occur).  

Both the AICPA and PCAOB standards
effectively dictate that all assessed risks of
material misstatement are to be treated as a
“significant” risk: defined as one that, in the
auditor’s judgment, requires “special” (which
term is effectively undefined) audit consid-
eration [AU-C section 240.27; PCAOB
Auditing Standard (AS) 12.71b or AS
2110.71b]. Accordingly, the absence of clear
documentation of an auditor’s responses to
fraud risk (i.e., an overly broad brush or care-
less assessment) can lead a third party—a
PCAOB inspector, peer reviewer, regulator,
or litigant—to conclude (frequently unjust-
ly) that the audit scope was not sufficiently
responsive to the auditor’s own risk assess-
ment. Consequently, the identification of
fraud risk should not be taken lightly.

In addition, it is critical to understand
that a fraud or other risk factor typically
deemed significant may not, in fact, be
present in a particular client’s circum-
stance, and that judgment should be appro-
priately assigned a low or moderate risk
level and so documented.  

Skepticism and Bias
Exercising professional skepticism when

conducting audits continues to be an area
of emphasis for the PCAOB; it is nearly
as fundamental as auditor independence,
and it underlies the need to obtain suffi-
cient appropriate evidence to support an
audit opinion. Although exercising pro-
fessional skepticism is necessary through-
out the audit, the process is critical when
auditing estimates, unusual transactions,
and evaluating selected accounting poli-
cies, particularly in the following areas:

N E W S&V I E W S
v i e w p o i n t

A Fresh Look at Fraud Risk
Guidance for Auditors

By Howard B. Levy
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n Resolving inconsistencies in, or doubts
about the reliability of, confirmations
received, or evaluating reasons for unre-
turned confirmations and management
requests not to confirm
n Selecting journal entries for testing 
n Challenging and evaluating the business
rationale for related-party and significant
unusual transactions
n Reviewing significant accounting esti-
mates (including “lookbacks” at signifi-
cant estimates inherent in opening
balances) for indications of previously
undetected management bias—in view of
identified fraud risk factors—that could
result in material misstatements.

Auditors should remain wary of indi-
cations of possible management intentions
to manage earnings or of other biases
exhibited in its decisions, such as choos-
ing aggressive or conservative estimation
assumptions (especially if inconsistent
from period to period) and selecting
accounting policies from the available
alternatives.

Three rules of thumb to be observed in
exercising professional skepticism follow:
n Do not merely seek or be satisfied
with the most readily available evidence
or only that which supports management’s
representations or preferences; seek and
objectively evaluate all available evidence
deemed relevant. 
n Do not be satisfied with less than per-
suasive evidence because of a perceived
strong relationship with (or an excessive
desire to please) management or because
of a belief that management is honest.
n Do not rely on management represen-
tations without adequate supporting evi-
dence, in the face of unresolved
contradictory evidence, or evidence that
does not make sense. 

Journal Entry Tests 
Following several highly publicized cor-

porate frauds, the requirement to test jour-
nal entries was introduced in 2002 in
SAS 99 to address the risk of fraudulent
financial reporting through management
override of controls. The requirement is
based on a presumption effectively man-

dated by the standard: the risk of man-
agement override is deemed always pre-
sent. Therefore, the need to test journal
entries to support an audit opinion increas-
es directly in relation to the extent of
reliance on controls (because of a higher
risk of undetected misstatement due to
management override) and decreases
substantially when, whether for purposes
of effectiveness or efficiency, relatively
more reliance is placed on substantive
auditing procedures.  

Accordingly, the most important
aspect of journal entry testing, particular-
ly to withstand adversarial scrutiny, may
often lie in justifying (in the audit docu-

mentation) the judgment applied in such
determining its scope. (This is especially
true for audits of SEC registrants,
because PCAOB inspectors have been
observed to reach adverse conclusions
regarding the adequacy of journal entry
testing, primarily due to the absence of
such documentation.) 

In determining the necessary scope of
journal entry testing, auditors should con-
sider not only the inherent risk of manage-
ment override, but also the extent to which
it is mitigated by the typically low level of
detection risk often associated with other
substantive auditing procedures in audits
conducted for smaller or less complex enti-

ties. In smaller audits, where the typical strat-
egy is predominantly substantive and,
accordingly, there is little or no reliance on
tests of internal control, journal entry test-
ing rarely contributes much to the achieve-
ment of audit objectives or adds any comfort
to conclusions reached based on other sub-
stantive tests. Rather, based on the typical
strategy and approach employed in such
audits, the need to test journal entries may
be viewed as largely a compliance proce-
dure (i.e., auditors do it because the stan-
dard says they have to). Consequently, such
testing supports the scope rather than the
opinion paragraph in an audit report.

Compliance with the applicable standard
requires auditors to do the following five
things:
n Obtain an understanding of internal con-
trols over journal entries (including veri-
fying that such controls are in place, but
without necessarily testing their operating
effectiveness).
n Make inquiries of individuals involved
in the financial reporting process about
inappropriate or unusual activity relating
to the processing of journal entries and
other adjustments. (Be skeptical about and
follow up on evasive or otherwise unsat-
isfactory answers.)
n Select journal entries for substantive 
testing.
n Evaluate selected journal entries. 
n Document the results of journal entry
testing. 

Two types of controls over journal entries
exist: authorization/access controls and
review/approval controls. Auditors need to
thoroughly understand 1) who can cre-
ate/post adjustments, under what circum-
stances, and how access is restricted; and
2) who has review/approval responsibility
under various circumstances, and how it is
documented. The risk of creating fraudulent
misstatements through journal entries
increases directly by the extent to which they
are created and processed manually, as
opposed to automated systems common in
larger companies. Unless an auditor’s under-
standing of these controls (including verifi-
cation that they are in place) leads him to a
view that they are deficient, it follows that

N E W S&V I E W S
v i e w p o i n t

Two types of controls 

over journal entries exist:

authorization/access 

controls and

review/approval controls. 
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the testing of journal entries can ordinarily
may be minimized. 

Sampling of journal entries is general-
ly not warranted because testing of jour-
nal entries is an entity-level concern not
intended to result in a conclusion about
any particular financial statement assertion
or line item; it is intended to afford cor-
roborative evidence to support conclusions
reached as a result of other tests applied
to all assertions as to the improbability of
a material misstatement due to fraud.
Accordingly, auditors should ordinarily be
more concerned with the nature of the
journal entries selected for substantive test-
ing than the number; thus, arbitrarily
selecting a number of journal entries to
test, without regard to their nature,
should generally be avoided. 

Both the AICPA and PCAOB standards
state that the scope—that is, the nature,
timing, and extent—of journal entry test-
ing should be based upon auditor judg-
ment applied with professional skepticism.
Judgmental criteria used for selecting jour-
nal entries to test should be reasonably spe-
cific, particularly when testing is to be
assigned to one of the less experienced
auditors on the team, rather than instruc-
tions that are limited to merely use of over-
ly broad terms such as “unusual.” The
standards suggest that auditors consider
selecting significant entries for testing from
among those exhibiting characteristics
commonly associated with fraudulent
activities. This is especially applicable
when it is considered unlikely that the
effects of such entries have been (or will
be) sufficiently examined in connection
with other substantive procedures. 

In addition to verifying that controls
over journal entries are in place and test-
ing their operating effectiveness when
deemed necessary to minimize (but not
eliminate) substantive testing, auditors will
need to examine supporting documenta-
tion for selected entries and other adjust-
ments and evaluate their accounting
propriety. Ordinarily, an auditor should
focus primarily on adjustments made at
the end of a reporting period, whether post-
ed to the general ledger, a working trial

balance, or other worksheet, or directly to
a financial statement draft. Selections
should focus particularly on significant
unusual adjustments, but generally
should not exclude normal, recurring
adjustments. Testing journal entries
throughout the period is not mandatory,
but it must be considered—the consider-
ation must be documented—and it is rec-
ommended, especially for SEC issuers.
Auditors might wish to discuss the scope,
method, and criteria used for selection of
journal entry testing with the audit com-
mittee or other governance body. 

Entries exhibiting characteristics com-
monly associated with fraudulent activities
include, but are not limited to, the following:
n Significant debits and credits to accounts
for which substantive testing has been
measurably reduced, due to reliance on
controls or those not normally sourced
from journal entries, particularly if they
increase assets or revenues or reduce
debt or other liabilities 
n Entries or adjustments 1) made to typ-
ically unrelated, unusual, or seldom-used
accounts; 2) appearing or known to be
made by individuals who typically do not
make journal entries; 3) accompanied by
little or no explanation, description, or
account numbers; 4) that adjust account
balances to apparently estimated amounts
when it is inappropriate to estimate; or 5)
that accelerate or delay recognition of
events and transactions into or out of the
reporting period
n Significant entries originated at remote
locations when the accounting function is
decentralized
n Significant entries to accounts that 1)
contain complex or unusual transactions,
significant estimates, or period-end adjust-
ments; 2) have been prone to error in the
past; 3) have not been timely reconciled
or contain unreconciled differences for an
extended period; 4) contain intercompany,
interdivisional, or other related-party or
unusual transactions; or 5) are otherwise
associated with an identified fraud risk 
n Significant nonstandard entries processed
outside the normal course of business and,
therefore, not subject to other internal con-

trols (must be considered under PCAOB AU
section 316 or AS 2401, and such consid-
eration must be documented). Examples
include consolidating adjustments; financial
statement combinations and certain reclas-
sifications (e.g., netting or grossing up of rev-
enue-related items when GAAP might
require otherwise); and entries or other adjust-
ments used to record nonrecurring estimates,
such as those connected with a business com-
bination or an asset impairment. 

For entities with numerous journal
entries, using Microsoft Excel or—better
yet—data extraction software (such as
IDEA or ACL) might be helpful in select-
ing items for testing on a nonsampling
basis judgmentally. (See Richard B. Lanza
and Scott Gilbert, “A Risk-Based
Approach to Journal Entry Testing,”
Journal of Accountancy, July 2007, and
Practice Aid for Testing Journal Entries
and Other Adjustments Pursuant to AU
Section 316, Center for Audit Quality,
Dec. 8, 2008.)

If an auditor’s understanding and mini-
mal testing leads to indications of fraudu-
lent activity, she will need to consider
expanding her tests or withdrawing from the
engagement, consult with the audit firm’s
management or legal counsel, and document
her considerations and conclusion.

Revenue Transactions
In the PCAOB’s view, revenue is

almost always an important focus area in
SEC issuer audits, given its general sig-
nificance and the complexities and judg-
ments that are often involved in its
recognition. Revenue is frequently used as
a key financial indicator by investors, ana-
lysts, and other users of financial state-
ments. Although revenue is not normally
as significant for privately held entities, the
AICPA standards, like the PCAOB stan-
dards, contain a presumption that there is
at least one fraud risk associated with
revenue recognition. Such risks need to be
addressed and treated as significant risks,
with appropriately responsive substantive
tests of relevant assertions included in the
audit scope. Although such a presumption
may be rebutted if the rationale is proper-

N E W S&V I E W S
v i e w p o i n t
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ly documented, this is generally not rec-
ommended in SEC issuer audits. (It is rec-
ommended that any decision to rebut this
presumption for an SEC issuer be evalu-
ated by the engagement quality reviewer
early in the engagement.)

In September 2014, the PCAOB pub-
lished Staff Audit Practice Alert (SAPA)
12, Matters Related to Auditing Revenue
in an Audit of Financial Statements.
Although SAPAs do not constitute
PCAOB rules or standards, auditors of
SEC issuers are advised to adhere close-
ly to its guidance because it represents
the collective views of the PCAOB staff
on how to comply with its auditing stan-
dards with respect to revenue recognition
risks. SAPA 12 underscores the fact that
PCAOB standards require auditors to treat
improper revenue recognition as a fraud
risk and, thus by definition, always sig-
nificant. The guidance in SAPA 12 is
intended to be equally relevant both before
and after issuers adopt the new revenue
recognition standards issued jointly by
FASB and IASB in May 2014.

When substantive testing is primarily
analytical, additional corroborative tests of
details or tests of controls are also required
for significant risks, such as those related
to recorded revenue. It should be clear in
the audit documentation that the analyti-
cal test is based on auditor expectations
duly supported by evidence, along with
any variances, and that the test was applied
to sufficiently disaggregated data.

In cases where substantive tests of
details of selected revenue transactions are
employed, unless selections are made
using a sample size at least equal to a prop-
erly determined statistical sample, it must
be clear in the audit documentation that 1)
the test is not a sampling application (and
the word “sample,” or any variation of it,
should not be used), and 2) it is not a pri-
mary substantive test intended to produce
a conclusion about the entire population
from which it is drawn. Rather, it should
be evident in the audit documentation that,
however the selection has been drawn, it
is sufficient in scope to reduce the risk of
undetected misstatement in the population

to an acceptably low level—either by itself
or in combination with additional corrob-
orative evidence obtained in other tests. It
should also be clear that the untested
population is not material and that the audit
conclusion with respect to the tested asser-
tion is based upon the aggregate results
of all tests applied to the subject popula-
tion. This concept is likewise applicable
for other, nonrevenue-related audit areas
not sampled when less than 100% of a
population is selected for tests of details. 

Cash Disbursements
Some audit firms typically perform

detailed tests of cash disbursements, a
practice that is not expressly required by
any auditing standard. Frequently, these
tests use statistical sampling, often after
carving out of the population cash expen-
ditures to be audited using other substan-
tive procedures. Obtaining evidence on the
probable absence of material misstatement
due to fraudulent expenditures by means
other than sampling often includes ana-
lyzing the population to aid in judgmen-
tally selecting potentially high-risk items
for testing. For example, sorting the pop-
ulation in descending order and investi-
gating larger transactions or reoccurring
amounts by vendor in order to identify
transactions that need additional investi-
gation, thus identifying circumstances that
indicate higher fraud risk, such as vendors
with a post office box address or with an
address that matches an employee’s; or
using a Benford analysis, a statistics-based
data analysis technique that can alert audi-
tors and accountants to possible errors,
potential fraud, manipulative biases, cost-
ly processing inefficiencies, or other mat-
ters requiring investigation. (See Mark J.
Nigrini, “I’ve Got Your Number: How a
Mathematical Phenomenon Can Help
CPAs Uncover Fraud and Other
Irregularities,” Journal of Accountancy,
May 1999.)

Auditors test disbursements transac-
tions—whether by sampling or other
means—because any use of a checkbook
typically presents the inherent risk of unau-
thorized expenditures, which is clearly a

fraud risk of the second type (asset mis-
appropriations), and thus must be treated
under the applicable standards as a sig-
nificant risk. Accordingly, the risk of unau-
thorized expenditures should be identified
in the audit documentation as a fraud
risk, and auditors’ tests of disbursements,
however structured, ordinarily should be
their audit scope reaction.

Auditors should recognize, however,
that disbursements are tested primarily to
obtain evidence of the probable absence
of material misstatements from fraudu-
lent expenditures. Testing the proper
classification of the debits resulting from
cash disbursements is only a secondary
purpose. When determining the focus of
the classification part of the test, except
when professional skepticism renders audi-
tors suspicious of classifications intended
to be misleading, auditors should be con-
cerned only with classifications that appear
on the face of the financial statements or
in the note disclosures. Therefore, auditors
should not necessarily be particularly con-
cerned with the lower levels of general
ledger account details, or even supple-
mental schedules when the opinion ren-
dered is only “in relation to the financial
statements taken as a whole.”

Related Parties and 
Significant Transactions

Effective for years beginning after
December 14, 2014, AS 18, Related Parties,
(reorganized as AS 2410) raises auditor per-
formance requirements in three critical areas
that historically have been viewed as pre-
senting heightened risks of material mis-
statement from fraud: related-party
transactions, financial relationships and trans-
actions with executive officers, and signifi-
cant transactions that are outside the
reporting entity’s normal course of business
or otherwise appear to be unusual. AS 18
(or AS 2410) prescribes several procedures
to identify and address risks commonly asso-
ciated with such transactions and relation-
ships. All of these procedures are mandatory
in SEC audits, and it might be wise to con-
sider and apply them in private company
audits whenever perceived risks warrant it.

N E W S&V I E W S
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AS 18 (or AS 2410) requires auditors
to perform certain procedures that are nec-
essary to assess the adequacy of related-
party disclosures and determine whether
transactions have been properly authorized
and approved or whether policy exceptions
have been granted. These required proce-
dures include the following:
n Obtain an understanding of and evalu-
ate management’s process for identify-
ing, authorizing, approving, accounting for,
and disclosing related-party relationships
and transactions.
n Perform specific inquiries of manage-
ment and others who might have knowl-
edge (e.g., internal auditors, in-house legal
counsel, the chief compliance/ethics offi-
cer or human resources director) of relat-
ed parties; the nature of the relationships;
and transactions entered into, their busi-
ness purpose, and whether they were unau-
thorized or authorized pursuant to
approved exceptions to policies. 
n Obtain a representation from manage-
ment that there are no undisclosed relat-
ed-party transactions or relationships.
n Consider whether any information aris-
es in performing audit procedures that indi-
cates the existence of any undisclosed
related parties or related-party transactions,
whether nondisclosure by management
was likely to be intentional (due to fraud
or other illegal acts), and whether it indi-
cates a control deficiency. 

n Obtain sufficient evidence to evaluate the
financial capability of related parties to ful-
fill the terms of the identified transactions.
n Make inquiries of audit committee
members about their understanding of and
concerns about related-party transactions.
n Communicate relevant related-party
information within the engagement team
and other auditors and make inquiries of
any other auditors as to additional matters.
n Evaluate whether the evidence obtained
sufficiently supports or contradicts any man-
agement assertion in the financial statements
that related-party transactions were con-
ducted on the same terms as similar arm’s-
length transactions, and modify the opinion
accordingly if sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence is unable to be gathered and man-
agement does not modify the assertion.
n Read relevant supporting documents and
evaluate the adequacy of the disclosures. 
n Communicate the evaluation of the com-
pany’s procedures for the identification of,
accounting for, and disclosure of related-party
transactions to audit committees. 

A Serious Responsibility
Today, auditors continue to hold that their

responsibility to detect fraud—often mis-
understood by users—is limited to instances
of material misstatements in the financial
statements; however, auditors must take that
responsibility seriously, exercise professional
skepticism, stay alert, and remain focused

on circumstances that present either the
opportunity or incentive to commit fraud.
Especially in environments where stock-
based or other incentive compensation is sig-
nificant, the motivation for fraudulent
financial reporting invariably exceeds the
temptation merely to steal office supplies,
inventories, or cash. (See Mark S. Beasley,
Joseph V. Carcello, Dana R. Hermanson,
Terry L. Neal, An Analysis of Alleged
Auditor Deficiencies in SEC Fraud
Investigations: 1998–2010, Center for Audit
Quality, May 2013.) 

More than a decade after Enron, SOX,
and SAS 99, major fraudulent financial
reporting scandals (e.g., the insurance giant
AIG, which allegedly perpetrated an
accounting fraud totaling $3.9 billion,
and Lehman Brothers, which reported 
$50 billion in loans payable as sales) have
continued to dominate business headlines
It is no wonder the PCAOB continues to
focus on fraud risk.                                q

Howard B. Levy, CPA, is a principal and
director of Technical Resources at Piercy
Bowler Taylor & Kern, Las Vegas, Nev. He
is a former member of the AICPA’s Auditing
Standards Board and its Accounting
Standards Executive Committee, and a cur-
rent member of the Center for Audit Quality’s
Smaller Firms Task Force. He is a member
of The CPA Journal Editorial Board.

N E W S&V I E W S
v i e w p o i n t

The CPA Journal, “The Voice of the Profession,” is hon-
ored to announce the appointment of two outstanding prac-

titioners to our Editorial Board: Howard B. Levy and Sheldon
M. Geller.

Howard B. Levy is director of technical services and account-
ing and auditing practice leader at Piercy Bowler Taylor & Kern.
He is an internationally recognized authority, writer, and con-
sultant to other CPA firms. Previously, he was national account-
ing and auditing quality control partner at Laventhol & Horwath
and former consultant to the Government Accountability Office
(GAO). 

Sheldon M. Geller, the founder, president, and managing mem-
ber of Stone Hill Fiduciary Management, after a seven-year absence,
rejoins our board as the new editor of our Retirement Plan Advisor
column. He is a frequent speaker on employee benefits plans for
NYSSCPA's Foundation for Accounting Education and has written
over 50 articles for The CPA Journal on fiduciary responsibility,
401(k) fund selection, profit-sharing plans, DOL audits, ERISA,
and other topics in the employee benefit plan space. He also served
at as an adjunct law professor at New York University. 

We welcome our new—and again welcome the veteran—
members of The CPA Journal Editorial Board of Advisors. q

ANNOUNCEMENT
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Commentary on
FASB’s Proposed

Changes to Nonprofit
Financial Statements 

Overhaul Falls Short on
Usefulness and Practicality

By Robert A. Dyson

Editor’s note: On April 22, 2015, FASB
issued an exposure draft of a proposed
Accounting Standards Update (ASU), Not-
for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) and Health
Care Entities (Topic 954), Presentation of
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit
Entities. Shortly thereafter, the NYSSCPA
formed a task force consisting of 15 mem-
bers of the Financial Accounting Standards
and Not-for-Profit Organizations
Committees to comment on the proposed
ASU. The Society’s comment letter, 
dated August 20, 2015, is available at
http://www.nysscpa.org/advocacy/
comment-letters. This article presents the
author’s personal viewpoints on the pro-
posal and does not represent the position
of the Society. 

FASB’s proposed ASU on financial
reporting for nonprofits is intended to

address the current net asset classification
requirements and improve the reported
information about a nonprofit’s liquidity,
financial performance, and cash flows. 

While the proposed ASU’s basic theo-
ry is reasonable, its application, as pre-
sented in the proposed revisions to the
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC),
results in a financial statement presenta-
tion that is difficult to understand and over-
ly complex. The difficulty in applying
the specific provisions to existing nonprofit
financial statements has caused FASB staff
to issue three sets of frequently asked ques-
tions to clarify the proposal’s intent. 

Classifying Net Assets
The proposed ASU seeks to improve

disclosures of liquidity and reduce com-

plexity by 1) combining permanently
restricted and temporarily restricted net
assets into “net assets with donor restric-
tions” on the face of the financial state-
ments and 2) requiring disclosure of the
individual restrictions in the accompany-
ing notes. This reflects a concern that
permanently restricted net assets may be
overstated (which understates liquidity)
because recent changes in the law have
blurred the differences between permanent
and temporary restrictions.

Today’s nonprofits have greater access to
endowment funds than in the past, but not
all net assets currently classified as perma-
nently restricted are available in the year fol-

lowing the issuance of the financial
statements (i.e., near term). The New York
Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Act (NYPMIFA) requires nonprof-
its to request authorization to spend funds
below the original dollar value of a restrict-
ed gift provided before September 17, 2010.
If donors do not object to such expenditures
or fail to respond within the specified time
frame, the nonprofit is limited to spending
a “prudent” amount. NYPMIFA creates a
rebuttable presumption of imprudence if,
in any year, a nonprofit appropriates more
than 7% of the fund’s average fair value
over the prior five years after considering
eight specific factors. Nonprofits must over-
come that rebuttable presumption to appro-

priate amounts greater than those deemed
prudent.

The proposed net assets with donor
restrictions would have two components: 
n Net assets that can be released from
restrictions, due either to compliance
with donor-imposed stipulations or the pas-
sage of time (currently called “temporar-
ily restricted net assets”), and prudent
expenditures of funds formerly classified
as permanently restricted 
n Net assets unavailable either in perpe-
tuity or in the near term because such
expenditures would be deemed imprudent.

The proposed changes do not differen-
tiate between the two components on the

face of the financial statements and do not
require adequate disclosure (e.g., of the
dates when restrictions are expected to be
satisfied) in the financial statement notes.
Whereas the first component describes
assets that are often available in the near
term (a measure of liquidity), the second
describes assets not generally available
until after the near term, such as donor-
restricted endowment funds.

NYPMIFA permits the prudent appro-
priations of endowment funds.
Expenditures in excess of prudent appro-
priations may result in “underwater”
donor-restricted endowment funds. A clear
definition of the terms “donor-restricted
endowment fund” and “underwater
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endowment fund” is required in order to
reduce diversity in practice in calculating
the underwater amounts. 

In this author’s opinion, a donor-
restricted endowment fund should be
measured at the original dollar value
established by the donor, minus allow-
able expenditures and prudent appropri-
ations, reflecting current law (adjusted
historic cost). Likewise, an underwater
endowment fund should be defined as the
current value of the assets held in the
endowment fund, minus the adjusted his-

toric cost. These definitions would pro-
vide the basis of the disclosure about why
the endowment funds are underwater: the
expenditure of funds in excess of that
allowable by the original donor or
deemed prudent by the governing board,
the reduction in value of the underlying
assets due to adverse market conditions,
or a combination of the two.

Measures of Operations
A second proposed change is the pre-

sentation of a specifically defined inter-
mediate measure of operations in the
statement of activities, intended to distin-
guish between resources that are or are not
available to support current-period activi-
ties. Although sound in theory, these pro-
posed measures do not provide relevant
information for understanding the rela-
tionships between operations of a specif-
ic period and the resource inflows available
to fund those operations. 

The proposed presentation requires that
investment revenues, expenses, gains, and
losses resulting from nonprogrammatic
investment activity be reported as a nonop-
erating activity in the statement of activities,
because the investment of contributions and
the related returns are not derived from
carrying out a nonprofit’s exempt purpose.
This position creates a false differentiation
between operating and nonoperating mea-
surements, considering that most nonprof-
its consider investment income as available
to fund exempt activities. 

The proposed intermediate measure of
operations creates an overly complex
presentation in the statement of activities,
as illustrated in an example in the proposed
ASU. The placement into service of pre-
viously acquired equipment totaling $1,500
appears four times in the statement of
activities, first as net assets released from
restrictions by reducing net assets with
donor restrictions and increasing operating
excess without donor restrictions. This
transaction is then presented as an internal
transfer by decreasing operating excess and
increasing nonoperating charges.

The internal transfers present both the
release of donor restrictions and appropria-
tions from board-designated funds in the
same statement-of-activity line item. This
increases the prominence of board-desig-
nated funds and implies an equivalency of
these funds with restrictions imposed by
donors. The governing board can authorize
the release of board-designated funds for any

reason. In contrast, nonprofits must satisfy
donor stipulations before using the applica-
ble restricted assets. 

This author recommends leaving the com-
ponents of operating and nonoperating activ-
ities to the discretion of the nonprofit’s
governing board. The current presentation
of board-designated funds as a subset of
unrestricted net assets should remain in
effect; it fairly presents the availability of
resources for operations. Eliminating the
requirement for a specified intermediate
measure of operations format would
reduce much of the proposed ASU’s com-
plexity by eliminating many of the internal
transfers in the statement of activities. 

Next Steps
The proposed ASU represents a com-

plete overhaul of nonprofit financial report-
ing and disclosure, despite FASB’s
assertions that it is only an update. The
significance of these changes has been
obfuscated by FASB’s seeking commen-
tary on the proposal’s objectives and relat-
ed justifications, as presented in the
background information section. (The
background information section is not
included in the ASC and, therefore, is not
U.S. GAAP.) This departs from FASB’s
common practice of seeking comments on
the proposed revisions to the ASC. 

FASB should reevaluate the usefulness
and practicality of the proposed presenta-
tion. Recent FASB guidance, such as on
revenue recognition, has focused on a con-
sistent framework between industries. The
nonprofit proposal departs from that
trend by requiring overly complex, indus-
try-specific rules. Because many users
analogize nonprofit financial statements to
“regular” U.S. GAAP, this author believes
that FASB should issue a second exposure
draft requiring financial reporting more
closely aligned with that required for for-
profit entities.                                q

Robert A. Dyson, CPA, is a director of
quality control at MBAF CPAs LLC,
New York, N.Y. He is a member of The
CPA Journal Editorial Board.
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Commentary on
FASB’s Proposed

Changes to Nonprofit
Financial Statements 
Change Is Welcome, but Some

Conclusions Should Be
Revisited

By Allen L. Fetterman
Editor’s note: On April 22, 2015, FASB

issued an exposure draft of a proposed
Accounting Standards Update (ASU), Not-
for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) and Health
Care Entities (Topic 954), Presentation of
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit
Entities, Shortly thereafter, the NYSSCPA
formed a task force consisting of 15 mem-
bers of the Financial Accounting Standards
and Not-for-Profit Organizations
Committees to comment on the proposed
ASU. The Society’s comment letter, 
dated August 20, 2015, is available at
http://www.nysscpa.org/advocacy/
comment-letters. This article presents the
author’s personal viewpoints on the pro-
posal and does not represent the position
of the Society.

Financial reporting by nonprofits has not
been changed in any significant way

since SFAS 117, issued in 1991. This pro-
posed ASU represents an extensive over-
haul. 

This author applauds FASB on its com-
prehensive, 261-page proposal and
believes that, for the most part, it will result
in more informative and transparent finan-
cial reporting; however, some of the
ASU’s conclusions remain an issue. The
following sections examine both sides of
this author’s viewpoint.

Net Asset Classification
In this author’s opinion, the proposed

change to net asset classification is the
most important and necessary change to
financial reporting by not-for-profit enti-
ties. This would replace the current

requirement to present three classes of
net assets (unrestricted, temporarily restrict-
ed, and permanently restricted) with a
requirement to present two classes of net
assets (with donor restrictions and without
donor restrictions). This change was neces-
sitated by the enactment of the Uniform
Management of Institutional Funds Act
(UPMIFA; NYPMIFA in New York) by
all but one state. Under the UPMIFA, non-
profits may expend principal from per-
manently restricted endowment funds—but
if permanently restricted funds may be
expended, then they are not actually per-
manently restricted. Thus, the distinction
between temporarily restricted net assets
and permanently restricted net assets is no
longer relevant. 

In the author’s view, the term “unre-
stricted” has always been misunderstood.
Unrestricted net assets may have contrac-
tual restrictions, such as a compensating
balance arrangement; as a result, unre-
stricted net assets may, in fact, be
restricted—just not from the perspective
of U.S. GAAP. The proposed change
will resolve these two issues.

Operating Measure
Although FASB is correct in its con-

clusion that all not-for-profit entities should
be required to present an operating mea-
sure on the statement of activities, I do not
believe that the board’s attempt to define
“operating” and “nonoperating” provides
a benefit to financial statement users. In
fact, it could lead users to reach an incor-
rect conclusion as to the operating “bot-
tom line” of the entity. The current practice
of permitting each entity to define what
is operating and what is nonoperating leads
to a better, more informative result—as
long as the entity is required to disclose
what it considers operating and nonoper-
ating and applies that policy consistently
from period to period.

Under the proposal, interest expense
on debt is defined as nonoperating. In
this author’s opinion, that is not correct.
For example, consider an entity that has
a program of operating group homes for
developmentally disabled adults. It pur-
chases a house to use as a group home

(residence) and borrows from a lending
institution in order to finance the purchase.
It does not seem appropriate that interest
expense on the debt would be considered
nonoperating, while depreciation and other
expenses of operating and maintaining the
residence would be considered operating.
If the entity considers the interest
expense as an integral part of its opera-
tions, then it should be permitted to
report that expense as operating. In
another example, if an entity considers
investment return to be an integral part of
its operations, it should be permitted to
report that revenue as operating.

Another benefit of permitting a not-
for-profit entity to define what constitutes
operating will be eliminating the many
transfers between operating and nonoper-
ating activities—examples are provided in
the exposure draft—that make the state-
ment of activities feel “crowded.”

Statement of Cash Flows
FASB concluded in its exposure draft

that the direct method of preparing the
operating cash flows section of the state-
ment of cash flows provides more useful
and understandable information for the
users; this author has maintained that same
position since the issuance of SFAS 95.
Yet the requirement for not-for-profit enti-
ties to report operating cash flows differ-

N E W S&V I E W S
n o t - f o r - p r o f i t  o r g a n i z a t i o n s

The proposed change to

net asset classification is

the most important and

necessary change to

financial reporting by 

not-for-profit entities. 



OCTOBER 2015 / THE CPA JOURNAL14

ently from the for-profit world is troubling.
Similar transactions should be accounted
for or reported similarly—unless there is
overwhelming evidence to the contrary.
There does not seem to be such over-
whelming evidence in this instance. 

I would encourage FASB to revisit the
statement of cash flows for all entities,
both for-profit and not-for-profit. The

direct method should be required for all
entities—and until that is accomplished,
this author would not favor requiring the
direct method only for nonprofits. It should
remain up to the not-for-profit to decide
whether to present operating cash flows
using either the direct or the indirect
method, similar to for-profit entities.

With respect to the other proposed
adjustments to specific line items on the
statement of cash flows (e.g., cash out-
flows for the purchase of long-lived assets
reported as operating cash outflows), the
same reasoning as above should be
applied. While this author agrees with the
reclassification of this and the other items
in the exposure draft (e.g., interest and div-
idends received reported as investing
cash inflows and interest on debt report-
ed as financing cash outflows), not-for-
profit entities should not be required to

classify line items on the statement of cash
flows differently than for-profit entities.

Expense Allocation Disclosure
I agree with FASB’s conclusion that

each not-for-profit entity should provide
information about how it allocates expens-
es among program and support functions
(e.g., management and general, fundrais-
ing). But one concern is that there is not
sufficient guidance in the proposal regard-
ing that required disclosure. A disclosure
could be as short and simple as: “Expenses
are allocated to the various functional
categories, based on the nature and usage
of the expense.” But this disclosure alone
does not provide any useful information.
At the other extreme, a lengthy discourse
on the allocation methodology used for
each material natural expense would lose
its usefulness if users do not take the
time to read it. It is an example of the
maxim, “sometimes more information is
less information.”

In order for this requirement to pro-
vide useful information to the users of
financial statements, FASB needs to pro-
vide guidance on what it is looking for in
this disclosure, as well as examples of
expense allocation disclosures.

Liquidity Disclosure
Although providing information in the

notes to the financial statements about
financial assets and liabilities will be use-
ful in assessing an entity’s liquidity, it also
leaves out important information.
Disclosing available financial assets and
financial liabilities might give the
impression that those assets are the only
assets available to liquidate the liabilities;
however, there might be nonfinancial
assets as of the balance sheet date that will
be converted into financial assets at a later
time (within the liquidity management
time frame) and will also be available to
liquidate current financial liabilities. FASB
should provide example of disclosures that
specifically deal with this situation.

Another concern is that a small not-
for-profit entity will not be able to con-
struct this note and will look to its

auditor to prepare this disclosure. This is
not uncommon. Before adding additional
disclosure overload on entities that do not
have the ability to prepare this note, the
profession should take a step back and ask
whether such a disclosure is necessary or
beneficial to users.

Classified Balance Sheet
One of the questions asked by FASB in

the exposure draft is whether business-ori-
ented, not-for-profit healthcare entities
should continue to be required to prepare
a classified balance sheet. (There is an
exception to this requirement for continu-
ing care retirement communities.) Using
the logic in the statement of cash flows
section above, this author concludes that
such entities should not be required to pre-
pare a classified balance sheet if other enti-
ties are not required to do so.

Other Items
The exposure draft contains many more

proposed changes to financial reporting by
nonprofits, including requirements to
report—
n underwater endowment funds in net
assets with donor restrictions,
n expenses by both their nature and their
function, and
n investment return net of external and
direct internal investment expenses.

This article has covered some of the
more important conclusions in the pro-
posed ASU. Although this author agrees
with most of the exposure draft’s propos-
al, all nonprofit CFOs and auditors are
strongly encouraged to read it and under-
stand the potential changes. Stakeholders
need to determine for themselves whether
each conclusion enhances financial report-
ing without imposing undue burdens on
not-for-profit entities.                        q

Allen L. Fetterman, CPA, MBA, worked
at Loeb & Troper for 36 years as an audi-
tor and consultant, serving nonprofit orga-
nizations. He is a lecturer on nonprofit
accounting, auditing, federal compliance
audits, tax-exempt issues, and governance.  
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Six Capitals, or 
Can Accountants
Save the Planet?

Rethinking Capitalism for the
Twenty-First Century

By Jane Gleeson-White, W.W. Norton
& Company, Inc., 2014, 978-0-393-
24667-4, 304 pages, $26.95 hardcover,
$12.99 ebook

Reviewed by Stanley Goldstein

Editor’s Note: On November 23, 2015,
the NYSSCPA and FAE, in partnership with
the New York Hedge Fund Roundtable,
will host a breakfast meeting on sustainability
reporting at the Society offices at 14 Wall
Street. On May 5 and 6, 2016, they will
present their first annual conference on
sustainability. Author Jane Gleeson-White,
IIRC Chairman Mervyn King, and AICPA
President and CEO Barry Melancon will be
featured speakers at the event.

Jane Gleeson-White’s previous book,
Double Entry (covered by this review-

er in The CPA Journal, April 2013, p. 12),
is the beautifully written history of
accounting from its beginnings in Venice
in 1494 to its contributions to our current
prosperous economic system. Double
Entry ended with a plea to accountants to
become the heroes of sustainability and
save the planet—because only we can do
it. Six Capitals, her current work on sus-
tainability, tells us how.

The author’s thesis is that we need
action to save our planet—now. Gleeson
emphasizes integrated reporting as an
essential component of our new thinking:
A demand that we count six types of
capital—not merely financial, manufac-
tured, and intellectual but also human,
social/relationship, and natural—when
assessing the output of an enterprise.
According to the author, who hails from
Australia, CPAs are the heroes of this story
and will be far into the future. 

Integrated Reporting
Integrated reporting—disclosing all the

information the investing public deserves to
see—is the key to what the author defines
as “a concise communication of value over
time.” The integration process calls for the
inclusion of nonfinancial information and
externalities, which will affect the fortunes
of the enterprise in years to come. Integrated
reporting is becoming institutionalized, and
has been recently mandated in France and
South Africa.

For example, Puma, the German sport-
ing goods manufacturer, reported that it had
used up $198 million worth of natural
resources (its profit was $255 million).
Infosys, an Indian technology consulting
firm, valued its “human-capital externality”
at $1.4 billion. Much of the theoretical
underpinning of the complex system of inte-
grated reporting stems from Robert G.
Eccles and Michael P. Krzus’s 2010 book,
One Report: Integrated Reporting for a
Sustainable Strategy.

In 2013, the International Integrated
Reporting Council (IIRC) published a
framework for a new way of business
thinking and reporting. In a story told by
Mervyn King, a South African jurist, the
creation of the IIRC began with an invi-
tation to tea from Michael Peat (great-
grandson of the founder of Peat Marwick
& Mitchell, now KPMG), followed by a
call from Charles, Prince of Wales, who
hosted the meeting that gave birth to this
powerful organization.

The Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB) was launched in
the United States in 2011. Although
SASB has no official role in the account-
ing profession, its voice is heard due in
part to Bloomberg LP’s substantial role in
supporting its mission. According to
Bloomberg’s Andrew Park and Curtis
Ravenel, as long as these externalities
are unpriced, they are effectively invisi-
ble to financial markets, and so cannot
inform investment decisions.

Six Capitals
Gleeson’s six capitals are: 1) financial,

2) natural, 3) manufactured, 4) human, 5)
social/relationship, and 6) intellectual. 

Natural capital is heavily emphasized
because, as Park and Ravenel say, “if
you don't measure it, you ignore it.” If an
oil driller produces one million barrels per
day that are worth $10 each, and its costs
for labor, parts, and depreciation come to
$9 million, the driller (under GAAP)
shows a profit of $1 million. But if in order
to extract the oil the driller uses one mil-
lion gallons of water (natural capital that
afterwards becomes unusable), which is
worth $1 per gallon in the open market,
then that venture is merely breaking
even, once the cost of natural capital has
been accounted for.

On the other hand, if, for example, IBM
spends $50 million per year sponsoring
education programs for inner city youths,
it has improved its relationship capital,
which also affects its brand. This positive
gain does not enter into an accountant’s
presentation of profit and loss.

The challenge Gleeson-White lays down
is for accountants to measure these
things—because, if we do, accountants
will be independent, trusted heroes who
can financially measure the six capitals. 

Accountants should be interested in
human capital because we invest so much
money and effort into improving our pro-
fession and its members, starting with first-
year recruits. Perhaps these expenses should
be amortized in the United States. Yes, this
is complicated, but we can do it.

The Role of Corporations
As Gleeson-White builds on the work

of those who first suggested “one report”
(also the title of the first major work in
this field), integrating all aspects of the out-
puts of an enterprise and the many stake-
holders of that enterprise (i.e., community,
local government, local charities), she
returns to accountants as the only profes-
sionals capable of measuring these outputs
in financial terms. 

The author finds corporations guilty
of being corrupt, greedy, selfish, and
capable of evil deeds, but she sees
accounting firms as saviors. (Forget for
the moment that the Big Four are huge,
corporate enterprises.) Since no one else
is taking the initiative to save the plan-
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et, this makes another case for accoun-
tants to lead the charge. 

Robert Eccles was the first to write about
the one report in One Report: Integrated
Reporting for a Sustainable Strategy (Wiley,
2010). Eccles called for a report combining
a balance sheet, statement of operations, state-
ment of cash flows, and an environmental
assessment, thus setting the stage for quanti-
fying the “externalities” that must be includ-
ed in order to tell the whole story of an
enterprise. These externalities include the
depletion of natural resources and harm to
workers, as well as positive acts like training
employees and supporting communities. This
is intense transparency. Eccles’s book res-
onated around the world and affected the busi-
ness communities and accounting professions
in Great Britain, South Africa, Germany,
and the Netherlands. Eccles wished for the
law to proliferate to many countries. His work
was directly influenced by that of journalist
Mervyn King, whose work culminated in
the formation of the IIRC and today impacts
the activities and reporting methods of busi-
nesses around the world.

Carrying the Torch
Nothing written since Eccles’s book

seems to push the cause of integrated report-

ing forward as much as Six Capitals,
because Gleeson-White advises monetiz-
ing all costs and all additions to the assets
of an enterprise. It cuts both ways—which
brings us back to "Why accountants?" 

Who else is capable of doing this? I
believe the author’s voice will be heard,
clearer and louder around the world, and
the message of her book will attract fol-
lowers at the May 5 and 6, 2016 confer-
ence sponsored by the New York Hedge
Fund Roundtable and the NYSSCPA. 

Accountants are catching on to the value
of Gleeson-White’s message, thanks in part
to her first book. In that same April 2013
issue of the Journal in which I reviewed
Gleeson-White’s Double Entry, Publisher
Joanne S. Barry wrote about the challenges
facing integrated reporting and the possibil-
ities for CPAs to get involved as standards
are still being developed (“The Future of
Sustainability Reporting Needs CPAs,” page
7). We are at the fulcrum of the action, and
Gleeson-White deserves a bit of the credit. 

When Prince Charles held the plenary ses-
sion put together by Mervyn King that gave
birth to the IIRC, all of the Big Four were
seated at the table. Many second-tier firms
are doing work in the field of integrated
reporting, and see this as a growth area.

According to the author of Six Capitals,
accountants are now and will long be the
heroes of this story. We measure the
impacts, results, and financial outcomes
in every area of sustainability. More impor-
tant, however, is that Gleeson-White
charges us with the responsibility to take
the lead in making sustainability and inte-
grated reporting intrinsic to the business
process. To me, the message of the April
2013 CPA Journal issue on sustainability
was that the field represents good busi-
ness for accountants, who can do the
work better than anyone else—so let’s wel-
come the opportunity. q

Stanley Goldstein, CPA, is the founder
and chairman of the New York Hedge
Fund Roundtable, a nonprofit organiza-
tion committed to promoting education
and best practices in the hedge fund
industry. He established Goldstein Golub
Kessler & Company. 

By way of full disclosure, Gleeson-White
credits the idea for her book to the New York
Hedge Fund Roundtable and the panel of
five experts on corporate social responsibil-
ity and sustainability on which she served.

N E W S&V I E W S
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Putting the Public
First

The audit profession has been grant-
ed a unique responsibility by the

SEC to evaluate and present for public
dissemination the financial records of all
publicly owned companies. Through the
years, the audit has been considered the
Holy Grail for investors seeking infor-
mation about the status of their invest-
ments. Some of the finest minds in
America have served as paradigms of
integrity as they made decisions that
served investors rather than corporate
clients. Arthur Andersen and Leonard

Spacek were two such leaders of the
accounting profession who felt strongly
that the integrity of the audit could not be
compromised. Maurice Moonitz, anoth-
er leader in the profession, pushed for
greater transparency for investors. 

As a result of such efforts, the fine line
between audit integrity and client inter-
ests has, by and large, been preserved.
In recent decades, however, consulting
assignments have served to diminish the
aura of integrity and independence that is
vital to public confidence in the profes-
sion. The growth of consulting assign-
ments has substantially exceeded that
which comes from the audit. The per-
ception—if not the reality—of a conflict

has created tension between auditors,
firms, and regulators. 

The CPA Journal has consistently
encouraged best practices of audit inde-
pendence and integrity. This is not a
one-day or even a multiyear task The
tensions arise from firms’ need to
grow and compete profitably, and the
sometimes lonely voices of the Journal,
the SEC, and much of the media can
make the difference between an indus-
try that is regarded throughout the world
as one that embraces fairness and inde-
pendence, or an industry that puts its
self-interest first.                       q

Arthur Levitt 
Former SEC Chairman 
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Tax & Accounting
Update

Tax & Accounting Update is provided by
Thomson Reuters and based on mate-

rial published on Checkpoint, its online news
and research platform. The Update is a quick-
reference guide to the most pressing 
issues coming down the regulatory and
administrative pipeline. Visit https://tax.
thomsonreuters.com/daily-newsstand/ for fur-
ther information and daily updates.

Tax News
IRS issues final regulations for

employer contributions to pension
plans. The IRS has issued final regulations
that provide guidance on the determina-
tion of minimum required contributions for
single-employer defined benefit pension
plans. Under IRC section 430, the mini-
mum required contribution is determined
by reference to the plan’s funding target
for the plan year (i.e., the present value
of all benefits accrued, earned, or other-
wise allocated to years of service before
the first day of the plan year). Under IRC
section 4971(a), an excise tax is imposed
on the employer for a failure to meet appli-
cable minimum funding requirements.

SEC News
Judge orders SEC to finish resource

payments disclosure rule. A federal judge
ordered the SEC to resume work on a
Dodd-Frank rule that is more than four
years past a deadline set by Congress.
Previously, a federal court had thrown out
the rule that required oil and mining
companies to publicly disclose the pay-
ments they make to governments to do
business, but this latest ruling by Judge
Denise Casper told the SEC that the pre-
vious setback in court did not justify
such an extended delay for finishing the
rule. “The SEC’s delay in promulgating
the final extraction payments disclosure
rule can be considered unlawfully with-
held as the duty to promulgate a final
extraction payments disclosure rule
remains unfilled more than four years past
Congress’s deadline,” said Judge Casper. 

FASB News
Investors require better explanation

of new credit losses standard. FASB’s
Investor Advisory Committee (IAC)
requested more information about how the
FASB’s planned standard to revamp loan-
loss accounting will work once it is imple-
mented. FASB aims to publish the
much-anticipated final standard by the end
of the year, but the panel’s members say
they do not have enough information to
sufficiently judge the standard and advise
the board on its requirements. “We need
specificity in terms of what questions

you specifically have and what additional
examples you need to be provided with,”
FASB member Lawrence Smith said.
“Because right now, I participated in that
session, and I don’t quite understand what
you’re asking.”

Revenue disclosures lacking for long-
term aerospace and defense contracts.
Aerospace and defense companies involved
in long-term deals to build aircraft or space-
craft do not disclose enough information
about how they calculate the revenue they
collect from these contracts, according to a
study from the Georgia Tech Financial
Analysis Lab. The problem, the study said,
lies with the mechanics of percentage-of-
completion (POC) revenue accounting,
which calls for companies to recognize
revenue by comparing incurred costs to the
total costs the company estimates will be
required to complete the contract.

Unexpected cost overruns can occur because
the method relies on estimates. These
overruns can lead to significant losses later
on in the contracts. 

PCAOB News
Inspection plan is outlined for bro-

ker/dealer auditors. On September 1, the
PCAOB published a Staff Inspection Brief
to summarize its plans for inspecting audit
firms that serve broker/dealers regulated
by the SEC. The PCAOB said it planned
to follow up with additional briefs with
more information about its inspection 
process. “We think auditors of broker/deal-
ers should know that we are focused on
areas where we previously found defi-
ciencies as well as other areas, like engage-
ment quality review and auditor
independence," said Robert Maday, the
deputy director of the board’s division of
registration and inspections.

IASB News
European commission searches for

new chief at advisory panel. On August
31, the European Commission said that it
is soliciting nominations for the vacant
presidency of the European Financial
Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG). The
opening appears at a time when some
European officials are lobbying for a
greater say in standards setting for the
IASB. Wolf Klinz, a German who repre-
sented the Free Democrats in the European
Parliament, had been selected earlier this
year to fill the post, but ill health forced
him to resign before he could be sworn in.

GASB News
Basic financial reporting model set for

full review. On September 1, GASB added
a reexamination of its basic financial
reporting model for state and local gov-
ernments to its agenda. The board said it
is looking for ways to make the model
more useful to the investors, taxpayers, and
regulators that use financial reports from
government bodies. “It is an important part
of effective standard-setting to routinely
seek to improve existing standards that
have been in effect for some time,” GASB
Chair David Vaudt said in a statement.  q
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In Brief
Individuals who cannot pay their tax liabilities in full often turn to tax

professionals to secure relief and accommodations from the government.
CPAs counseling such taxpayers should have a mastery of the IRS (and
state) forms and procedures necessary to request relief. This article reviews
the forms and procedures involved in the three major options for tax-
payers with insurmountable liabilities: offers in compromise, install-
ment agreements, and currently-not-collectible status.

Mastering
Forms of Tax
Liability Relief
What CPAs Need to Know about Offers
in Compromise, Installment Agreements, 
and CNC Status Requests

By Frank Agostino, Brian D. Burton, and Caren Zahn

T
ax professionals frequently have
clients unable to pay their tax lia-
bilities in full. Mastery of the IRS
forms associated with tax relief

requests is the first step in securing liabil-
ity concessions and accommodations.
Depending on a taxpayer’s financial situ-
ation, an individual may propose an offer
in compromise (OIC), establish a long-term
payment schedule through an installment
agreement, or request that the tax account
be placed in currently-not-collectible
(CNC) status. 

To achieve one of these solutions, tax
professionals should be well acquainted
with the Form 433 series, which is used
by the IRS to obtain the current financial
information necessary for determining how
a wage earner or self-employed individu-
al can satisfy an outstanding tax liability,
including whether the taxpayer: 1) can
make full payment in one lump sum by
borrowing against assets; 2) can make
full payment in up to seven years through
an installment agreement; 3) qualifies for
a reduction in liability through an OIC; or



4) qualifies for CNC status due to finan-
cial hardship. 

This article first examines the criteria by
which the IRS evaluates candidates for an
OIC, full or partial pay installment agreement,
or CNC status. Next, the forms required by
the IRS to request the OIC, installment agree-
ment, or CNC status and how best to pro-
vide the information requested on those
forms, are detailed. Finally, the forms 
and information required to request similar
relief in New York and New Jersey are
covered. Note that all IRS forms referred to
in this article are available from the IRS web-
site (http://www.irs.gov/Forms-&-Pubs). 

The Basics: Offer in Compromise   
Offer in compromise. An OIC allows a

taxpayer to settle a tax debt for less than
the full amount owed. Before completing the
OIC forms, taxpayers should use the OIC
prequalifier tool provided on the IRS 
website (http://irs.treasury.gov/oic_pre_
qualifier/). The instructions provide that
“although it may show you can fully pay
your liability, you may still file an offer in
compromise and discuss your individual
financial situation with the IRS.” 

In the authors’ experience, however, the
IRS will first determine whether the lia-
bility can be fully paid within the collec-
tion statute under installment agreement
guidelines. The IRS will consider the tax-
payer’s ability to pay, including income,
expenses, and equity in assets. 

There are three types of OIC arrange-
ments: 1) doubt as to collectability, 2)
doubt as to liability, and 3) effective tax
administration. With limited exceptions,
addressed below, an OIC requires submis-
sion of Form 433-A in addition to Form 656.

Doubt as to collectibility. Doubt as to
collectibility describes cases in which the
IRS agrees to accept less than the entire
amount due because the full liability can-
not be collected before the statute of lim-
itations expires. To request an OIC on the
basis of doubt as to collectibility, a tax-
payer must submit Form 656 along with
Form 433-A (OIC) and a nonrefundable
$186 application fee. Taxpayers must also
indicate whether they propose to pay the
offer amount in a lump sum or install-
ment payments. 

A lump-sum offer refers to an offer
payable in up to five installment pay-
ments beginning the month after the offer
is accepted. Taxpayers should offer the net

realizable equity (NRE) of their assets, plus
the amount of remaining monthly income
after the national standard expenses (dis-
cussed below) are applied to the offer for-
mula set forth in Form 656 (also discussed
below). The NRE is defined as the quick
sale value (i.e., the amount that a taxpay-
er could reasonably expect from the sale
of an asset if sold quickly, typically 90 days
or less) minus what the taxpayer owes a
secured creditor. 

To submit a lump-sum offer, a taxpay-
er must include with Form 656 a nonre-
fundable down payment equal to 20% of
the offer amount, which should be provided
in a separate check than the application fee.
Note that both the application fee and down
payment are nonrefundable; neither amount
will be returned if the offer is rejected,
although the taxpayer has the right to spec-
ify the tax liability to which the IRS is to
apply the 20% payment.

A “periodic payment offer” is payable in
six to 24 equal monthly installments. To sub-
mit a periodic payment offer, a taxpayer must
include the first proposed installment pay-
ment along with Form 656 and the $186
application fee, both of which are nonre-
fundable. Moreover, while the IRS is evalu-
ating a periodic payment offer, the taxpayer
must continue to make periodic payments
established under the terms of the proposed
offer—also nonrefundable if the offer is not
accepted—although the taxpayer has the right
to specify the tax liability to which the peri-
odic payments are applied. 

For either a lump-sum or periodic pay-
ment offer, an individual may qualify for
a low-income exception, which waives the
application fee along with the require-
ment to submit any payments while the
offer is under consideration. This waiver
is available to taxpayers whose total month-
ly income falls at or below 250% of the
poverty line [per U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services (HHS)
guidelines]. Form 656 provides the current
low-income certification guidelines so that
taxpayers may determine whether they
qualify; for 2015, eligible taxpayers must
have a gross monthly household income
no greater than $2,431.

Taxpayers should submit a periodic pay-
ment offer that can then be converted to a
lump-sum offer so that the taxpayer is not
at risk of losing the 20% down payment. 

Doubt as to liability. This arrangement
is appropriate when there is a genuine

dispute as to the existence or amount of
the correct tax debt under the law (e.g.,
an individual’s responsibility for a trust
fund recovery penalty). To apply for an
OIC under these circumstances, a taxpay-
er should submit Form 656-L, Doubt as
to Liability. There is no application fee,
and Form 433-A (OIC) is not required.
Doubt as to liability is rarely granted, and
reviews are “conducted in a manner sim-
ilar to an audit reconsideration examina-
tion” [Internal Revenue Manual (IRM),
part 4.18.2.4.1, Dec. 9, 2008].

Effective tax administration. This is a
policy that allows taxpayer offers to be
accepted when, although there is no
doubt that the tax is legally owed and that
the full amount owed can be collected,
requiring payment in full would either cre-
ate an economic hardship or would be
unfair and inequitable because of excep-
tional circumstances (e.g., terminal illness).
Effective tax administration as a basis for
relief is rarely granted by the IRS (Sandy
Freund, “Effective Tax Administration
Offers in Compromise—Why So Ineffec-
tive?,” Virginia Tax Review, vol. 34, no.
157, 2014). 

Appeal of rejection. A taxpayer may
appeal a rejection within 30 days by fil-
ing Form 13711, “Request for Appeal of
Offer in Compromise,” along with a brief
statement indicating the reason for dis-
agreement. A taxpayer may dispute an item
in the expense table or assets and equity
table (AET), such as the “value of future
income,” that is provided with the rejec-
tion letter. A taxpayer may also disagree
with a reason stated in the rejection letter
but not discussed in one of the tables, such
as the IRS’s analysis of economic hardship
or effective tax administration. In either
case, supporting documents are required. 

Compromise of a Compromise 
The IRS takes the position that the

need to further compromise an accepted
OIC should be rare (IRM part 5.8.9.5, April
23, 2015). In cases where enforcement of
an accepted OIC’s conditions would
place the taxpayer at risk of experiencing
extreme hardship, however, the govern-
ment’s interests may be best served by
either 1) adjusting the payment terms of
the OIC, 2) formally compromising the
existing compromise, or 3) obtaining man-
agerial approval to settle the OIC for the
amount already paid without default. The
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appeals office that accepts an OIC will also
consider a taxpayer’s subsequent proposal
for compromise, utilizing the same con-
siderations and merits as if the proposal
was an OIC request submitted on Form
656 (IRM part 5.8.9.5.2, April 23, 2015).
Because the reviewing office and criteria
remain the same, a taxpayer’s success
will largely depend on the ability to cite
specific developments and changes in cir-
cumstances that have occurred in the
period since the original offer was accept-
ed (e.g., loss of employment). IRM
exhibit 5.8.9-1 provides a sample letter that
a taxpayer may submit to the IRS to
detail the reasons that an OIC should be
compromised, along with a completed
Form 433-A or Form 433-F financial state-
ment and supporting documentation.

Installment Agreements 
The IRS’s “Fresh Start” program makes

it easier to pay back taxes, avoid federal
tax liens, and have federal tax liens with-
drawn (http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-
pdf/p1854.pdf). The IRS charges a one-
time “user fee” of $120 for a taxpayer who
submits monthly standard installments by
mail or payroll deduction. A taxpayer who
pays by direct debit from a bank account
is entitled to a discounted user fee of $52
(required for debts in excess of $25,000).
The user fee is further reduced to $43 for
those taxpayers whose income falls at or
below 250% of the HHS poverty guide-
lines. Taxpayers who meet the low-income
criteria may request the reduced user fee
by submitting Form 13844.

A taxpayer who is able to secure an
installment agreement must be prepared to
comply or face default. Because an install-
ment agreement does not toll the statute of
limitations on collection (unlike an OIC),
a late or missed payment or new liability
will cause the agreement to default, and
collection action will resume. 

The Fresh Start program provides for the
following types of installment agreements.

Guaranteed installment agreement. A
guaranteed installment agreement is avail-
able to taxpayers with a tax balance of
$10,000 or less (excluding penalties and
interest), without requiring the taxpayer to
provide Form 433-A or Form 433-F. The
IRS will not file a federal tax lien, as long
as the liability is paid in full within 36
months by direct debit from a bank account.
To qualify, taxpayers must have not failed

to file any income tax returns or to pay any
tax shown on such returns during any of
the preceding five taxable years. A taxpay-
er is not entitled to a guaranteed installment
agreement if the taxpayer has previously
entered into an installment agreement dur-
ing any of the preceding five taxable years.

Streamlined installment agreement. As
part of the Fresh Start initiative, the availability
of streamlined installment agreements was
expanded to include taxpayers with aggregate
balances owed of less than $50,000 (includ-
ing taxes, penalties, and interest) who are cur-
rent with all their filing and payment obliga-
tions. Previously, streamlined installment
agreements had been available only to tax-
payers with an aggregate balance below
$25,000. Moreover, the period for paying
off tax debt via a streamlined installment
agreement was increased from 60 months
to 72 months, as long as the debt is paid
in full before the collection statute expira-
tion date (CSED).

A taxpayer can apply online for a stream-
lined installment agreement by selecting the

online payment agreement application option.
Approval can be expected within 30 to 60
days. The IRS charges a nonrefundable pro-
cessing fee of $105, in addition to the user
fees noted previously. Taxpayers with a bal-
ance between $25,000 and $50,000 must sub-
mit a direct debit installment agreement
request using Form 9465-FS. 

Nonstreamlined installment agreement.
For balances that exceed $50,000, taxpay-
ers current with their tax filing obliga-
tions may request an installment agreement
by submitting Form 9465, along with Form
433-A or Form 433-F and supporting doc-
umentation. The IRS may review the tax-
payer’s loan capabilities or request that the
taxpayer liquidate certain assets to pay
down the liability. If taxpayers must adjust
their lifestyle or liquidate assets in order to
make payment, a tiered installment agree-
ment can be requested in which the month-
ly payments for the first six months to
one year of the agreement are lower than
the level payments for the duration of the
agreement.
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Partial payment installment agreement.
For taxpayers with limited means who do
not qualify for an OIC, the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 amended Internal Rev-
enue Code (IRC) section 6159 to provide
the IRS with the authority to enter into a par-
tial payment installment agreement (PPIA)
that does not provide for full payment of out-
standing tax liabilities. The IRS may grant
a PPIA in cases where a taxpayer has some
ability to pay, but full payment cannot be
achieved by the CSED. 

To request a PPIA, a taxpayer must sub-
mit Form 433-A. The PPIA remains in
place for the period of time remaining on
the statute of limitations for collections. A
PPIA may be granted when a taxpayer has
no assets or equity in assets, the equity is
insufficient to secure a loan, or liquida-
tion would impose an economic hardship.
Treasury Regulations section 301.6343-1
defines “economic hardship” as an inabil-
ity to meet reasonable basic living expens-
es. A PPIA requires that the taxpayer pay
the maximum monthly payment based
upon the taxpayer’s ability to pay. More-
over, taxpayers who have defaulted on an
installment agreement within the past 24
months are required to make their PPIA
monthly payments via direct debit or a pay-
roll deduction installment agreement
(PDIA) by submitting Form 2159. 

Appeal of rejection. IRC section 7122(e)
provides that taxpayers whose request for
an installment agreement is rejected may
challenge the rejection with IRS Appeals.
Taxpayers must file Form 9423 with the
office that rejected the installment agreement
request within 30 days of the rejection. 

Currently-Not-Collectible Status
Taxpayers’ accounts may be marked 

currently-not-collectible (CNC) when either
the taxpayers are insolvent or any payment
would create economic hardship by leav-
ing them unable to meet reasonable living
expenses (IRM part 5.16.1.1 Aug. 25, 2014).
An account can be designated CNC, and
removed from active collection inventory,
even if the taxpayer is not in compliance
with the necessary filing obligations. 

A taxpayer’s account can remain in
CNC status for up to two years, during
which time the statute of limitations on col-
lection actions continues to run. The IRS
sets an income threshold for the taxpayer,
usually based on the last tax return filed,
and any significant change in the taxpay-

er’s income will cause the account to be
taken out of CNC status. The determina-
tion that an account is uncollectible due
to economic hardship is based on infor-
mation about the taxpayer’s financial con-
dition provided on Form 433-A.

Form 433-A: Determining a Taxpayer’s
Financial Condition

A taxpayer’s financial condition must be
substantiated before an installment agree-
ment will be granted (IRM part 5.15.1.2,
Nov. 17, 2014). Moreover, to a large
extent, Form 433-A (OIC), which is used
to request an OIC (discussed below) mir-
rors Form 433-A, with the exception of
calculations provided to determine a tax-
payer’s NRE. 

Form 433-A is used to obtain the cur-
rent financial information necessary for
determining how a wage earner or self-
employed individual can satisfy an out-
standing tax liability, such as eligibility for
an installment agreement. The form is
signed under penalties of perjury, which
is one reason a tax professional must ver-
ify that the taxpayer’s information is true
and complete prior to submission. A tax
professional whose client submits Form
433-A is well advised to perform a com-
prehensive overview analysis to confirm
the taxpayer’s income, expenses, and
assets, using all available investigative
tools, including electronic databases. 

Form 433-A must be submitted with
documentation that supports the assets,
income, and household expense informa-
tion provided to the IRS, including 1) bank
account, investment account, and credit
card account statements for the prior three
months; 2) cash-value life insurance poli-
cy information; and 3) household bills for
the prior three months, including mortgage
statements, rent receipts, utility bills, real
estate taxes, telephone bills, homeowners
or renters insurance, vehicle lease or pay-
ment statements, and vehicle insurance
(IRM part 5.15.1.3, Nov. 17, 2014).

Completing Form 433-A 
Form 433-A is divided into seven sec-

tions: 1) personal information, 2) employ-
ment information for wage earners, 3) other
financial information, 4) personal asset
information for all individuals, 5) month-
ly income and expenses, 6) business 
information, and 7) sole-proprietorship 
information. Sections 6 and 7 should be

completed only by those taxpayers who are
self-employed. 

A line-by-line analysis of Form 433-A
is beyond the scope of this article. How-
ever, the following are important practice
tips for tax professionals when complet-
ing Form 433-A on behalf of a client.

Section 1: Personal information. The
form requests the name and contact infor-
mation of the taxpayer and spouse (if appli-
cable). Only information pertaining to the
liable party should be provided throughout
the form. Therefore, it is important to know
whether the tax liability is alleged jointly
or only against one spouse, which will
depend on whether the liability relates to
a tax year in which an individual or joint
return was filed.

Regarding the taxpayer’s address, the
entry should reflect an actual physical
address, not a P.O. box or mail drop.
Taxpayers should not be under the illusion
that it is possible to conceal their place of
residency from the IRS.

Only the representative’s telephone num-
bers and contact information should be pro-
vided to ensure that the IRS contacts the
representative instead of the taxpayer
directly. IRC Section 6304 requires that the
IRS employ “fair tax collection practices”
and specifically prohibits communications
with a taxpayer regarding the collection
of unpaid tax in those cases in which the
taxpayer is knowingly represented in con-
nection with the liability.

The form also asks about the taxpay-
er’s marital status as well as the name, age,
and relationship of any dependents. The
IRS would prefer that any dependents
listed on Form 433-A match the depen-
dents claimed on the taxpayer’s Form
1040. Nevertheless, a taxpayer should
include all dependents, regardless of
whether claimed on Form 1040. For exam-
ple, if a taxpayer is divorced or separated
with children, even if the children do not
live with the taxpayer, or the taxpayer cares
for an elderly parent, these dependents
should be included.

Section 2: Employment information for
wage earners. Section 2 applies to wage
earners only and does not apply to activi-
ties that produce self-employment income.

The form asks for the responsible tax-
payer’s employment information, includ-
ing the employer’s name, address, and 
telephone number. Again, taxpayers should
not list their work telephone number to pre-

22 OCTOBER 2015 / THE CPA JOURNAL



vent IRS contact at the workplace. To this end, the form asks
specifically whether the taxpayer’s employer allows contact at
work. The answer to this question is important, as IRC Section
6304 expressly forbids the IRS from contacting a taxpayer regard-
ing collection of unpaid tax at the taxpayer’s place of employ-
ment when the IRS has reason to know that the taxpayer’s employ-
er does not permit such communications. 

Employment information of the taxpayer’s spouse is required
when the spouse is also a liable party. When the taxpayer’s spouse
is not a liable party, this information should be omitted from this
section, as well as Form 2848, as it relates to the liability.

Section 3: Other financial information. Regarding financial
information, the form asks whether the taxpayer is a party to a
lawsuit, and it requires that the answer provided be informed by
all available information from public searches. Taxpayers should
make sure that any asset information included in the IRS’s alle-
gations is also included in Form 433-A. 

The taxpayer must disclose any bankruptcy filing. A taxpayer
should always evaluate whether any of the taxes at issue were
discharged at some earlier time or are currently dischargeable. 

The form also inquires whether the taxpayer is either the ben-
eficiary of a trust, estate, or life insurance policy, or the trustee,
fiduciary, or contributor of a trust. This is a significant question,
as IRS personnel analyzing a taxpayer’s financial information will
“consider … interests in estates and trusts … from which money
may be borrowed to make payment.” (IRM part 5.15.1.2, Oct. 2,
2012) More specifically, “whole life policies should be reviewed
as an asset for borrowing against or liquidating.” (IRM part
5.15.1.26, Oct. 2, 2012) Therefore, tax professionals should review
IRS wage and income transcripts to identify any Forms K-1
submitted by a trust, Forms 712 submitted by an insurance car-
rier, and Forms 1099-INT reflecting interest paid. 

Taxpayers must disclose whether, in the past 10 years, they
have transferred any assets for less than full value (known as
a “dissipated asset”). When a taxpayer has sold, transferred,
encumbered, or otherwise disposed of assets to avoid paying a
tax liability, the IRS may view the transfer to be fraudulent and
avoidable. An example of a dissipated asset is when a taxpay-
er transfers a house to a spouse in order to avoid an IRS lien
or to avoid having to include any equity in the asset towards
the payment or down payment of tax liability. To protect clients
from themselves, in the case of real property, a deed search
should be performed to confirm that the ownership history is
bona fide.

Section 4: Personal asset information. With limited excep-
tions under IRC section 6334 for clothing, schoolbooks, person-
al effects (up to $6,250 in value), professional materials (up to
$3,125), unemployment benefits, public assistance due to
income or disability, job-training program funds, non-rental real
property (in small deficiency cases), a taxpayer’s principal resi-
dence, and tangible and non-rental real property used for a busi-
ness, everything is fair game for the IRS to levy. 

According to IRS guidance, “cash assets include currency
on hand and bank account balances, including checking, sav-
ings, online, mobile (e.g., PayPal), and any other accounts,” such
as money market accounts (IRM part 5.15.1.24, Oct. 2, 2012).
Moreover, stored value cards, such as an employer’s payroll
card, a government agency electronic benefit card, or child

support payment card, must be included. Bank loans do not need
to be listed in this section. 

Taxpayers are expected to identify the amount of any cash on
hand, and the answer should account for any cash not in a bank.
The IRS will expect any cash on hand be provided as a payment
or down payment towards the tax liability. 

The form requests information about the taxpayer’s personal
bank accounts and requires that all accounts be listed, regardless
of whether there is currently a balance. If a taxpayer does not
have a bank account, the tax professional’s analysis should include
the account from which the taxpayer’s bills are paid. Taxpayers
should not open accounts in a family member’s name or deposit
money into a family member’s account, as such action may sub-
ject the accounts to levy [see United States v. Hubbell, 530 U.S.
27 (2000)].

Taxpayers must also list their investments such as stocks, bonds,
mutual funds, trading accounts, CDs, IRAs, pension plans, and
business ownership interests (IRM part 5.15.1.25, Oct. 2, 2012).
Moreover, the IRS may require these assets be liquidated for pay-
ment of tax liability or a down payment on an installment agree-
ment, although their value should be decreased by any tax impli-
cations that result from the liquidation. The IRS currently uses a
30% tax rate. If the taxpayer is liquidating a 401(k) or IRA, the
30% should be used to pay the current year’s tax as the first pri-
ority. A taxpayer’s IRS wage and income transcripts can help
locate retirement account information. 
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The form also seeks information regard-
ing the taxpayer’s available credit. The tax-
payer should list all credit cards and lines
of credit issued by a bank, credit union,
or savings and loan association. The
information provided will only benefit a
taxpayer who has significant credit card
debt. Securing a credit card advance to pay
tax owed is an option for practitioners to
consider, depending on an individual’s
financial situation, but it is not required.

The form also asks whether the responsi-
ble taxpayer owns or has an interest in any
life insurance policies with cash value, mean-
ing whole life insurance policies. (Term life
insurance does not have a cash value.) Tax-
payers must list all whole life policies, includ-

ing the name and address of the insurance
company, policy numbers, owner identity,
current cash value, and outstanding loan bal-
ance. Taxpayers must be aware that the cash
value (decreased by the value of any loan)
may be required as a payment or down pay-
ment towards the tax liability (IRM part
5.15.1.26, Oct. 2, 2012).

All real property must be listed, whether
owned or under contract, rented, or leased,
including time-shares and investment prop-
erty. Any lender or contract holder also
should be included. According to the IRS,
“in certain situations, the equity in real estate
should be pursued to full pay or reduce the
tax liability. In these situations, the taxpay-
er should be asked to secure a loan, or sell
the real estate.” Tax professionals should pro-
vide the property’s low-end value from a
public website, such as Zillow.com, Real-
tor.com, or trulia.com, because the purport-
ed “value” does not account for actual
costs incurred in a sale (e.g., brokers’ com-
missions and other closing costs). 

Tax advisors should also consult the tax-
payer’s IRS wage and income transcripts to
locate any Forms 1098-INT that reveal mort-
gage interest paid. In addition, the available
equity of any property subject to joint own-
ership or marital separation will be reduced
by half. If the value of a taxpayer’s equity
in real property is required as payment or
down payment of the liability and the tax-
payer cannot obtain a loan, a denial letter
from the lender should be provided. The IRS
may work with the lender to obtain a loan
that will cover the full amount of tax liabil-
ity when a federal tax lien has been previ-
ously filed against the property. 

In regard to personal vehicles leased
and purchased, all vehicles titled in the

taxpayer’s name should be listed, includ-
ing automobiles, aircraft, boats, recre-
ational vehicles, trailers, and motorcy-
cles (IRM part 5.15.1.29, Oct. 2, 2012).
If the vehicle is leased, list the lessor; if
the vehicle is purchased, list the lender.
The asset overview searches discussed
previously should reveal any vehicles
titled in the taxpayer’s name, and the offi-
cial Kelley Blue Book (KBB.com) should
be consulted to determine the low-end
value of the vehicle. 

The taxpayer’s personal assets can be
described with a general statement such
as “miscellaneous household items,”
although the value given must include
all of the taxpayer’s artwork, jewelry,
antiques, furniture, collections (e.g., coins
or guns), as well as intangible assets such
as licenses, domain names, patents, copy-
rights, mining claims, and similar valu-
able interests. Other than personal effects,
assets with value may be required as a
payment or down payment. For other

interests, “the value of intangibles can be
obtained through the sale of the asset”
(IRM part 5.15.1.37, Oct. 2, 2012). Advi-
sors should keep in mind that taxpayers
tend to overvalue their household items,
forgetting that the value of used items has
depreciated. Generally, “the taxpayer’s
declared value of household goods is usu-
ally acceptable unless there are articles of
extraordinary value” (IRM part 5.15.1.28,
Oct. 2, 2012). In such a case, a taxpayer
may want to consider having a liquidator
provide an appraisal. 

Section 5: Monthly income and
expenses. When a liable party lives with
a non-liable party, the total household
income and expenses are prorated. The
first step is to calculate the total house-
hold income; however, “it may be nec-
essary to review a non-liable party’s
income in order to determine the tax-
payer’s allowable portion of the shared
household income” (IRM part 5.15.1.4,
Nov. 17, 2014). Next, figure the per-
centage of total income contributed by
the liable party. Then, determine the
expenses shared by both the liable and
nonliable party. Finally, apply the liable
party’s percentage of income to all shared
expenses. 

As an example, if the total monthly
household income is $9,000, the liable tax-
payer contributes $7,000, and the taxpay-
er’s nonliable spouse contributes $2,000,
the percentage of income attributed to the
liable taxpayer (77%) also would be the
percentage of shared expenses the liable
taxpayer can claim. The nonliable party’s
income information is used solely to cal-
culate the attributable percentage of total
income and expenses.

The taxpayer must provide information
regarding total monthly income. First, list the
wages earned by the liable taxpayer, as
reflected in the taxpayer’s Form W-2 and
IRS wage and income transcripts. Accord-
ing to the IRS, “wages include salary, tips,
meal allowance, parking allowance or any
other money or compensation received by
the taxpayer as an employee for services ren-
dered” [IRM part 5.15.1.11.2(A), Nov. 17,
2014]. Taxpayers should enter their total
gross monthly wages without deducting
withholding or any allotments taken from
the taxpayer’s salary, such as insurance,
union dues, or car payments, for instance. 

The full amount of wages earned by
the spouse must be reported if the spouse

Proper form can be everything 
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also is a liable party. A spouse’s wages
should be prorated when the spouse is a
non-liable party, as noted previously.

Taxpayers must list interest and dividends,
including “any interest or dividend that the
taxpayer receives or that is credited to an
account and can be withdrawn by the tax-
payer and used for household expenses”
[IRM part 5.15.1.11.2(B), Nov. 17, 2014]. 

Taxpayers should enter their monthly
average distributions from partnerships and
subchapter S corporations, as reported on
Schedule K-1, as well as from limited lia-
bility companies, as reported on Schedule C,
and amounts reported on Schedule D and
Schedule E. If not included in pension
income, the taxpayer should enter the month-
ly average distributions from a 401(k) or an
IRA. A one-time liquidation of retirement
assets should not be listed as a monthly dis-
tribution, and should instead be explained
separately in an attachment.

Information regarding the spouse’s pen-
sion should include the full monthly
amount only when the spouse is a liable
party and a prorated amount when the
spouse is a nonliable party. 

The form also asks about child support
payments, which include “the actual
amount received in addition to other
debts or bills the noncustodial parent is
paying pursuant to a child support order”
[IRM part 5.15.1.11.2(F), Nov. 17, 2014].
Child support payments are exempt from
levy under IRC section 6334, however. 

When reporting alimony, the amount list-
ed should “include the assigned payments
made by the non-resident spouse” [IRM part
5.15.1.11.2(G), Nov. 17, 2014]. In addition,
if other expenses are paid on the liable tax-
payer’s behalf, such as a mortgage or rent,
the taxpayer’s allowable expenses should be
adjusted accordingly. 

According to the IRS, the category of
other income includes agricultural subsi-
dies, unemployment compensation, oil
credits, and rent subsidies, as well as pay-
ments from a trust account, royalties,
renting a room, gambling winnings, and
proceeds from the sale of property [IRM
part 5.15.1.11.2(H), Nov. 17, 2014]. 

Taxpayers also must report their total
living expenses. There are three types of
expenses: 1) allowable living expenses,
which are based on the national and local
standards; 2) other necessary expenses,
which are expenses that meet the neces-
sary expense test; and 3) other conditional

expenses, which are expenses that may
not meet the necessary expense test but
may be allowable based upon individual
circumstances. The IRS defines necessary
expenses as “expenses that are neces-
sary to provide for a taxpayer’s and his
or her family’s health and welfare
and/or production of income” [IRM part
5.15.1.7(1), Oct. 2, 2012].

When the facts and circumstances of
a taxpayer’s situation demonstrate that the

use of national or local standards would
be inadequate to provide for basic living
expenses, the IRS may allow the tax-
payer’s actual expenses to be used
instead. However, the taxpayer must pro-
vide documentation to support a deter-
mination that use of national or local
expense standards would leave the tax-
payer with inadequate means of provid-
ing for basic living expenses (IRS Pub-
lication 1854).
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The IRS’s national standards are used
for such expenses as food, housekeeping
supplies, apparel and services, personal care
products and services, and other miscella-
neous items (IRM part 5.15.1.8, Nov. 17,
2014; http://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-utl/
 national_ standards.pdf). 

Local standards are used for such
expenses as housing, utilities, and trans-
portation (IRM part 5.15.1.9, Nov. 17,
2014). These local standards also are
adjusted each year. The current local
standards in place for housing and utilities”
are available online (http:// www .irs.gov/
 pub/ irs-utl/ all_states_housing_ standards
.pdf), as are the current local standards in
place for transportation expenses (http://
www .irs.gov/ pub/irs-utl/ transportation_
standards .pdf).

Generally, the IRS will accept only
the amounts provided in the national stan-
dards chart for food, clothing, and mis-
cellaneous expenses for household mem-
bers. The IRS takes the position that any
spending beyond the national standards is
unnecessary and should instead be applied
toward a payment or down payment of
the tax liability. 

Form 433-A also asks about the tax-
payer’s “other expenses,” which should be
listed with an explanation of any items
claimed. For example, payment of student
loans guaranteed by the federal government
for post–high school education may be
allowed (IRM part 5.15.1.10, Nov. 17,
2014). However, “the amount allowed
must be reasonable considering the tax-
payer’s individual facts and circumstances”
(IRM part 5.15.1.10 Nov. 17, 2014). Rea-
sonable and necessary expense items
include–
n accounting and legal fees, including fees
for representation before the IRS (typical-
ly, an amount between $200 and $500
per month is deemed reasonable, depend-
ing on the complexity of the matter); 
n charitable contributions (donations to tax-
exempt organizations that are necessary
or a condition of employment); 
n child care (such as babysitting, day care,
nursery school, and preschool); 
n court-ordered payments; 
n dependent care for the elderly, invalid,
or handicapped; 
n education expenses (that are a condi-
tion of employment, or made for a physi-
cally or mentally challenged child when no
similar public services are available); 

n involuntary deductions that are a job
requirement, such as union dues, uniforms,
or work shoes; 
n secured or legally perfected debts; 
n credit card debts for necessary living
expenses, such as food, clothing, or gas; 
n telephone services, such as pre-paid long
distance cards or cellular phone minutes; and 
n repayment of loans made for the pay-
ment of federal taxes, whether the IRS has
received the proceeds or not, when the tax-
payer can document the loan.

Other conditional expenses that do not
meet the necessary expense test may be
allowable based on the circumstances of
an individual case, for example, when the
taxpayer can establish that the expenses
are necessary for the health and welfare of
the individual or family or the production
of income. In addition, the “six-year rule”
provides that “if the IRS tax liability includ-
ing accruals can be paid within six years
and within the CSED, all expenses may be
allowed if they are reasonable” [IRM part
5.15.1.10(2), Nov. 17, 2014]. The six-year
rule allows all of a taxpayer’s reasonable
expenses when “the taxpayer establishes that
he or she can stay current with all paying
and filing requirements, [and] the tax lia-
bility, including projected accruals, can be
fully paid within six years and within the
CSED” [IRM part 5.14.1.4.1(1), Sept. 19,
2014]. In addition, the six-year rule allows
reasonable expenses for private school
tuition, public or private college, charitable
contributions, voluntary retirement contri-
butions, and payments on unsecured debts,
which are ordinarily not allowed on Form
433-A, to be included in a taxpayer’s
expense calculations. 

Section 6: Business information (self-
employed). Section 6 must be completed
by taxpayers who are self-employed. If the
business is not a sole proprietorship filing
Schedule C, the taxpayer must complete
Form 433-B for business entities, including
limited liability companies, partnerships, or
corporations. Self-employed taxpayers
must provide information regarding whether
the business is a federal contractor, as well
as information about the number of employ-
ees, average gross monthly payroll, and the
frequency of tax deposits. This information
must be consistent with Form 941 and quar-
terly filings and deposits. 

If the business engages in “e-commerce”
(i.e., Internet sales), Form 433-A requests
information as to the identity, address,

and account number for the “payment pro-
cessor” (e.g., PayPal, Authorize.net, Google
Checkout) as well as information about the
credit cards that the business accepts.
This is in addition to traditional bank and
other financial account information.

Taxpayers must also provide informa-
tion about accounts and notes receivable,
including e-payment accounts and factor-
ing companies, and any bartering or online
auction accounts. 

Form 433-A requires taxpayers to list
their business assets, including all tools,
books, machinery, inventory, and other
assets used in a trade or business. In addi-
tion, taxpayers must include a list of items
and show the value of all intangible assets,
such as licenses, patents, domain names,
copyrights, trademarks, and mining claims. 

Section 7: Sole proprietorship infor-
mation (self-employed). The first ques-
tion in Section 7 asks whether the busi-
ness uses a cash or accrual accounting
method. The form also requires taxpayers
to provide the total monthly business
income and expenses, which should rec-
oncile with the business’s profit and loss
statement. The taxpayer is instructed to
use the prior three-, six-, nine-, or 12-
month period to determine typical busi-
ness income and expenses. 

The form requests the net business
income, which is determined by subtract-
ing the total expenses as calculated on
Form 433-A from the total income as
shown on the form. However, the busi-
ness’s net profit from Form 1040, Sched-
ule C, may be used if duplicated deduc-
tions are eliminated (e.g., expenses for the
business use of the home are already
included in housing and utility expenses).
Moreover, deductions for depreciation and
depletion on Schedule C are not cash
expenses and must be added back to net
income. In addition, interest cannot be
deducted if it is already included in any
other installment payments allowed.

Offers in Compromise: Form 433-A (OIC)
As discussed above, an OIC allows a

taxpayer to settle a tax debt for less than
the full amount owed, and is calculated
based on the taxpayer’s reasonable collec-
tion potential (RCP). The most common
OIC request is made on the basis of
doubt as to collectability. In such a case,
the IRS will consider the taxpayer’s abil-
ity to pay, including income, expenses, and





asset equity. To request an OIC on this
basis, the taxpayer must submit Form 656,
along with Form 433-A (OIC) and a $186
application fee. The rules for completing
Form 433-A (OIC) resemble those for Form
433-A, discussed above, but because it cal-
culates a taxpayer’s RCP and offer
amount, there are notable differences.

Section 3 of Form 433-A (OIC) con-
cerns the taxpayer’s personal asset infor-
mation; although similar to Section 4 on
Form 433-A, its purpose here is to deter-
mine a taxpayer’s available individual equi-
ty in assets, and reflects the taxpayer’s total
amount of cash on hand, plus the quick
sale value (QSV) of the taxpayer’s equity
in investments (domestic and foreign), real

estate, vehicles, and other valuable items.
The QSV reflects 70% of the full value
of a taxpayer’s equity in retirement
accounts, and 80% of a taxpayer’s equity
in real estate, vehicles, investments, and
other valuables. 

The total amount of cash is reduced by
$1,000 (IRM part 5.8.5.7, Sept. 30, 2013).
When the total amount listed on Form
433-A (OIC) is more than $1,000, but the
IRS has reason to believe the money will
be used to pay for the taxpayer’s monthly
allowable living expenses, that amount is
not to be included on the AET. 

There is an exclusion of $3,450 per car
from the QSV of vehicles owned by the
taxpayer and used for work, the produc-
tion of income, or the welfare of the tax-
payer’s family (IRM part 5.8.5.12, Sept.
30, 2013). The exclusion rises to $6,900
for joint taxpayers with two qualifying cars. 

Section 5 of Form 433-A (OIC) con-
cerns business asset information for self-
employed individuals. The taxpayer is
required to identify available business equi-
ty in assets, which is calculated by adding

the total value of the taxpayer’s bank
accounts and the QSV of assets, calculat-
ed as 80% of current market value, minus
any loan balances and the IRS’s allow-
able deduction for professional books and
tools of the taxpayer’s trade.

Section 8 is where a taxpayer is asked
to calculate the minimum offer amount.
First, the taxpayer must identify the remain-
ing monthly income, which equals the tax-
payer’s monthly income minus the tax-
payer’s monthly expenses. The taxpayer’s
remaining monthly income and the tax-
payer’s asset equity are used to calculate
the taxpayer’s offer amount.

To pay in five or fewer monthly pay-
ments, multiply the taxpayer’s remaining

monthly income by 12 to determine the
taxpayer’s future remaining income. To
pay in 24 equal monthly payments, multi-
ply the taxpayer’s remaining monthly
income by 24 to determine the future
remaining income, and list the amount on
the form. Finally, to determine the tax-
payer’s minimum offer, add the total avail-
able individual equity in assets, plus
available business equity in assets if
applicable, to the amount listed in either
the 12-month offer or the 24-month offer.
The offer amount must be more than
zero. If a taxpayer cannot pay the calcu-
lated offer amount due to special circum-
stances, preparers should provide an expla-
nation in Section 3 of Form 656.

State Tax Liabilities
Taxpayers facing federal liabilities will

most likely also owe their state taxation
authorities.

New Jersey
In order to request a deferred (install-

ment) payment plan, a taxpayer should

complete the deferred payment request
form (http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/
 taxation/ pdf/ dprq.pdf), and send the first
installment payment with the application.
In order for the taxpayer’s request to be
approved, all required tax returns must be
filed with no delinquent returns on the
account outstanding. Moreover, the debt
must be greater than $1,000, and interest will
continue to accrue on the unpaid balance over
the duration of the plan. The length of a
plan may be from three to 60 months. 

For a tax debt greater than $1,000 but less
than $2,500, a taxpayer may be approved for
a deferred (installment) payment plan of 36
months or less, but the taxpayer also may
receive a certified notice and demand for
payment letter. If the taxpayer defaults by
failing to make timely payments or remain
current on New Jersey filings, a certificate
of debt (lien) will be filed, and the taxpay-
er will incur a “cost-of-collection fee”
equal to 10% of the liability.

For a tax debt greater than $2,500, a tax-
payer may be approved for a deferred
(installment) payment plan of 12 months
or less, but the taxpayer also may receive
a certified notice and demand for pay-
ment letter. If the taxpayer defaults by fail-
ing to make timely payments or remain
current on New Jersey filings, a lien will
be filed and the taxpayer will incur a
“cost of collection fee” equal to 10% of
the liability.

For a tax debt of more than $2,500 and
plan longer than 12 months, a lien will be
filed against the taxpayer in New Jersey
Superior Court and the 10% cost-of-col-
lection fee will be added to the debt.

Regarding due diligence, in order for a
taxpayer to request a copy of a previous-
ly filed New Jersey tax return, the taxpayer
should send Form DCC-1 (http://www
.state.nj.us/  treasury/ taxation/ pdf/
other_forms/ misc/dcc.pdf) to the New
Jersey Division of Taxation. Copies will
be provided only to the individual who
signed the return unless a Form M-5008-R,
appointment of taxpayer representative, is
included. Form M-5008-R also is available
online (http://www.state.nj.us/  treasury/
taxation/pdf/ other_forms/ misc/ m5008r.pdf).
The Division of Taxation also charges a
fee of $1 per side of the return. Requests
for copies of corporation, sales, NJ-
500/W-3, or business personal property tax
returns must be submitted on company sta-
tionery and signed by an officer of the
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company. To request a statement of lia-
bility, contact the New Jersey Division of
Taxation. The Fair Lawn, N.J., Division of
Taxation offers walk-in assistance and will
provide a statement of liability.

For an offer in compromise, submit
Form 906, Closing Agreement Request
(http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/taxation/
pdf/ other_forms/special_pro/906.pdf). 

Taxpayers must state the reasons why they
should not have to pay the total outstanding
tax liabilities, offer an amount, and identify
the manner in which it will be paid, as well
as the source of funds. The taxpayer also
must complete a “financial statement of
debtor” and include copies of the taxpay-
er’s last two years of IRS returns. Practi-
tioners should be aware that New Jersey 
usually requires a taxpayer to offer the tax
liability and one-half of the interest. 

New York
A taxpayer may request an installment

payment agreement (IPA) by contacting the
New York State Department of Taxation and
Finance (DTF) at (518) 457-5434, or by
applying online (http://www.tax.ny.gov). A
Form DTF-5, Statement of Financial Con-
dition and Other Information, may be
required for a payment agreement
(http://www.tax.ny.gov/pdf/current_forms/
misc/ dtf5.pdf). All payment agreements must
be direct debit agreements, and the decision
to approve or deny an IPA request is made
on the basis of the taxpayer’s prior history
of compliance, current financial condition,
and adherence to all DTF requirements.

To request an offer in compromise, a
taxpayer must submit both Form DTF-5 and
Form DTF-4.1, Offer in Compromise For
Fixed and Final Liability (http://www.tax.
ny.gov/pdf/current_forms/misc/dtf4_1.pdf)
or Form DTF-4, Offer in Compromise For
Liabilities Not Fixed and Final and Subject
to Administrative Review (http://www.tax.
ny.gov/pdf/current_forms/misc/dtf4.pdf).
Taxpayer representatives must submit a
Form POA-1 to the DTF, signed by the
taxpayer (http://www.tax.ny.gov/pdf/cur-
rent_forms/misc/poa1.pdf). Taxpayers should
also refer to Publication 220, Offer in
Compromise Program (http://www.tax.ny.
gov/pdf/publications/multi/pub220.pdf).

A Complex Process 
Taxpayers should not believe the frequent

infomercials claiming that tax liability relief
is quick and easy. Proper form can be every-

thing when it comes to a request for relief
from individual tax liabilities. It is critically
important for tax advisors to read and
follow the instructions for each form,
verify and substantiate answers, provide
the required documentary support, and
employ the appropriate software when
necessary. Professionals who are well
acquainted with the relevant forms dis-
cussed above will find themselves in a

far superior position when requesting
relief from tax liability. q

Frank Agostino, JD, is the principal of
Agostino & Associates P.C., with offices
in Hackensack, N.J. and Brooklyn, N.Y.
Brian D. Burton, JD, is an associate at
Agostino. Caren Zahn, EA, is an enrolled
agent at Agostino. 
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The article highlights the rare success of the U.S. gov-
ernment in addressing the problem of tax evasion
through offshore bank deposits by negotiating with
the Swiss government. Tax evasion by Americans
through offshore bank deposits in Switzerland has
been on the radar of the U.S. Justice Department for
some time now. An important milestone occurred in
2009 when Union Bank of Switzerland (UBS) paid
$780 million in fines after being convicted of help-
ing wealthy Americans evade U.S. taxes. Consistent
with its obligations under a bilateral agreement, the
Swiss government recently proposed legislation that
would have substantially expanded the data available
to U.S. government investigators. When the Swiss par-
liament rejected the legislation, the Swiss government
pressed forward through administrative action. The
effect of these new rules can be seen in the case of
Credit Suisse AG, which was indicted by the U.S.
Justice Department and, to avoid much harsher penal-
ties, settled for $2.6 billion. 
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I
n recent years, U.S. citizens are thought
to have hidden more than $30 billion in
Swiss banks—in spite of numerous bilat-
eral agreements between the United

States and Switzerland specifically designed
to stem this abuse of U.S. tax law. Under
the leadership of Attorney General Eric
Holder, the U.S. Department of Justice first
focused on Switzerland to establish the legal
tools necessary to obtain the client records
and bank data critical for prosecuting non-
compliant U.S. taxpayers. Given the long tra-
dition of strict personal privacy in Swiss
banking, the process of requiring disclosure
from these banks has been challenging. 

By focusing on the legislative and reg-
ulatory actions of the United States and
Switzerland, this article provides an
overview of important developments in the
prosecution of U.S. tax evaders through
offshore bank accounts. This article exam-
ines the recent dramatic growth of tax eva-
sion through offshore deposits and other
sources of unreported income. It then
examines U.S.-Swiss agreements and dis-
cusses the role played by the Swiss gov-
ernment in the long history of banking
secrecy. The increasingly aggressive U.S.
strategy of threatening criminal prosecu-
tions of taxpayers, their advisors, the banks,
and bank employees is discussed, as is
the Swiss response. The article concludes
with a warning for U.S. taxpayers and
those assisting them in their efforts to evade
taxes through offshore accounts.

Background of Offshore Tax Evasion
Many individuals and corporations in the

United States evade taxes through deposits
in offshore bank accounts. A straightfor-
ward example of this type of tax evasion
is a U.S. citizen maintaining a secret bank
account in Switzerland and not reporting
to U.S. tax authorities the income earned
on the deposits. This common form of
tax evasion represents more than lost
government revenues. It engenders a pow-
erful sense of social inequity between the
millions of tax filers properly reporting
their income and those who are not.

History of U.S.-Swiss Tax Agreements
and Swiss Bank Privacy Laws

Where privacy is concerned, Swiss
banking is known to be one of the strictest,
most closely guarded systems in the world.

The secrecy afforded by Swiss banking
laws is specifically designed to make the
country an attractive financial center for
global investors. The strict privacy of the
Swiss banking system has come under
increasing pressure from an international
community of nations intent on stifling
money laundering, tax evasion, insider trad-
ing, and a host of other white-collar crimes. 

In 2003, the Swiss government agreed
to the Tax Information Exchange Act,
which included a general commitment to
work together with the United States to
support the tax authorities of both coun-
tries. The activities that constitute tax fraud
in both countries were defined, examples
were given of when a country can request
information if tax fraud is suspected, and
14 specific examples of what constitutes
tax fraud were spelled out (Beckett
Cantley, “The New Tax Information
Exchange Agreement: A Potent Weapon
Against U.S. Tax Fraud,” Houston
Business & Taxation Law Journal vol. 4,
pp. 231–240, 2004, http:// hbtlj.org/ v04/
v04_cantley .pdf). 

In 2009, the United States and Switzerland
agreed to amend prior treaties to allow the
United States to obtain information from
Switzerland that “may be relevant” to the
“administration or enforcement” of U.S.
tax laws (Carl Levin, “Senate Floor Speech
on Tax Treaties,” http://www.levin.
senate.gov/newsroom/speeches/speech/
senate-floor-speech-on-tax-treaties). Although
this agreement was signed in 2009 and the
U.S. Senate Foreign Relations Committee
unanimously approved it, Senator Rand Paul
(R-Ky.) has successfully blocked consider-
ation of the treaty amendment, and it has yet
to be ratified, or even debated, by the full
U.S. Senate. 

U.S. Attempts to Curb Tax Evasion
through Swiss Accounts 

In 1970, the U.S. House of Representatives
Committee on Banking and Currency noted
a vast expansion of secret bank accounts and
their central role in the international net-
work of white-collar crime. The committee’s
findings led to the enactment of the Bank
Secrecy Act (BSA; see 31 USC section
5311). The BSA authorized the U.S. gov-
ernment to collect what was once confiden-
tial information from offshore banks. This
important first step, of course, needed recip-

rocal legislation in the country with the off-
shore account. Yet a great strength of the
BSA was its requirement that banks retain
detailed records of those bank accounts expe-
riencing major currency and international
transactions. The critical Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) regulation under the BSA
was the requirement that all domestic banks
collect detailed information on transactions
involving more than $10,000. [Subsequently,
to address the resulting privacy concerns, the
United States enacted the Right to Financial
Privacy Act (RFPA) in 1978 (12 USC sec-
tion 3401) to prevent private parties from
gaining access to this new financial infor-
mation collected under the BSA.] 

In 2007, the U.S. government began a sus-
tained investigation into the practices of
Union Bank of Switzerland (UBS), Credit
Suisse AG, and other Swiss banks that had
been long suspected of assisting Americans
in tax evasion. One catalyst for the broader
investigation was the successful prosecu-
tion of a UBS employee, Bradley Birkenfeld.
In 2008, Birkenfeld was convicted of
assisting Americans with Swiss bank
accounts in their tax evasion schemes. As
part of a plea bargain, Birkenfeld agreed to
disclose the names of many Americans with
UBS accounts. The U.S. government then
brought criminal proceedings against the
Swiss bank for multiple counts of American
tax evasion. The international news cover-
age of the UBS controversy focused the
world’s attention on the Swiss commitment
to bank-client confidentiality. 

In 2009, the Swiss government gave UBS
the authority to deliver to the U.S.
Department of Justice a list of specific per-
sons holding what they no doubt thought
were secret accounts at the bank. The United
States demanded that UBS provide the
52,000 names of all its account holders.
Although the number of accounts authorized
to be made available by the Swiss govern-
ment is unclear, UBS responded by provid-
ing only 4,500 names. The bank was sub-
sequently fined $780 million for failing to
comply (Joanna Heiberg, “FATCA: Toward
a Multilateral Automatic Information
Reporting Regime,” Washington and Lee
Law Review vol. 69, pp. 1685–1713, 2012,
http:// scholarlycommons .law.wlu.edu/
cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4293&  context=
wlulr). The heightened attention given to tax
evasion through foreign bank accounts in the
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UBS case led to the U.S. Congress enact-
ing the Foreign Account Tax Compliance
Act (FATCA) in 2010.

FATCA requires foreign financial insti-
tutions (FFI) to report the financial account
information of U.S. taxpayers (or foreign
entities in which U.S. taxpayers hold a sub-
stantial ownership) directly to the IRS or
levy a substantial withholding tax on these
accounts. The U.S. Treasury Department’s
regulations implementing the information
reporting and withholding requirements
of FATCA also require U.S. taxpayers to
report this same information on accounts
in FFIs to the IRS on Form 8938 and attach
the form to their federal income tax returns. 

Switzerland’s reputation for hosting U.S.
citizens’ offshore bank accounts made it
the obvious first target for the U.S.
Treasury Department empowered by
FATCA. In 2013, the U.S. Treasury
Department and the Swiss government
signed an intergovernmental agreement
(IGA) requiring Swiss banks to disclose
the additional information mandated by
FATCA about U.S. account holders. The
U.S. Treasury Department and several
other foreign governments continue to
work on IGAs to implement the provisions
of FATCA. 

U.S. Deputy Treasury Secretary Neal
Wolin stated that “these regulations give
the Administration a powerful set of tools
to combat offshore tax evasion effectively

and efficiently. The final rules mark a
critical milestone in international coopera-
tion on these issues, and they provide
important clarity for foreign and U.S. finan-
cial institutions. We are pleased that
Switzerland has signed a bilateral agree-
ment with us, and we look forward to
quickly concluding agreements based on
this model with other jurisdictions” (IRS,
“Treasury and IRS Issue Final Regulations
to Combat Offshore Tax Evasion,” Jan. 17,
2013, http://www.treasury.gov/press-cen-
ter/press-releases/Pages/tg1825.aspx; final
regulations at http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/
pkg/FR-2014-03-06/pdf/2014-03991.pdf).
In addition to Switzerland, several other
countries have signed IGAs facilitating the
implementation of FATCA.

In the negotiation of the IGAs, the goal
is to comply with both FATCA and cor-
responding local laws while reporting the
required information with manageable
compliance burdens. Two models of IGAs
have emerged from the U.S. Treasury
Department’s negotiations. Model 1
requires FFIs to report all of the required
information on U.S.-owned accounts direct-
ly to their home country government,
which then shares the information with the
U.S. Treasury Department and the IRS.
Model 2 requires FFIs to report the infor-
mation directly to the IRS. 

FATCA requires FFIs to inform the IRS
about Americans’ offshore accounts worth

more than $50,000. FATCA began impos-
ing steep penalties in 2014 on FFIs that do
not comply with its demands. Banks and
other institutions failing to comply with
FATCA will be frozen from U.S. financial
markets. Interestingly, although the Swiss
Bankers Association stated that it wel-
comed FATCA, the association remains
critical of the compliance and administra-
tive burdens of the U.S. law (Andrew
Johnson, “Switzerland, US Sign Pact to
Crack Down on Tax Evasion,” CNBC,
Feb. 14, 2013, http://www.cnbc.com/id/
100460869). 

The reporting and withholding require-
ments of FATCA are far-reaching. The law
affects virtually every non-U.S. entity that
receives any form of U.S. income, includ-
ing gross proceeds from the sale of U.S.
property, interest, and dividends. Similarly,
U.S. financial and nonfinancial entities that
make payments of income from a U.S.
source to a non-U.S. entity are required under
FATCA to withhold the 30% tax on that
income. More importantly, FATCA requires
entities to retain documentation to verify
the appropriateness of their specific classifi-
cation under the law. These new rules are
significant changes to the U.S. tax policy and
will require compliance from FFIs unfamil-
iar with U.S. law. This type of tax with-
holding will not only impact the U.S. clients
of foreign institutions; it would also impose
compliance costs on these institutions
(Frederic Behrens, “Using a Sledgehammer
to Crack a Nut: Why FATCA Will Not
Stand,” Wisconsin Law Review vol. 1 pp.
205–236, 2013, http://wisconsinlaw
review.org/wp-content/files/8-Behrens.pdf).
To avoid the withholding tax requirement,
an FFI must enter into an agreement with
the IRS wherein it promises to identify all
of its U.S. accounts. 

Swiss Response to U.S. Concerns 
Consistent with its tax treaty obligations,

in May 2013, the Swiss Federal Council pro-
posed legislation, the Lex U.S.A. Bill (Lex
USA), that would have substantially expand-
ed the data on account holders, their advi-
sors, and bank employees that could be
released by Swiss banks to U.S. government
investigators. After the Swiss House of
Representatives voted 126 to 67 to reject the
proposed legislation in June 2013, the Swiss
Federal Council quickly issued administra-
tive decrees designed to prevent further U.S.
charges against its financial institutions. In

EXHIBIT 1
Ratio of Unreported Income to Reported Income (AGI), 1940–2010
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August 2013, the Swiss Federal Department
of Finance and the U.S. Department of
Justice issued a historic joint statement estab-
lishing a “Program for Non-Prosecution
Agreements or Non-Target Letters for Swiss
Banks” that sought to comply with U.S. pres-
sure while still maintaining the Swiss tradi-
tion of guarding the secrecy of financial
transactions. 

The disclosure plan represents a com-
promise by Swiss Finance Minister Eveline
Widmer-Schlump to ward off further
U.S. Justice Department civil and crimi-
nal proceedings against Swiss banks. Under
the new provisions adopted, the Swiss
administration gave banks special permis-
sion to cooperate with U.S. authorities
without violating Swiss banking laws. The
plan allows Swiss banks to hand over infor-
mation to the U.S Justice Department, but
the banks must seek Swiss government
authorization on a case-by-case basis. The
data provided must be within the scope of
existing Swiss banking laws, and there
must be consideration for data protection
and employment laws. The new provisions
require Swiss banks to seek permission
before turning over information on Swiss
bank employees who had dealings with
U.S. tax evaders. Unlike the failed Lex
USA bill, the new administrative rules
adopted do not provide for any transfer of
individual client data. However, the new
rules do allow the IRS and U.S.
Department of Justice to identify
Americans with Swiss bank deposits. 

A majority of the Swiss banks has
agreed to voluntarily participate in the new
program, by entering into non-prosecu-
tion agreements (NPA) with the U.S.
Justice Department to avoid criminal 
liability for, among other things, money
laundering and conspiracy to defraud the
U.S. Treasury Department (Christine
Duhaime, “US and Swiss Enter into a
Monumental Tax Evasion Deal,” Duhaime
Law Notes, Sept. 1, 2013, http://www.
duhaimelaw.com/2013/09/01/). However,
a key bank, the Swiss-affiliate of Barclays
Bank (a U.K. bank) has decided to stop
cooperating with the disclosure requirement
(“Barclays Says Its Swiss Private Bank
Drops Out of U.S. Tax Deal,” http://www.
businessinsider.com/r-barclays-says-its-
swiss-private-bank-drops-out-of-us-tax-
deal-2014-11). The new law promised to
help Swiss banks avoid crushing penalties
by the U.S. Justice Department if the banks

are indicted, but cooperating banks must
agree to pay significant penalties. The pro-
gram offers participating banks NPAs if
the banks agree to provide information
upon request, including information detail-
ing account holders who have transferred
funds to nonparticipating bank accounts
(leaver lists) (Adam Epstein, “U.S.
Department of Justice Announces 
New Program to Encourage Swiss Banks
to Cooperate with Tax Evasion
Investigations,” Mishcon De Raya, Sept.
11, 2013 http://www.mishcon.com/archive/
publications/enforcement_watch_
-_issue_11_09_2013). 

As U.S. authorities closed in on tax evaders
with Swiss bank accounts, UBS, Credit
Suisse AG, and other banks advised their U.S.

customers to move their money into the
United States and elsewhere to avoid detec-
tion. Aware of this policy, the IRS initiated
a series of voluntary disclosure programs
(VDP) to prevent Americans from transfer-
ring money from these secret foreign
accounts. To make the first VDP attractive,
the IRS reduced its penalty on undisclosed
offshore accounts from 50% to as low as
20%—a 5% rate applies under special cir-
cumstances—for tax evaders who disclosed
offshore accounts by October 15, 2009
(Andrea Coombes, “Tax Deadline Looms for
People with Money Overseas,” Wall Street
Journal, Aug. 28, 2011, http://www.
marketwatch.com/story/tax-deadline-looms-
for-people-with-money-overseas-2011-08-
26). This first VDP was the most lenient.
Penalties and return filing periods increased
for the second VDP in 2011 and for the
current VDP because the IRS did not believe
it was fair to offer the same deal to people
who waited and decided only later to partic-
ipate (Lawrence Horn, “Caveat Interests in
Foreign Accounts,” Metropolitan Corporate
Counsel, Aug. 20, 2013, http://www.
metrocorpcounsel.com/articles/24840/

caveat-interests-foreign-accounts). Perhaps
equally important, Swiss and other foreign
banks, faced with potentially huge fines,
began pressuring their former and current
U.S. account holders to declare their undis-
closed assets to the IRS (Coombes 2011).
Through January 2014, approximately 50,000
individuals have come forward and disclosed
information about secret bank accounts in 70
different countries, and the IRS has collect-
ed more than $7 billion in tax, penalties,
and interest as a result of the VDPs (Danielle
Douglas, “It Is Getting Harder to Hide
Money from Uncle Sam Offshore,”
Washington Post, May 22, 2014; IRS,
“Hiding Money or Income Offshore Among
the ‘Dirty Dozen’ List of Tax Scams for the
2015 Filing Season,” Jan. 28, 2015,
http://www.irs.gov/uac/Newsroom/Hiding-
Money-or-Income-Offshore-Among-the-
Dirty-Dozen-List-of-Tax-Scams-for-the-
2015-Filing-Season).

Of course, taxpayers who do not step for-
ward before the IRS obtains information
about them usually face higher penalties
and are at risk of criminal prosecution (Laura
Saunders, “Swiss Banks Pressure U.S.
Clients,” Wall Street Journal, Dec. 27, 2013).
Offshore tax enforcement is a high priority
for the IRS, and two recent Department of
Justice cases illustrate this. A press release
issued by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
Southern District of New York in May
2014 reported that a New Jersey man, Viktor
Kordash, pled guilty to willfully failing to file
Foreign Bank Account Reports (FBARs)
with the IRS concerning his more than
$1 million bank account at Wegelin & Co.,
a Swiss bank that had earlier pled guilty to
assisting U.S. taxpayers in hiding money.
Wegelin & Co. was the first Swiss financial
institution to plead guilty for its role in tax
fraud. This Swiss bank, which had been in
operation since the 1700s, shut its doors
permanently after this plea deal (Nate
Raymond and Lynnley Browning, “Swiss
Bank Wegelin to Close after Guilty Plea,”
Reuters, Jan. 4, 2013, http://www.reuters.
com/article/2013/01/04/us-swissbank-
wegelin-idUSBRE9020O020130104).
Kordash, who had been facing a possible sen-
tence of five years, was sentenced to three
months in prison and three years’ probation
and required to pay more than $1 million in
back taxes and fines (James Kleimann,
“Cliffside Park Businessman Who Hid
$1M in Swiss Bank Account Sentenced to
Prison,” NJ.com, Oct. 31, 2014, http://

More information is now

available to the U.S. 

government regarding 

offshore bank accounts.
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www.nj.com/bergen/index.ssf/2014/10/
cliffside_park_businessman_who_hid_1m_in
_swiss_bank_account_sentenced_to_prison.
html). Similarly, a press release issued by the
U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District
of New York in June 2014 reported that
Gabriel Gabella, a former client of UBS, pled
guilty to willfully failing to file FBARs with
the IRS concerning his more than $6 mil-
lion bank account at UBS. Gabella faces a
statutory maximum of five years in prison
upon sentencing. His plea agreement also
requires him to pay a civil penalty of
$3,140,346 and to make restitution to the IRS
of $239,012 for unpaid income taxes from
2005 through 2007.

More information is now available to the
U.S. government regarding U.S. taxpay-
ers maintaining offshore bank accounts. If
an individual refuses to disclose the infor-
mation voluntarily, U.S. tax authorities can
now respond by making a group request
under the double taxation agreement
between Switzerland and the United States
(Agence France-Presse, “Swiss Parliament
Green-Lights US Anti-Tax Evasion Deal,”
Global Post, Sept. 9, 2013, http://www.
globalpost.com/dispatch/news/afp/130909/
swiss-parliament-green-lights-us-anti-tax-
evasion-deal). 

In a program much like the successful
voluntary disclosure program for individ-
uals, the U.S. Justice Department, through

the new program, is now offering Swiss
banks the opportunity to voluntarily dis-
close any potentially criminal conduct relat-
ed to tax evasion (Diana Erbsen, Ellis
Reemer, and Catherine Engell, “US DOJ
and Swiss Government Announce New
Voluntary Disclosure Program for Swiss
Banks,” DLA Piper, Oct. 4, 2013, http://
www.dlapiper.com/en/us/insights/
publications/2013/10/us-doj-and-swiss-
government-announce-new-volunta__/).
Under the new program for non-prosecu-
tion agreements, Swiss banks are assigned
into one of four categories (John Letzing
and John Revill, “More Swiss Banks Join
the U.S. Tax Evasion Program,” Wall
Street Journal, Dec. 16, 2013). 
n Category 1 banks are those that are
under investigation currently. These
banks are not permitted to participate in
the program. 
n Category 2 banks are those with unde-
clared U.S. accounts not currently under
active investigation. They can anticipate
being fined as part of an eventual settle-
ment with the Justice Department. 
n Category 3 banks are those that are
allowed to prove they have not helped
Americans avoid taxes on offshore accounts. 
n Category 4 banks are those that quali-
fy as “deemed compliant financial institu-
tions” under FATCA. These banks may
apply for a nontarget letter. 

However, few of Switzerland’s 300 banks
will have the low-risk profile and a corre-
sponding high degree of confidence that
will allow them to sit tight and not enter
into the compliance program (Dominique
Christin, “US-Swiss Voluntary Disclosure
Program: Deadlines Are Looming—Swiss
Banks Need Not Panic, but Must Act Swiftly
and Thoughtfully,” DLA Piper, Nov. 21,
2013, http://www.dlapiper.com/en/us/
insights/publications/2013/11/us--swiss-
voluntary-disclosure-program-deadlines__/).
Perhaps a small Swiss bank serving only a
local clientele would feel safe from scrutiny. 

A Continuing Challenge
The U.S. Treasury Department has lost

billions of dollars of tax revenues because
of Americans evading taxes on income
from offshore bank accounts. In the
past, U.S. efforts to pursue the offshore
accounts have been thwarted by bank
secrecy laws, especially in Switzerland.
Today, an aggressive U.S. Department of
Justice has forced the cooperation of
reluctant foreign governments by bring-
ing criminal prosecutions and levying
large fines on those international banks
assisting depositors in evading U.S. tax
obligations. 

The recent decision by Barclays Bank
to stop cooperating under the disclosure
agreement between Swiss and U.S. tax
authorities shows that the war against tax
evasion through offshore bank accounts
remains a vexing challenge. Bypassing a
resisting parliament, the Swiss government
pronounced administrative decrees and
negotiated a new program with the U.S.
Justice Department to create a process
through which U.S. authorities will receive
the bank and client data they desire from
Swiss banks. Cooperation by foreign gov-
ernments is essential to stem the tide of tax
evasion on offshore bank accounts.
Barclays’ noncooperation is likely to send
mixed signals to tax evaders in spite of the
aggressive negotiation of intergovernmen-
tal agreements on the sharing of bank and
client data.                                     q

B. Anthony Billings, PhD, is a professor
of accounting; William H. Volz, JD, MBA,
is a professor of accounting; and Antonié
W. Y. Walsh, JD, LLM, is a senior lec-
turer of accounting, all at Wayne State
University, Detroit, Mich. 

EXHIBIT 2
Estimate of the U.S. Tax Gap, 1973–2008
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In 
Focus

Tax credits at the federal and state level provide incentives for home-

owners to invest in energy efficiency improvements and renewable

energy systems. Certain provisions limit these credits, but substantial

tax savings are available. This article describes the residential energy

credit and the New York solar energy equipment credit so that CPAs

can help taxpayers decide whether to invest in these technologies. 

In Brief
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Evaluating Energy Credits 
How Much Can Be Claimed?

By Carnet A. Brown and Vincent Cosenza

A
tax credit is of no value to a tax-
payer who is unable to use it. Tax
credits generally have two purpos-
es: One is to bolster investments

in certain sectors or industries, and the
other is to reduce taxpayers’ tax liabili-
ties. Both the federal residential energy
credit and the New York State solar ener-
gy system equipment credit not only have
this dual effect; they also could result in
savings on taxpayers’ energy bills.

IRS Form 5695 covers the federal resi-
dential energy credit, and Form IT-255
covers the New York State solar energy
system equipment credit. The residential
energy credit has two components: the res-
idential energy efficient property credit and
the nonbusiness energy property credit. The
New York State claim for solar energy sys-
tem equipment credit has three categories
of expenditures: purchase, power purchase
agreement, and lease.

Nonbusiness Energy Property Credit
This credit, which was originally set to

expire on December 31, 2013, has been
extended through December 31, 2014, and
is expected to be extended for another year
through December 31, 2015. The non-
business energy property credit covers
qualified energy efficiency improvements
and residential energy property costs.
This credit can be claimed only if the ener-
gy efficiency improvements or residential
energy property costs were for the tax-
payer’s main home located in the United
States, and a taxpayer can have only one
main home at a time. Compared to the res-
idential energy-efficient property credit, the
home does not have to be the taxpayer’s
main home—except for qualified fuel cell
property. The taxpayer’s main home is gen-
erally considered the home where the tax-
payer lives most of the time.

As stated previously, the purpose of a
tax credit may be to encourage investments
in a certain sector or industry. This may be
true for the nonbusiness energy property
credit and the residential energy efficient
property credit; that is, the nonbusiness
energy property credit limit applies sepa-
rately to joint ownership of qualified prop-
erty costs and to a married taxpayer with
more than one home. In addition, if a tax-
payer incurred costs on more than one
home that was used as a residence during
2014, the taxpayer would have been able
to claim the residential energy-efficient
property credit for all costs except for the
qualified fuel cell property.

A taxpayer can claim the nonbusiness
energy property credit only for qualifying
improvements that were not related to the
construction of the home. Therefore, if
the construction expenses were incurred
after the taxpayer moved into the home,
these improvement costs cannot be includ-
ed. The instructions to Form 5695 state that
a taxpayer “may only include expenses for
qualified improvements for an existing
home or for an addition or renovation to
an existing home, and not for a newly con-
structed home.”

An important point to note is that the
components derived from qualified energy
efficiency improvements must reasonably
be expected to last for five years or more,
and the original use of these components
must begin with the taxpayer. This means
that the components must be new compo-
nents, not used components.

A taxpayer is only able to claim a
maximum of $500 for all the tax years after
2005. That is, if a taxpayer claimed a $500
credit in 2006, then no credit could be
claimed in 2014. In addition, no more than
$200 of the $500 limit can be for expen-
ditures on windows.

Residential Energy-Efficient 
Property Credit

This credit applies to residential energy-
efficient property placed in service before
January 1, 2017   (http://www.irs.gov/irb/
2009-19_IRB/ar08.html). The residential
energy-efficient property credit applies to
the following:
n Qualified solar electric property costs
n Qualified solar water heating property
costs
n Qualified small wind energy property
costs
n Qualified geothermal heat pump prop-
erty costs
n Qualified fuel cell property costs. 

Of these five items, the first two are
the ones that average taxpayers are likely
to purchase. Solar electric refers to the
use of the sun to generate electricity, while
solar water heating refers to the use of the
sun to heat water. A qualified expenditure
is defined in Notice 2009-41 as: “the
expenditure for which the credit for 
residential energy efficient property is
allowed” (IRB, May 11, 2009, http://
www.irs.gov/irb/2009-19_IRB/ar08.html).
This indicates that not all solar expendi-
tures will qualify for the credit.  

For both qualified solar electric prop-
erty costs and qualified solar water heat-
ing property costs, the Form 5695 instruc-
tions state that no costs relating to a
solar panel or other property installed as
a roof, or a portion thereof, will fail to
qualify solely because the property con-
stitutes a structural component of the
structure on which it is installed. Unlike
the nonbusiness energy property credit,
which excludes labor costs for onsite
preparation, assembly, or original instal-
lation of the component, the residential
energy-efficient property credit section
includes any labor costs properly alloca-



ble to the onsite preparation, assembly, or
original installation of the property and
for piping or wiring to interconnect such
property to the home. In this case, the tax-
payer will be able to claim the solar tax
credit for these labor costs, thus increas-
ing the amount of credit that can be
claimed for a given year. If, however,
the amount of solar electricity produced
is more than the taxpayer’s demand and
the excess is sold, the taxpayer will be
able to claim the credit only for that por-
tion of the solar electric expenditure that
relates to the electricity that was generat-
ed for the taxpayer’s home (http:// www
.irs.gov/ irb/ 2013-47_IRB/ ar09.html). 

Based on the Form 5695 instructions,
qualified solar electric property costs apply
to property where solar energy generates
electricity for use in the taxpayer’s home
located in the United States, and qualified
solar water heating property costs apply
to property where solar energy heats water
for use in the taxpayer’s home located in
the United States (if at least half of the
energy used by the solar water heating
property for such purpose is derived from
the sun). To qualify for the solar water
heating property costs credit, the property
must be certified by the nonprofit Solar
Rating Certification Corporation or a com-
parable entity endorsed by the applicable
state government. 

According to Notice 2009-41, qualified
solar electric property expenditures
apply to property where solar energy gen-
erates electricity for use in a qualifying
dwelling unit. Qualified solar water heat-
ing property expenditures apply to prop-
erty where solar energy heats water for
use in a qualifying dwelling unit if at least
half of the energy used by the property
for such purpose is derived from the sun,
and the property is certified by the non-
profit  Solar Rating Certification
Corporation or a comparable entity
endorsed by the applicable state govern-
ment  (http:// www.irs.gov/ irb/ 2009-
19_IRB/ ar08.html). 

One important distinction to note about
both definitions is the term used for the res-
idence or the place in which the solar struc-
tures and components are installed. The Form
5695 instructions use the term “home,” while
the Internal Revenue Bulletin (IRB) uses
the term “qualifying dwelling unit.”

Based upon the Form 5695 instructions,
a home is where the taxpayer lives in a

given year and can include a house, house-
boat, mobile home, cooperative apartment,
condominium, and a manufactured home
that conforms to the federal Manufactured
Home Construction and Safety Standards.
The IRB defines a qualifying dwelling unit
as a dwelling unit that is located in the
United States and is used as a residence by
the taxpayer.

For the first four housing units listed, the
credit is 30% of the total of these costs (see
Exhibit 1), although for the qualified fuel
cell property costs, the credit is limited to
the lesser of—
n 30% of the qualified fuel cell property
costs, or 
n the kilowatt capacity of the property
installed, with the fuel cell property mul-
tiplied by $1,000. 

The total potential residential energy effi-
cient property credit for a given year would
be the sum of all these credits as calculat-
ed previously, plus any credits carried
forward from prior years. 

The residential energy efficient proper-
ty credit claimed by a taxpayer for a
given year would be the lower of—
n the potential residential energy efficient
property credit calculated previously, or 
n the taxpayer’s adjusted tax liability. 

The adjusted tax liability is determined
by reducing the total taxes reported on
Form 1040, line 46, by various credit
amounts. Some of these credits are from
Form 8396, Mortgage Interest Credit,
line 9, and Form 8839, Qualified Adoption
Expenses, line 16. If the sum of these
amounts is greater than or equal to the
taxes on line 46 of Form 1040, then the
taxpayer will not be able to use any of
the potential residential energy efficient
property credit, and this credit will carry
forward to the next year.

Examples. Exhibit 1 presents a summary
of the residential energy-efficient property
credit for three taxpayers. In this exam-
ple, assume that there are no qualified
fuel cell property costs and no credit car-
ryforward from the prior year. The total
qualified costs incurred for Taxpayer 1,
Taxpayer 2, and Taxpayer 3 were $67,600,
$22,050, and $41,025 respectively.
Therefore, the potential residential energy-
efficient property credits would be $20,280,
$6,615, and $12,308. 

The amounts from Form 1040, line 46,
were $25,110, $7,850, and $10,600 for
Taxpayer 1, Taxpayer 2, and Taxpayer 3,

respectively. These tax amounts were
reduced to $24,410, $7,200, and $10,175
after taking into consideration other cred-
its from the different forms.

As illustrated in Exhibit 1, only
Taxpayer 1 and Taxpayer 2 were able to
claim the full potential residential energy-
efficient property credit, effectively $3 for
every $10 spent on qualified costs.
Taxpayer 3 was only able to claim $10,175
of the $12,308 potential residential ener-
gy-efficient property credit. This resulted
in approximately $2.50 for every $10 spent
on qualified costs.

New York Solar Energy System 
Equipment Credit

As stated above, there are three cate-
gories of expenditures for which credits
can be claimed. These are the purchase
expenditure, the power purchase agree-
ment expenditure, and the lease expendi-
ture; nontaxable federal, state, and local
grants or any interest or other finance
charges must be excluded from these pay-
ments. The purchase expenditures may
include— 
n materials; 
n labor costs properly allocated to on-site
preparation, assembly, and original installation; 
n architectural and engineering services;
and 
n designs and plans directly related to the
construction or installation of the solar
energy system equipment. 

For both the lease and power purchase
agreement expenditures, the agreements
must be in writing and must be for at
least 10 years.

The following points must be noted:
n The solar energy system must use solar
radiation to produce energy for heating,
cooling, hot water, or electricity for resi-
dential use.  
n The equipment must be installed, placed
in service, and used at the taxpayer’s
principal residence in New York.
n When electricity is produced, the tax-
payer must enter into a net energy meter-
ing contract with the electricity provider,
or comply with the electric provider’s net
energy metering schedule before the tax-
payer can qualify for the credit.

The New York State credit is 25% of
the qualified solar energy system equip-
ment expenditure and is limited to
$5,000. The credit taken in a given year
will be limited to the adjusted state tax due
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(see line 6 of Form IT-255). Credits in
excess of the adjusted NYS tax due can be
carried forward and will expire after five
years. In addition, there is a 15-year limi-
tation for power purchase agreement
expenditures and lease expenditures; that
is, no credit is allowed in the 16th year and
any years thereafter. 

Because of the credit limit of $5,000 for
each category of expenditure, a total of
$15,000 can be claimed in a given year for
all three categories. The following are
key points to note about the $5,000 for
each category:
n For both power purchase agreement
expenditures and lease expenditures, the
limit of $5,000 is for each agreement that
is entered into. For example, if in 2014 a
power purchase agreement was entered into
for $100,000 for 10 years and a $5,000
credit was claimed in 2014, no more
credit can be claimed for the remaining
nine years. The procedure would be the
same for each lease agreement entered into.
n For the purchase expenditures, the limit
of $5,000 is only for the year that the
equipment was placed in service. For
example, if the expenditure of $100,000
was incurred in 2014, then 25% of this
would be $25,000. This taxpayer would be
able to claim a maximum credit of
$5,000 in 2014 and the balance of $20,000
would be carried over to 2015. If in 2015
this taxpayer has an adjusted state tax due
in excess of $20,000, then he could claim
a credit of $20,000.

Taxes Are Only Part of the Decision
The ability to claim energy credits

means that certain costs must first be
incurred. The costs will vary based on
the quality of the product; for example,
the most effective solar panels have the
highest cost. The average installation
costs for solar panels and solar water
heaters are $13,500 and $3,800, respec-
tively. The biggest hurdle to affordable
solar energy remains the soft costs—such
as permitting, zoning, and connecting a
solar energy system to the power grid.
On average, local permitting and inspec-
tion processes add more than $2,500 to
the total cost of a solar energy system
 (http://energy.gov/articles/top-6-things-
you-didnt-know-about-solar-energy). 

The total credit claimed in a given year
for the nonbusiness energy property cred-
it, the residential energy efficient prop-

erty credit, and the New York State solar
energy system equipment credit is lim-
ited to a taxpayer’s liability for that year.
If a taxpayer is expected to have a low
tax liability for 2015 and 2016, then the
taxpayer would not be able to effective-
ly use the residential energy efficient
property credit during these years.
Taxpayers who use these credits may
want to do so in years in which their
tax liabilities are expected to be high,
compared to the credits. For the New
York energy credit, a taxpayer may
plan to incur costs of $100,000 for the
purchase expenditure category in 2015 if
the tax liability is expected to be much
higher in 2016 when the taxpayer

would be able to use the remaining cred-
it in excess of $5,000. 

Finally, a good tax planning strategy for
both the power purchase agreement expen-
diture and the lease expenditure might be
to enter into multiple agreements for
$20,000 ($20,000 × 25% = $5,000). In
effect, this will increase the actual credit
claimed above $5,000.                      q

Carnet A. Brown, CPA, is an accountant
at NYU Langone Medical Center, New
York, N.Y. Vincent Cosenza, CPA, is a
tax manager at Shanholt Glassman
Klein Kramer & Company P.C., New
York, N.Y. 

EXHIBIT 1
Residential Energy Efficient Property Credit

Line Taxpayer 1 Taxpayer 2 Taxpayer 3
1 Qualified solar electric property costs 55,000 15,000 30,000

2 Qualified solar water heating property costs 100 50 25

3 Qualified small wind energy property costs – – –

4 Qualified geothermal heat pump property costs 12,500 7,000 11,000

5 Add lines 1–4 67,600 22,050 41,025

6 Credit of 30% 20,280 6,615 12,308

7 Potential residential energy-efficient credit 20,280 6,615 12,308

8 Amount on line l below 24,410 7,200 10,175
9 Credit claimed (smaller of line 7 or 8) 20,280 6,615 10,175

Credit carryforward to next year – – 2,133

Summary of Residential Energy-Efficient Credit Limitation Worksheet
a Amount from 1040 (line 46) 25,110 7,850 10,600

b Amount from Form 1040 (line 47–50) 100 50 25

c Amount from Schedule R (line 22) – – –

d Amount from Form 5695 (line 30) – – –

e Amount from line 11 worksheet, Pub. 972 (line 12) – – –

f Amount from Form 8936 (line 9) – 200 100

g Amount from Form 8839 (line 16) – – 50

h Amount from Form 8859 (line 3) – – –

i Amount from Form 8910 (line 15) – – –

j   Amount from Form 8936 (line 23) 600 400 250

k Add lines b through j 700 650 425

l   Subtract line k from a 24,410 7,200 10,175
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By Wei-Chih Chiang, Yingxu Kuang,
Ziyun Yang

Recently, the IRS issued Revenue
Procedure 2013-34 to provide
guidance on innocent spouse

equitable relief (IRB 2013-43). Among the
changes intended to provide greater lenien-
cy to taxpayers, one potentially controver-
sial change relates to the “knowledge fac-
tor.” In the past, actual knowledge of an
item giving rise to a deficiency was heav-
ily weighted against equitable relief by
the Tax Court. (For a more detailed dis-
cussion, see T. D. Englebrecht, K. Pierce,
and W. C. Chiang, “Ignorance Is Better for
Innocent Spouse Equitable Relief,”
Practical Tax Strategies, March 2007, vol.
78 no. 3, pp. 156–167.) Under the new
rules, actual knowledge will not be
weighed more heavily than any other fac-
tor. Because of the significance of this
modification, how to apply the new weight-
ing rules could raise practical issues. 

Equitable Relief
To redress the potential unfairness of

joint tax returns, Congress implemented
the innocent spouse relief provisions under
IRC section 6015. Three types of innocent
spouse relief are provided. IRC section
6015(b) prescribes the traditional relief,
where an innocent spouse who did not
know or had no reason to know about
the understatement of tax may be
relieved from the tax deficiency. IRC
section 6015(c) offers a separate liability
election that allows the requesting spouse
to limit individual liability to the portion
allocated to her. If an innocent spouse does
not qualify for relief under IRC sections
6015(b) or (c), section 6015(f) equitable
relief may be granted by the IRS; this
occurs when, taking into account all the
facts and circumstances, it is inequitable
to hold the individual liable for any unpaid

tax or any deficiency. Most of the cases
decided by the Tax Court entail innocent
spouse equitable relief under IRC section
6015(f). Accordingly, issues related to this
type of relief attract more taxpayers’ atten-
tion and are the focus on this analysis.

To establish guidelines for granting inno-
cent spouse equitable relief, the IRS origi-
nally issued Revenue Procedure 2000-15,
which later was superseded by Revenue
Procedure 2003-61. Revenue Procedure
2013-34 now replaces the latter guidance.
Generally, to be considered for equitable
relief, a requesting spouse should meet seven
threshold conditions. Furthermore, the IRS
will make streamlined determinations grant-
ing equitable relief in cases where the
requesting spouse is no longer married to

the nonrequesting spouse, would suffer eco-
nomic hardship if relief were not granted,
and did not know or had no reason to know
about the understatement or deficiency on
the joint tax return. When the requesting
spouse does not qualify for the streamlined

equitable relief, the IRS will make the relief
decision on the basis of several important
factors, including marital status, economic
hardship, knowledge or reason to know,
legal obligation, whether a significant ben-
efit was received, compliance with tax laws,
and  mental or physical health. In addition,
abuse or financial control by the non-
requesting spouse are two important fac-
tors that may result in certain factors (e.g.,
the knowledge factor and the significant fac-
tor) weighing in favor of equitable relief

The Revised Innocent Spouse 
Equitable Relief Rules

T A X A T I O N
f e d e r a l  t a x a t i o n

Renewed Controversy over the Knowledge Factor 



when they might otherwise weigh against
relief. Nevertheless, no single factor is deci-
sive, and the IRS will weigh all relevant ele-
ments, regardless of whether they are list-
ed in Revenue Procedure 2013-34.

The Knowledge Factor
The knowledge factor has been includ-

ed in the equitable relief rules since the IRS
issued Revenue Procedure 2000-15.
There are two types of knowledge: actual
knowledge and constructive knowledge.
Actual knowledge means that the request-
ing spouse in fact had knowledge of an
erroneous item or unpaid tax liability; con-
structive knowledge means that, even
where the requesting spouse did not actu-
ally know about the erroneous item or
unpaid tax liability, she had reason to have
known about it. 

As shown in Exhibit 1, the weighting of
the knowledge factor has changed along with
different versions of the equitable relief rules.
Under Revenue Procedure 2000-15, when a
requesting spouse knew or had reason to
know of the item giving rise to a deficiency
or an underpayment, the knowledge factor
was treated a strong factor weighing against
relief. However, this weighting was revised
under Revenue Procedure 2003-61 to become

more lenient to taxpayers regarding con-
structive knowledge. That is, reason to know
of an item giving rise to the deficiency would
not be weighed more heavily than other
factors, while actual knowledge would still
weigh heavily against relief. Revenue
Procedure 2013-34 further revised the weigh-
ing method regarding the actual knowledge.

Namely, actual knowledge of an item giv-
ing rise to the deficiency is not weighed more
heavily than any other factor under
Revenue Procedure 2013-34. Consequently,
neither the constructive knowledge nor the
actual knowledge should be weighed more
heavily than any other factor. 

Controversial Issues
The IRS includes the knowledge factor

when considering whether to grant equi-
table relief. This inclusion, however, may
give rise to certain practical issues.

First, consideration of the knowledge
factor in equitable relief decision-making
has been much debated. Some have argued

that it is counterintuitive to include the
knowledge factor in the equitable relief
requirements (G. Fleischman and J. Bryant,
“A Critique of the Innocent Spouse
Equitable Relief Provisions,” Tax Notes,
Mar. 19, 2001, pp. 1716–1720). Congress
intended equitable relief to be a safety net
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EXHIBIT 1
Weighting of the Knowledge Factor

Weighting for Equitable Relief

Revenue Procedure Actual Knowledge Constructive Knowledge

Revenue Procedure 2000-15 When a requesting spouse knew of the item When a requesting spouse had reason to know 
giving rise to a deficiency or the underpayment, of the item giving rise to a deficiency or the 
it is an extremely strong factor weighing underpayment, it is an extremely strong factor 
against relief. weighing against relief.

Revenue Procedure 2003-61 In a deficiency case, actual knowledge of the In a deficiency case, reason to know of the item 
item giving rise to the deficiency is a strong giving rise to the deficiency does not weigh more 
factor weighing against relief. heavily than other factors.

Revenue Procedure 2013-34 In a deficiency case, actual knowledge of the If the requesting spouse had reason to know of  
item giving rise to the deficiency does not the item giving rise to the understatement, the 
weigh more heavily than any other factor. knowledge factor weighs against relief.

To establish guidelines for granting innocent spouse

equitable relief, the IRS originally issued Revenue

Procedure 2000-15, superseded by 2003-61. Revenue

Procedure 2013-34 now replaces the latter guidance. 



for spouses unable to receive relief under
IRC sections 6015(b) and (c). Many of
these failures were caused by spouses’
actual knowledge or constructive knowl-
edge. Therefore, inclusion of the knowl-
edge factor in the equitable relief rules
could contradict Congress’s intent and be
inappropriate and unhelpful (G. Fleischman
and S. Valentine, “Professionals’ Tax
Liability Assessments and Ethical
Evaluations in an Equitable Relief Innocent
Spouse Case,” Journal of Business
Ethics, vol. 42, pp. 27–44, 2003). 

Moreover, the innocent spouse equitable
relief rules stipulate that when the factors
in favor of equitable relief are unusually
strong or compelling, it may be appropri-
ate to grant equitable relief even with the
existence of actual knowledge or con-
structive knowledge [see Revenue
Procedure 2000-15 section 4.03(2)(b) and
Revenue Procedure 2003-61 section
4.03(2)(a)(iii)(B)]. In practice, this excep-
tion applies rarely. One study found that

only 5 of 78 Tax Court cases in which
the knowledge factor was weighed
against relief (Englebrecht, Pierce, and
Chiang 2007). Therefore, it is likely that
if a requesting spouse had actual knowl-
edge or constructive knowledge, she would
probably be denied for equitable relief. 

Second, the presence of abuse out-
weighing the knowledge factor is a
practical concern. The revenue procedures
indicate that the presence of abuse by the
non-requesting spouse may result in the
knowledge factor weighing in favor of
relief when otherwise it may have
weighed against [Revenue Procedure
2003-61 section 4.03(2)(b)(i); Revenue
Procedure 2013-34 section 4.03(2)(c)(iv)].
In one survey, business professionals,
including accounting managers, human
resource managers, and sales and mar-
keting managers were asked to decide
whether to grant equitable relief in a sce-
nario where constructive knowledge
exists (G. Fleischman, S. Valentine, and

D. Finn, “Ethical Reasoning and
Equitable Relief,” Behavioral Research
in Accounting, vol. 19, pp. 107–132,
2007). Using the presence of abuse as a
control, the researchers found that
although the abuse factor was positively
related to relief judgment, it was not com-
pelling enough to overcome the knowl-
edge factor. 

A third issue is how to weigh the knowl-
edge factor against other factors. Revenue
Procedure 2013-34 states that actual knowl-
edge of an item giving rise to the under-
statement or deficiency will not be weight-
ed more heavily than any other factor.
But researchers found that three equitable
relief factors (economic hardship, knowl-
edge, and sole attribution) were found to
be more influential by Tax Court judges
(G. Whittenburg, I. Horowitz, and W.
Raabe, “Determining Innocence in
Innocent-Spouse Court Cases Using
Logit/Probit Analysis,” Advances in
Taxation, vol. 17, pp. 143–165, 2006).
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EXHIBIT 2
Summary of Judicial Opinions

Equitable Relief Factors

Marital Economic Legal Significant Compliance Mental or 

Case Relief? Status Hardship Knowledge Obligation Benefit Physical Health

Demeter, T.C. Granted Favor Favor Against Favor Favor Favor Neutral
Memo 2014-238

Howerter, T.C. Granted Favor Neutral Against Neutral Favor Favor Neutral
Summ. 2014-15

Raschke, T.C. Granted Favor Favor Against Neutral Favor Neutral Favor
Summ. 2014-32

Barrera, T.C. Denied Favor Neutral Against Neutral Neutral Favor Neutral
Summ. 2014-30

Zelasko, T.C. Denied Favor Neutral Against Neutral Favor Favor Neutral
Summ. 2014-52

Ehrmann, T.C. Denied Favor Neutral Against Neutral Favor Favor Neutral
Summ. 2014-96

Favor: The Tax Court weighed the factor in favor of equitable relief under Revenue Procedure 2013-34.
Neutral: The Tax Court weighed the factor neutral under Revenue Procedure 2013-34.
Against: The Tax Court weighed the factor against equitable relief under Revenue Procedure 2013-34.
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Among the three, the knowledge factor was
found to be the most influential. Now that
Revenue Procedure 2013-34 has set new
rules for the knowledge factor, it remains
to be seen whether the judicial system.

Judicial Opinions
The weighting methods of the knowledge

factor under Revenue Procedure 2013-34 are
more favorable to equitable relief claimants.
But because actual knowledge used to weigh
heavily against equitable relief, it is worth-
while to inquire how the new knowledge
rules have been applied in court so far. As
of June 24, 2015, there have been 21 Tax
Court rulings under Revenue Procedure
2013-34. A selection of six cases provides

useful examples to explore the practice of
the knowledge factor. Exhibit 2 provides the
details of these cases.

The knowledge factor weighed against
equitable relief in all six of these cases but
taxpayers were granted equitable relief in
three cases [Demeter (T.C. Memo 2014-
238), Howerter (T.C. Summary Opinion
2014-15), and Raschke (T.C. Summary
Opinion 2014-32)]. In the past, when the
knowledge factor weighed against relief, the
relief request was generally denied.
Therefore, it seems that the new rules would
increase the probability that a taxpayer will
be granted equitable relief. On the other
hand, the knowledge factor is still very deter-
minative. In the three other cases [Barrera
(T.C. Summary Opinion 2014-30), Zelasko
(T.C. Summary Opinion 2014-52), Ehrmann
(T.C. Summary Opinion 2014-96)], the
knowledge factor was the only factor weigh-
ing against relief while other factors were
either neutral or favored relief; nonetheless,
the requesting spouses were denied equitable

relief. As such, further inquiry into these
decisions and an analysis of why the court
denied equitable relief is warranted: 
n In Barrera, the Tax Court noted that the
requesting spouse acted as the non-request-
ing spouse’s attorney-in-fact on the joint
return and possessed the bank records
which documented most of the unreport-
ed wages. In addition, the requesting
spouse would not have suffered econom-
ic hardship and the requesting spouse and
the non-requesting spouse agreed in the
divorce decree to pay equal shares of the
tax deficiency. 
n The Tax Court in Zelasko noted that the
requesting spouse, who had obtained sig-
nificant relief under IRC section 6015(c),

was aware of a portion of the omitted income
and would suffer no economic hardship. 
n In Ehrmann, the Tax Court’s decision
was rendered because the requesting spouse
knew of the non-requesting spouse’s long
history of tax noncompliance, was active-
ly involved with the non-requesting
spouse’s business activities that had gen-
erated the unpaid tax liability, knew that
the non-requesting spouse failed to make
estimated tax payments, exercised consid-
erable control over the household finances
and decision-making, and would not suf-
fer economic hardship if relief were denied.

Analysis. These decisions reveal sever-
al points. First, the knowledge factor still
plays an important role in denying equi-
table relief. Although Revenue Procedure
2013-34 does not weight actual knowledge
more heavily than other factors, the Tax
Court in these cases seemed to give
heavy weight to the knowledge factor.
Second, “no economic hardship” should be
weighed as neutral under Revenue

Procedure 2013-34, but the Tax Court in
these cases weighted “no economic hard-
ship” against relief. It would seem that
the Tax Court was still following Revenue
Procedure 2003-61 in this regard. Third,
even if the number of factors in favor of
relief is greater than the number of factors
against relief, the Tax Court might still
deny the relief request. The court has noted
that the decision of whether relief is appro-
priate is not based on a simple tally of
those factors (Hudgins, T.C. Memo 2012-
260). Finally, in Porter (132 T.C. 203), the
Tax Court  adopted a de novo scope and
standard of review in determining whether
equitable relief was warranted. As a result,
although the Tax Court will consider the
IRS’s guidelines for equitable relief, the
court is not bound by them (Pullins, 136
T.C. 432). That is, the Tax Court might not
follow the new rules regarding actual
knowledge under Revenue Procedure
2013-34. 

Early Pattern of Relief
Revenue Procedure 2013-34 provides

more lenient rules for innocent spouse equi-
table relief. Specifically, actual knowl-
edge of an item giving rise to a tax defi-
ciency will not be weighted more heavily
than any other factor. However, the knowl-
edge factor has raised some practical con-
cerns in the past that may persist into the
future. An analysis of cases ruled by the
Tax Court under Revenue Procedure 2013-
34 reveals the judicial opinions on the new
rules. While the Tax Court is not bound
by the new weighting methods regarding
actual knowledge under Revenue
Procedure 2013-34, the new rules have
changed the Tax Court’s decision pattern,
resulting in the granting of more equitable
relief when actual knowledge was pre-
sent. Nevertheless, because Revenue
Procedure 2013-34 is relatively new at this
juncture, taxpayers should be wary as to
whether these judicial practices will con-
tinue in the future.                          q

Wei-Chih Chiang, DBA, is an assistant pro-
fessor of accounting, Yingxu Kuang, DBA,
is an assistant professor of accounting, and
Ziyun Yang, PhD, is an assistant professor
of accounting, all in the school of business
administration at the University of
Houston–Victoria, Sugar Land, Texas. 

The new rules have changed the Tax Court’s decision

pattern, resulting in the granting of more equitable

relief when actual knowledge was present. 



OCTOBER 2015 / THE CPA JOURNAL44

By Mark Vorkapich

For taxable years beginning on or
after January 1, 2014, there is a
small window of time during which

taxpayers can “scrub” their fixed asset sys-
tem for existing partial asset dispositions.
These are duplicate assets, which are cur-
rently being depreciated simultaneously, in
which the initial entries can now be writ-
ten off. These assets are generally compo-
nents of larger assets (i.e., roof on a
building, engine on a truck). This provides
an immediate deduction and cleans up the
fixed asset record. 

With the finalization of IRC section
263(a), a framework is now established for
how the depreciation records of a build-
ing should be structured for fixed asset
depreciation purposes. Combined with an
understanding of IRC section 168 dispo-
sitions, these are the two components need-
ed to properly set up and maintain real
property depreciation records for both cap-
ital expenses and deductions with regard
to federal taxation.

The Final Regulations
On September 13, 2013, the Treasury

Department published final regulations (TD
9636) that affect all taxpayers who acquire,
produce, or improve tangible property by
expanding and clarifying the rules sur-
rounding capital expenditures under IRC
section 263(a) (with exceptions for cer-
tain small taxpayers). These regulations
took effect on January 1, 2014. 

The final regulations refined the definition
of “unit of property” and established a fact-
based approach to determining whether work
performed on a building or leasehold
improvements should be considered a
deductible repair or a capital expense. In
addition, it allowed the routine maintenance
safe harbor to now apply to buildings. (The
final regulations use 10 years as the period

of time in which a taxpayer must reasonably
expect to perform the relevant activities more
than once.) 

Since then, the Treasury Department has
also issued final regulations on the dispo-
sition of Modified Accelerated Cost

Recovery System (MACRS) property. 
(See IRC section 1.168;  August 14, 2014.)
They represented the last major component
of the IRS’s long-running effort to provide
updated regulatory guidance on the capi-
talization, depreciation, and disposition of
tangible personal property. The disposition
regulations provide rules for determining
gain or loss upon the disposition of
depreciable property, determining the asset
disposed of, and accounting for partial dis-
positions. They apply to tax years begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2014.

An engineering-based cost segregation
study traditionally has been used to
reclassify federal tax depreciation rates of
real property, from a one lump-sum asset
listed in a fixed asset system as a “build-
ing” with a recovery period of 39 years,

to multiple detailed entries that identify sep-
arate assets with shorter recovery periods
lasting for five, seven, or 15 years. Under
the final regulations, however, a building
and its structural components are consid-
ered a single unit of property. The quali-

tative and quantitative information
already contained in an engineering-based
study can now be used to readily identify
all of these assets. Examples of this are
reflected in asset breakouts that show a spe-
cific quantity of each particular asset
(e.g., the number of rooftop units, win-
dows, electrical connections). 

The “unit of property” for buildings now
consists of the building structure and build-
ing systems, which include the following: 
n Heating, ventilation, and air condition-
ing (HVAC) systems
n Plumbing systems
n Electrical systems
n All escalators
n All elevators
n Fire protection and alarm systems
n Security systems

Cost Segregation and the Final Regulations
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n Gas distribution systems
n Other structural components identified
in published guidance. 

What Is Considered a Capital 
Improvement?

The final regulations define a capital
improvement as any expenditure that results
in a betterment, restoration, or adaptation. 
n A betterment to a unit of property cor-
rects a material condition or defect that
existed prior to the taxpayer’s acquisition;
results in a material addition; or results in
a material increase in capacity, productiv-
ity, efficiency, strength, quality, or output.
n Restoration is the replacement of a major
component or substantial structural part
of a unit of property, in order to return
the property to its ordinary efficient oper-
ating condition, if the property has deteri-
orated to a state of disrepair, or in order
to rebuild the property to a like-new con-
dition after the end of its class life.
n Adaptation means adapting the proper-
ty to a new or different use if the adapta-
tion is not consistent with the taxpayer’s
intended ordinary use of the property at the
time the property was originally placed in
service by the taxpayer. 

There is no one factor that determines
whether an expenditure results in an
improvement. A taxpayer must consider all
of the facts and circumstances; these fac-
tors are both quantitative and qualitative.
The following are examples of quantitative
analysis that would not result in an
improvement: 
n The replacement of 2 of 10 HVAC units
(20%)
n The replacement of 3 of 20 plumbing
fixtures (15%)
n The replacement of 30 of 300 windows
(10%).

This has raised an interesting point of
discussion: Could the given examples be
extrapolated to the building system as a
whole? An example of this would be
whether expenditures not exceeding 20%
of the costs of the HVAC can be expensed. 

In addition to the quantitative analysis
above, the final regulations also consider
the qualitative factors of expenditure. For
example, the replacement of a roof mem-
brane is not a betterment, but the replace-
ment of one HVAC unit that increased
energy efficiency by 50% would need to
be capitalized.

Final IRC Section 168 Regulations
Detail Rules for Dispositions

The final regulations made two clarifi-
cations of the 2013 proposed rules: 1) how
to determine the unadjusted depreciable
basis of a disposed asset in a general or
multiple asset account or a disposed por-
tion of an asset, and 2) how to make cer-
tain elections on the disposition of assets
included in a general asset account when
the demolition of structures (IRC section
280B) applies.

The basis of an asset in a general asset
account, or an asset that is partly disposed
of, can be determined using any reasonable
method. The final regulations do not include
discounting the cost of the replacement asset
by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) as an
example of a reasonable method. Instead, the
Producer Price Index (PPI) for “finished
goods/final demand” may be used. These
indices more accurately reflect inflation for
capital expenditures. The final regulations
also provide that discounting the cost of the
replacement asset using the PPI for finished
goods is a reasonable method only if the
replacement asset is considered a restoration
[Treasury Regulations section 1.263(a)-3(k)]
and not a betterment [Treasury Regulations
section 1.263(a)-3(j)] or an adaptation to a
new or a different use [Treasury Regulations
section 1.263(a)-3(l)].

The final regulations provide that a tax-
payer may use any reasonable method for
determining the basis of the disposed por-
tion of an asset, only if it is impractical to
make the determination from the taxpay-
er’s records. If the asset, a portion of which
is disposed of, is in a multiple-asset
account, the reasonable method used by the
taxpayer must be consistently applied to all
assets and portions of assets in the same
multiple accounts. 

The stumbling block for most taxpayers
lies in correctly trying to identify a reason-
able method and implementing that method.
By incorporating the estimating techniques
utilized in cost segregation studies, specific
detailed estimates can be made based on
each of the applicable assets. It is the cor-
rect identification of those assets that can
then allow taxpayers to properly calculate
their dispositions of real property.          q

Mark Vorkapich, ASA, is the director of
cost segregation services at Gladstone

Strategies & Solutions, Milwaukee, Wis.
He specializes in cost segregation studies
for new construction, purchase price allo-
cations, 1031 exchanges, and look-back
studies. 
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By David M. Barral

One of the challenges facing CPAs
is how to handle bond premium
amortization in light of the new

favored New York State tax treatment. This
article reviews the treatment of bond pre-
miums at the federal level, and then delves
into considerations at the state level.  

The past few years have seen a number
of changes to Form 1099 reporting as a
result of the Emergency Economic
Stabilization Act of 2008. One of those
changes, seen on the 2014 Form 1099-INT,
is the introduction of line 11, “bond pre-
mium”: this lists the annual bond premi-
um amortization for covered securities pur-
chased after January 1, 2014. 

The problem lies whenever a taxpayer
has covered and noncovered securities
(bonds purchased prior to 2014), so sim-
ply looking at line 11 of Form 1099-INT
would not be sufficient for tax reporting.
CPAs should always look at the detail
and supplementary information provided,
in order to gather all of the information
regarding amortizable bond premiums for
the respective tax year.

Treatment of Bond Premiums
When taxpayers purchase a bond above

its face/par value, they are said to have
purchased the bond at a premium. An exam-
ple would be purchasing a $1,000 par value
bond (i.e., a bond that will pay $1,000 at
maturity) with a 5% coupon rate paid semi-
annually (i.e., paying $25 semiannually) for
$1,100. This additional $100 represents the
premium charged because, under the cur-
rent market conditions at the time of pur-
chase, few other bonds were offering sim-
ilar interest rates that high. Because the
coupon interest rate is fixed, the issuer’s only
way to adjust for differences between
varying market interest rates is to adjust
the issuing price of the bond itself. In this

example, the issuer can sell their bonds at
a premium because they offer a higher
coupon rate when compared to prevailing
lower market interest rates.

Taxpayers will generally experience two
forms of income tax while holding such a

bond. First, they will have interest income
to report throughout the life of the bond:
the $50 paid annually, taxed at ordinary
income tax rates. Second, there will also
be a future capital gain or loss at maturi-
ty: specifically, a $100 capital loss (assum-
ing no election to amortize), because the
bond was bought for $1,100, but the tax-
payer will receive only $1,000 when the
bond matures.

It is important to note that brokers will
assume the election is made [see Treasury
Regulations section 1.6045-1(n)(5)(i)] and
will report the cost basis taking into
account this bond premium amortization.
Taxpayers can (in writing, of course)
notify their broker that they do not want to
have the broker take into account the
election to amortize the bond premium

under Treasury Regulations section 1.6045-
1(n)(5)(ii)(A).

Taxpayers that make the election to
amortize the bond premium will attach
the election with their return. Taxpayers
do not need IRS consent to make this

election [Treasury Regulations section
1.171-5(c)(1)]. The election will be in
effect for the current tax year, and all
future years, unless the IRS revokes it.
The election to amortize under IRC sec-
tion 171(a)(1) is done under a constant
yield method, based upon the bond’s
yield to maturity. Generally, this is 
provided by the broker, done with soft-
ware, or calculated by an accountant’s
spreadsheet.

It is generally advantageous for taxpay-
ers to elect to amortize the bond premi-
um, because an interest income offset is
more beneficial than a future capital loss.
When a considerable amount of bonds is
involved, that loss will be limited to $3,000
per year; assuming there are no other cap-
ital gains to offset this, this further rein-
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forces the benefit of taking the deduction
annually. When the election is made, the
taxpayer will report interest income from
the bond, along with a corresponding line
item reflecting a deduction for the amorti-
zable bond premium, similar to interest
received as a nominee. 

The amortization taken annually will bring
the cost basis down; if the bond is held to
maturity, it will result in no capital loss. In
the example above, the cost basis will be
reduced from $1,100 to $1,000. The adjust-
ed cost basis will equal the proceeds received
when the bond is redeemed.

CPAs frequently find that investors are
holding more tax-exempt bonds than tax-
able bonds. Tax-exempt bonds are barred
a deduction for amortizable bond premi-
ums under IRC section 171(a)(2).
Conceptually, this makes sense, because
the income is not taxable and therefore no
deduction should be allowed. But even
though no deduction is allowed, tax-exempt
bonds still must amortize the premium on

the books under IRC section 1016(a)(5). 
Once again, it is important to note that

brokers will assume the election to amor-
tize is made and report basis accordingly
unless the taxpayer has specifically
directed them in writing to reflect basis
assuming no amortization. 

State Considerations
At the federal level, no deduction is

allowed for bond premium amortization on
tax-exempt bonds because the income is
not taxable at the federal level. But what
about at the state level? A bond whose
interest income is subject to New York
income tax but exempt from federal tax
can be included as a New York itemized
deduction under section 612(c)(10) of the
New York State tax law. It is included on
line 11 of Form IT-201-D as an addition
to New York itemized deductions.

The New York State Department of
Taxation and Finance (DTF) has become
increasingly effective in recent years at

sending notices acknowledging the amount
of interest income not being reported
from state and local bonds that is from out-
of-state bonds. As a result, it is even
more important to take bond premium
amortization into account. The notices from
the DTF are simply requesting that taxes
be paid on interest income from out-of-
state bonds and do not take into consider-
ation the bond premium amortization
deduction. It is important for tax profes-
sionals to understand this, and not miss a
potential deduction for their clients.

The Big Picture 
While this article has addressed just one

new line item on the Form 1099-INT,
taxpayers and their advisors need to be
aware of all that one line item entails.   q

David M. Barral, CPA/PFS, CFP, is a
supervisor at MBAF CPAs LLC, New
York, N.Y. 
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What is a non-GAAP performance financial measure?
Regulation G defines it as a number representing
company’s historical or future financial performance,

financial position, or cash flows that excludes amounts other-
wise included in—or includes amounts otherwise excluded
from—the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure. 

Generally, when a non-GAAP financial measure is pub-
licly disclosed, it must be accompanied by both the most direct-
ly comparable GAAP measure and a reconciliation between
the two amounts. In addition, when presented in an SEC fil-
ing, Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K requires that this disclo-
sure include a description of the reasons that management
believes the non-GAAP measure is useful to investors and, if
applicable, an explanation of the purpose for which manage-
ment uses the non-GAAP measure. (Item 10[e] does not pro-
hibit presentation of a non-GAAP measure that is not used in
managing the business.)

As it applies to a non-GAAP performance measure (i.e., an
alternative to GAAP earnings), Item 10(e) expressly prohibits
eliminating or smoothing items identified as “non-recurring,”
“infrequent,” or “unusual” when there has been a similar charge
or credit within the prior two years or the nature of the charge
or credit indicates that it is likely to occur again within the ensu-
ing two years. While it is inappropriate to state that a charge or
credit is nonrecurring, infrequent, or unusual because it does not
meet the two-year threshold, the fact that a charge or credit can-
not be so described does not, of itself, mean that an adjustment
to eliminate it may not be made; in other words, a company
may make any adjustment it believes appropriate, subject to
Regulation G and other Item 10(e) requirements.
THE PROLIFERATION OF NON-GAAP PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Non-GAAP performance measures have been around since
the 1960s, when they were referred to as “pro forma earnings”
and included mainly in earnings announcements. When the
SEC issued Regulation G and Item 10(e) in January 2003, to
implement section 401(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, it
replaced the term “pro forma financial information” with the
more focused term "non-GAAP financial measure.” Such mea-
sures have since become a prominent part of the performance
narratives of more and more U.S. and foreign companies. 

The companies that present non-GAAP performance met-
rics [e.g., earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization 
( EBITDA), adjusted EBITDA] believe that they provide insight
into a company’s core operations beyond one-size-fits-all
GAAP and, as such, afford investors a view of a company
through management’s eyes. Many companies using 
non-GAAP performance metrics believe that, by doing so, they
are furnishing investors with a better understanding of the busi-
ness, resulting in a reduced cost of capital. Indeed, a recent
Price water house Coopers survey revealed that nearly 60% of
IPOs over the past three years included at least one non-GAAP
performance measure, with nearly two-thirds of such measures
focusing on EBITDA or a variation thereof. 

The perceived value of non-GAAP performance measures
is by no means one-sided, and there is widespread interest in
adjusted GAAP earnings among providers of both equity and
debt capital as well. In 2001, Standard & Poor’s formalized
the concept of core earnings to arrive at an entity’s profit from
ongoing, underlying activities, and it has since incorporated
core earnings into its ratings process. Moody’s performs a sim-
ilar analysis. Another recent PricewaterhouseCoopers global
survey of investment professionals revealed that investors 
do, in fact, value non-GAAP financial measures; they like
being able to see management’s view of what is core to the
company. 
GLOBAL FLEXIBILITY

Recognizing the growing use of non-GAAP metrics, vari-
ous securities regulators around the world (including those in
the EU, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand) have issued
guidelines or rules covering their presentation. Although their
rules necessarily differ in some respects from the SEC’s rules
(and from one another’s), international regulators have, by and
large, taken the SEC’s lead and chosen to treat such mea-
sures with a light touch to permit companies the flexibility to
present non-GAAP performance measures as they see fit. 

In a very real sense, this approach is not unlike the funda-
mental notion underlying U.S. GAAP and International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) regarding segmental report-
ing: Under both sets of standards, an operating segment is
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defined as one whose operating results are regularly
reviewed by the company’s chief operating decision-maker
to assess the performance of the individual segment, and to
make decisions about resources allocated to the segment. Defin-
ing a segment this way is intended to provide financial state-
ment users with management’s perspective. 
PROS AND CONS

There is no lack of criticism of non-GAAP performance
metrics. Some critics have labeled them as “income before the
bad stuff,” and a large body of evidence supports the con-
tention that companies present non-GAAP earnings oppor-
tunistically to overturn a GAAP loss, to report positive earn-
ings growth (when growth is negative on a GAAP basis),
and to meet or beat the earnings consensus when the GAAP
surprise itself is negative. Substantial evidence also shows,
however, that the quality of non-GAAP earnings has improved
considerably since Regulation G was issued, attributable in
large part to the requirement to reconcile non-GAAP metrics
to the most directly comparable GAAP measure. On the pos-
itive side, there is evidence that, because non-GAAP earn-
ings are likely to exclude transitory items, non-GAAP report-
ed amounts tend to be a better predictor of future earnings and
cash flows. 
ADJUSTED EBITDA, A FAVORITE OF FILERS

A recent study of 40 U.S. companies (conducted by the
author) showed that adjusted EBITDA was one of the most
frequent non-GAAP performance measures presented in SEC
filings. In 2010, the SEC staff clarified that non-GAAP mea-
sures calculated differently from pure EBITDA (i.e., that
exclude items other than interest, taxes, depreciation, and amor-
tization) may be presented as performance measures, but
they must be characterized as different from—and their titles
distinguished from—EBITDA; the SEC staff suggested adjust-
ed EBITDA as an umbrella term.   

The study revealed that the most frequent items subtracted
from or added to net income to arrive at adjusted EBITDA
(i.e., to reconcile to the most directly comparable GAAP mea-
sure) were as follows:
n Stock compensation
n Asset impairment charges and write-offs 
n Merger and acquisition related costs
n Restructuring charges
n Losses on debt extinguishments
n Changes in fair values of assets and liabilities 
n Gains or losses on the sales of assets.

Overall, there were more than 30 different types of recon-
ciling items, including some as company-specific as changes
to the last-in, first-out (LIFO) reserve, the cost of a non-
recurring audit of internal controls, the effect of the 53rd week
in a 52/53-week fiscal year, litigation costs, and the effects of
volatility in pension expense due to fluctuations in the finan-
cial markets. The sheer number of reconciling items reflects

both the flexibility management has in arriving at its version
of core earnings and the difficulty regulators face in estab-
lishing hard-and-fast rules about the selection of items. 
WHAT INVESTORS WANT; HOW COMPANIES RESPOND

A major drawback of non-GAAP performance measures is
that they are not likely to be comparable with those of other
companies, even those in the same sector or industry. Of
course, this same criticism could also be leveled at pure GAAP
earnings, which—because of company-specific facts and cir-
cumstances—often make unadjusted comparisons meaning-
less. Investors understand that the lack of comparability among
non-GAAP performance metrics is the byproduct of manage-
ment’s flexibility. Nevertheless, most investors agree that their
value could be enhanced if they were to be accompanied by
clear explanations of the reconciling items and the rationale
for including or excluding them, and a discussion of the
manner in which the non-GAAP measure is utilized by man-
agement in operating the business.
WHAT’S IN A NAME?

Though regulators have chosen to steer clear of prescribing
the nature of specific reconciling items that may properly be
included or excluded in arriving at a non-GAAP performance
measure, it is my opinion that the reliability and credibility of
any such metric would be strengthened by an appropriate and
uniform name. As a term, adjusted EBITDA is overly gener-
al and insufficiently descriptive of what it is intended to con-
vey. The terms “core earnings” and “underlying profit” (the
latter is popular in Australia, New Zealand, and Europe) bet-
ter characterize management’s intentions. 
A PROMISING FUTURE

FASB has undertaken a research project aimed at improving
the relevance of information presented in the income statement,
which includes developing a framework for defining operating
activities and distinguishing between recurring and infrequent
items. At least one FASB member, Marc Siegel, who happens
to represent the investor community on the board, has been quot-
ed as saying that, because they complement each other, the com-
bination of GAAP and non-GAAP metrics represents a power-
ful analytical tool in understanding a company’s underlying
business. Siegel notes that empirical research does not indicate
that the demand for non-GAAP information points to a funda-
mental GAAP recognition and measurement problem; instead,
it points to a need for better organization and presentation of per-
formance information. This sounds like a plan.                  q

Allan B. Afterman, PhD, CPA, is the author of numerous
treatises on financial reporting and SEC practice and has con-
sulted with governments on the establishment of national secu-
rities laws and financial reporting standards. He is a former
adjunct professor in the Booth School of Business at the Uni-
versity of Chicago, and was assistant to the national director
of SEC practice at a major public accounting firm. 
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On February 28, 2014, the IRS Large Business and
International Division (LB&I) issued a directive,
LB&I-04-0214-004, setting forth how LB&I intend-

ed to fundamentally change its procedures for issuing infor-
mation document requests (IDR) (IRS Form 4564). The
2014 directive, following two 2013 directives on the same
issue, went into effect on March 3, 2014. It provides that 1)
draft IDRs will be discussed with taxpayers before final
IDRs are issued, and 2) if taxpayers do not timely comply with
the ensuing IDRs, enforcement through the issuance of sum-
monses is mandatory. It should be noted that, while the 2014
directive is to be followed by all LB&I employees, it does
not confer substantive rights on taxpayers.
LB&I’S NEW POLICY: EFFECTIVE OR DISRUPTIVE? 

Tax professionals were initially concerned that the new pro-
cedures would result in an upsurge in the number of summons
enforcement proceedings. Instead, the 2014 directive’s provi-
sion for upfront discussions between taxpayers and examin-
ers before an IDR is issued appears to be streamlining the IDR
process. 

According to the IRS, all LB&I agents and chief counsel
have received training on the new procedures. LB&I general-
ly examines wealthy individuals, partnerships, S corpora-
tions, and corporations with assets greater than $10 million.
These taxpayers often face complex issues of tax law and
accounting principles; to simplify matters, the 2014 directive
provides that an IDR must focus on a single issue. The IDR
must specify the books, papers, records, or other information
requested, as well as the activity and time period involved.
(Note that an IDR issued at the start of an examination, request-
ing basic books, records, and general information about a
taxpayer’s business, is not subject to the single-issue require-
ment.) The examiner should ensure that the IDR is customized
to the taxpayer or industry, and must use numbers or letters
on each IDR for clarity.

The 2014 directive provides that “meaningful communica-
tion between the IRS and taxpayers in advance of an IDR
being issued is essential.” These pre-IDR discussions permit the
IRS to manage its examiners’ time, provide for reasonable esti-

mated closing dates, and reduce wasted time while agents wait
for information. According to the directive, “taxpayers will be
better able to manage their tax department resources with focused
IDR requests that have reasonable time frames.” 

The 2014 directive predicted that “when both the IRS and
taxpayers engage in robust, good faith communication in
advance of an IDR being issued, enforcement procedures
will be needed only infrequently.” This prediction has appar-
ently been borne out. The new procedures have now been in
place for 18 months, and tax professionals are encouraged by
the increased communication engendered between taxpayers
and examiners. 
PROCEDURES

The 2014 directive provides that, during the early stages of
an audit, an examiner should identify the auditable issues,
explain how the information requested relates to an issue to
be considered, and discuss why the information is necessary.
The examiner will then prepare a draft IDR with no return
date listed. Following further discussions with the taxpayer
on substantive issues, the examiner will consult with the tax-
payer to determine a reasonable time frame for a response to
the IDR. If—and only if—an agreement cannot be reached,
the examiner will unilaterally set a response date. The exam-
iner will also commit to a date by which the examiner will
inform the taxpayer whether the information provided satis-
fies the IDR. 

Once set, timetables are strict. An examiner may grant one
extension of only 15 days; after that, an enforcement process
begins with a delinquency notice, which generally includes a
response date of no more than 10 days. If the taxpayer does
not respond, a presummons letter is issued, again with a
response date of no more than 10 days. Finally, if a taxpayer
does not respond, a summons will be issued (although there
is no set timetable for its issuance). 
THE PRE-IDR STAGE

Communication between examiner and taxpayer prior to
issuance of an IDR is key to the success of the new process.
Once the IDR is issued, its firm time frames allow the exam-
iner less flexibility. The early stage of an audit presents an
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opportunity for a taxpayer to educate an examiner as to the
taxpayer’s perspective on an issue, and allows the taxpayer to
try to set realistic timelines for the audit. Now that an exam-
iner is required to specifically tailor IDRs, there should be
fewer broad generalized IDRs; nevertheless, once notice of
examination has been issued, it is to a taxpayer’s advantage
to seek representation from a professional with ample experi-
ence in dealing with LB&I.

As per the 2014 directive, an examiner should ensure that
the IDR is customized to the taxpayer or industry. To facili-
tate this, a taxpayer should address each issue under audit,
citing relevant law, in order to have a meaningful voice in for-
mulating the IDR. The taxpayer should also be prepared to
educate the examiner about the taxpayer’s document reten-
tion system and how long it will reasonably take to gather
the requested information.

Taxpayers should be realistic about how long it will take
to identify relevant documents and records from its data repos-
itories, perform any necessary privilege review, and undertake
any work needed to render the records understandable to the
examiner. A taxpayer may discuss these issues by meeting
with or writing to the examiner. Prior to the 2014 directive,
IDR due dates were much more arbitrary, and often caused
tension between examiner and taxpayer. 

The pre-IDR stage of the proceedings sets the tenor of the
examiner-taxpayer relationship throughout the audit, and a tax-
payer should strive to establish a good working relationship
with the examiner up front.

Nevertheless, a taxpayer should keep memos describing all
meetings or conversations with the IRS examiner in order to
establish a factual record that may be forwarded to an IRS
manager if there is a disagreement with the examiner.

It is up to the taxpayer to be proactive— the taxpayer should
begin to gather requested information upon receipt of the draft
IDR. There is no due date at this stage, so a taxpayer can
take advantage of any additional time, even if the taxpayer
intends to persuade the examiner to revise the final IDR by,
for example, suggesting alternate clarifying language.

Upon receipt of the draft IDR, a taxpayer should make
sure that it concerns only a single issue and is written in “clear
and concise language,” as required by the 2014 directive.
The discussion of the draft IDR and issuance of a final IDR
should be completed within 10 business days.
REQUESTING AN EXTENSION

Although the examiner has the authority only to issue an
extension of up to 15 days for a taxpayer to remedy an untime-
ly or incomplete response, this additional time can be crucial.
Consequently, a taxpayer should remain in contact with the
examiner while collecting documents and let the examiner
know of difficulties as they arise. This will lend credibility to
any extension request. When seeking an extension, a taxpay-
er should identify the outstanding information, document efforts

to retrieve the information, and indicate the amount of time
needed to complete production.

An examiner may grant only one extension with respect to
the same IDR, in two situations: 
n When the taxpayer fails to respond. Within five business
days of a failure to respond, an examiner will discuss with
the taxpayer the cause of the failure and determine if an exten-
sion is warranted; or
n When the taxpayer provides an incomplete response. In this
case, an examiner will, also within five days, discuss with the
taxpayer why the response is not complete and determine
whether an extension is warranted. 

If granted, an extension period begins when the extension
determination is “made and communicated” to the taxpayer.
The 2014 directive suggests that this determination should be

made within five days of the original due date. While an oral
communication from the examiner granting an extension is
sufficient, a taxpayer would be wise to request that the exten-
sion be documented in writing.
THE ENFORCEMENT PROCESS

An examiner should be held accountable for meeting the
deadline for communicating to the taxpayer whether the IDR
response was satisfactory, as this affects the 2014 directive’s
enforcement process. (If the IDR is complete, the taxpayer
must be notified of this fact and the IDR is closed.) If the
taxpayer does not provide a response by the IDR due date, or
if the response is unsatisfactory, the examiner should discuss
these issues with the taxpayer within five business days.

If a dispute arises as to whether the IDR response is com-
plete, taxpayers should make their case concerning why the
response is complete, and why they believe an examiner’s
expectations are unrealistic. If the dispute involves claims of
privilege, taxpayers should make sure that the claims are prop-
erly documented with a privilege log. When appropriate, tax-
payers should elevate the issue to an examiner’s superiors (i.e.,
if the examiner is uncooperative or unreasonable).

The enforcement process under the 2014 directive begins
either on the date when a decision denying an extension is
communicated to the taxpayer or on the extended due date.
Taxpayers, however, have additional opportunities to respond
to an IDR before a summons is issued. The next steps in the
enforcement process, the delinquency notice (IRS Letter 5077)
and the pre-summons letter (IRS Letter 5078), both allow up
to an additional 10 days to respond, so taxpayers will have
additional time before a summons is issued. 
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Prior to issuing the delinquency notice, an examiner should
explain to the taxpayer that the letter will be forthcoming,
and explain the next steps if the taxpayer fails to respond.
The delinquency notice is signed by the team manager, and
will be issued to the taxpayer within 10 days of the begin-
ning of the enforcement process. The delinquency notice will
include a response date that is generally no more than 10 busi-
ness days from the date of the notice. Any extension beyond
10 business days must be approved by the territory manager.
A copy of the delinquency notice and the IDR will be pro-
vided to IRS counsel.

If a taxpayer does not satisfactorily respond to the delin-
quency notice, the examiner will discuss the taxpayer’s lack
of response with the IRS team manager, specialist manager,
territory manager, and counsel before preparing the pre-sum-
mons letter. The appropriate territory manager must discuss
the letter with the taxpayer. The pre-summons letter will be
issued as quickly as possible, generally no later than 10 busi-
ness days after the due date of the delinquency notice. The
pre-summons letter will include a response date that is gen-
erally within 10 business days—any extension must be
approved by the director of field operations. A copy of the
pre-summons letter and the IDR must be discussed with IRS
counsel. The letter should be sent to a taxpayer management
official who is at the level equivalent to the LB&I territory
manager, such as a managerial official at the taxpayer whose
position is above that of the official to whom the delinquen-
cy notice was addressed. This hierarchy will not apply if the
taxpayer is an individual.

If the information requested in the IDR is not provided by
the response date established in the pre-summons letter, the
territory manager will explain the next step in the enforcement
process (i.e., issuance of a summons), to the taxpayer.
CONTINUING THE NEGOTIATION PROCESS

The issuance of a summons does not end the negotiation
process. An IRS administrative summons may be issued to
compel a taxpayer to produce information, in the form of exist-
ing documents or testimony or both. Note that the scope of a
summons may be narrower than an IDR, since an IDR may
require a taxpayer to create documents or to provide written
explanations of its business, which a summons cannot do. 

Despite the training that examiners have received, sum-
monses for testimony have been issued without discussion with
taxpayers or without the issuance of an IDR, on the grounds
that “testimony” does not fall within the definition of infor-
mation covered by the 2014 directive. If this occurs, a tax-
payer should take the issue to a higher level within the IRS.
AVOIDING GOING TO COURT

A taxpayer is only required to respond to a summons if
ordered to do so by a court. There is likely to be a lengthy
time between issuance of the summons and its enforcement
by a federal district court, however; this can take anywhere

from six months to one year to complete. This provides a
taxpayer with additional time to try to resolve issues arising
from an IDR. For example, if response time is the issue, a tax-
payer can contact the IRS and indicate that it is willing to com-
ply, but needs additional time to do so. 

Even if a summons is issued under the 2014 directive’s
enforcement process, an IRS examiner must persuade her supe-
riors that the summons should be enforced. The IRS Chief
Counsel must agree, and then the Department of Justice—
which may not have the available resources—must agree to
litigate the enforcement action. 

If the Department of Justice takes the matter to court,
however, and the court orders enforcement of a summons,
a taxpayer’s refusal to comply may result in contempt sanc-
tions. Consequently, a taxpayer should make all efforts to
satisfy the summons before enforcement proceedings are
brought.

The 2014 directive provides that if a taxpayer indicates
that the requested information will not be provided without a
summons, the enforcement process does not apply, and the
IRS should move directly to the issuance of a summons.

A taxpayer may oppose a summons in court, but defeating
a summons is a daunting challenge that is beyond the scope
of this article. In the seminal case of U.S. v. Powell [379 U.S.
48 (1964)], the Supreme Court held that an IRS summons is
valid if the following four conditions are met:
n It is issued for a legitimate purpose.
n It seeks information that may be relevant to that purpose
(with a low standard of relevance).
n It seeks information not already in the IRS’s possession.
n It satisfies all administrative steps required by the Internal
Revenue Code (IRC).

Failure by the IRS to follow the procedures of the 2014
directive is unlikely to be held to violate the last element of
the Powell test. In U.S. v. Artex Risk Solutions Inc. [114 AFTR
2d 2014-5956 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 11, 2014)], the court held that
one of the earlier two 2013 LB&I directives on this subject
was addressed to IDRs, not to the enforceability of a sum-
mons, and thus did not fall within Powell’s fourth requirement.
In addition, the court pointed out that the directive at issue
stated that it “is not an official pronouncement of law and can-
not be used, cited, or relied upon as such.” The 2014 direc-
tive contains the same language and it is likely to be treated
the same way by the courts. 
MAKING IT WORK

The new LB&I IDR procedures allow taxpayers greater
input into the content and timing of IDRs than before—but if
the IDRs are not complied with, the trade-off is that sum-
monses will be issued.                                              q

Caroline Rule, JD, is a partner at Kostelanetz & Fink, LLP,
in New York, N.Y. 
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On June 30, 2015, Connecticut Governor Dannel P.
Malloy signed a controversial budget bill that passed
the Connecticut House and Senate by narrow mar-

gins. The bill received strongly negative reactions from key
Connecticut businesses: General Electric, Aetna, Travelers, and
Boehringer indicated that they would consider reducing their
Connecticut presence or leaving the state if the budget’s pro-
visions were not altered. On the same day, Governor Malloy
also signed an implementer bill, passed during the special
session in June by the Connecticut General Assembly, that
eliminated $178 million of the $1.5 billion in tax increases
included in the original budget. Subsequent legislation amend-
ed further language within the bill.

The following is a summary of some of the key legislative
changes recently enacted and signed into law in Connecticut. New
York CPAs should be aware of significant changes that may impact
clients with activities or a nexus with the state of Connecticut.
IMPOSITION OF STATE CHANGES

The majority of provisions from the bill are retroactively
effective to January 1, 2015, unless specifically noted. The tax
increases contained within the budget and the implementer
include items related to corporation business tax, personal
income tax, sales and use tax, and implementation of a new
gross receipts tax on ambulatory surgical centers.
CORPORATION BUSINESS TAX

Surcharge. The 20% surcharge, which had been set to
expire, has been extended for an additional two years, through
periods beginning prior to January 1, 2018. The surcharge is
imposed on all combined taxpayers subject to tax in excess
of the $250 minimum and on separate company filers with
annual gross income greater than $100 million. The sur-
charge will be reduced to 10% for periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2018, and prior to January 1, 2019. In addi-
tion, the surcharge will apply to combined unitary filers for
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 

Net operating losses. The net operating loss (NOL) carryfor-
ward deduction is reduced to the lesser of 50% of current year
apportioned taxable income or the remaining NOL being carried

forward from prior periods. Combined groups with NOL carry-
forwards in excess of $6 billion from periods beginning prior to
January 1, 2013, can elect to limit their NOL carryforwards to
50%. They can also apply NOLs equal to their net income for
each tax year beginning in 2017 until it has consumed all of their
pre-2015 NOLs, after which the groups will be subject to the
general 50% limitation. Connecticut will continue to employ a
20-year carryforward for NOLs created for periods both before
and after the NOL limitation’s effective date.

Tax credit application. The amount of tax credits that can
be used to offset a taxpayer’s corporation business tax has been
reduced from 70% to 50.01% for periods commencing on or
after January 1, 2015.

Required unitary combination. Currently, 27 states, the
District of Columbia, and New York City impose some form
of unitary income tax filing. Massachusetts, Maine, New
Hampshire, New York, Rhode Island, and Vermont require
some form of unitary income tax reporting; only New Jersey
imposes a separate company filing methodology. Effective for
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, Connecticut
joins the list of states imposing a mandatory “water’s-edge”
combined income tax filing.

While unanswered questions relating to this tax remain, some
of the basic rules are described here. A Connecticut combined
group will include all entities having “common ownership” and
engaged in a “unitary business.” A common ownership group
includes entities more than 50% owned, either directly or indi-
rectly, by a common owner or owners, corporate or noncorpo-
rate, regardless of whether the owners are members of the com-
bined group. A “unitary business” is a business operating as a
single economic enterprise “which is sufficiently interdependent,
integrated, or interrelated through its activities so as to provide
mutual benefit and produce a significant sharing or exchange of
value among such entities or a significant flow of value among
the separate parts” [General Statutes of Connecticut, section
12-213(a)(32)]. This unitary concept closely mirrors the business
combination rules imposed in other jurisdictions, including
Massachusetts and Rhode Island.
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The default filing method will be on a water’s-edge basis
and includes the following:
n Domestic entities with 80% or more of their property and
payroll within the United States, including territories and
possessions (i.e., 80/20 companies)
n Foreign entities with 20% or more of their property and pay-
roll within the United States 
n Any entity earning more than 20% of its gross income from
intangible property or services, the costs of which are deductible
by other group members to the extent of such income
n Any entity organized in a tax haven, as identified by the
Connecticut Department of Revenue Services (DRS).

In addition, a group of corporations can elect to file as an
“affiliated group” or on a worldwide basis. An election to file
other than on a water’s-edge basis is binding on the group
for 10 years subsequent to the initial filing (i.e., the election
is actually for 11 years) and is required to be made on a
timely filed original return. An affiliated group will include
entities as defined under IRC section 1504 and entities orga-
nized within tax havens.

While the potential combination methods are similar to those
of other jurisdictions imposing unitary tax filings, the concept
of capturing income from tax havens is a concept that has only
been employed in a handful of jurisdictions (Arkansas, District
of Columbia, Montana, Oregon, and West Virginia).
PERSONAL INCOME TAX

The budget and corresponding legislation increased the
income tax rates on individuals, estates, and trusts. The
marginal income tax rate was increased from 6.7% to 6.9%
($500,000 for married filing jointly, $400,000 for head of
household, and $250,000 for single filers) and a 6.99% tax
rate bracket was created for high-income earners ($1 million
for married filing jointly, $800,000 for head of household, and
$500,000 for single filers). Tax rates on estates and trusts,
closely aligned with the individual tax rate, increased from
6.7% to 6.99%.

Because these tax rate changes are effective as of
January 1, 2015, flow-through entities that completed
transactions prior to the signing of the legislation (e.g.,
June 30, 2015) and withheld tax based on the then-applica-
ble law could have withheld less than necessary. In addi-
tion, effective January 1, 2016, the property tax credit for
individuals was reduced from $300 to $200, and the phase-
out of such credit was accelerated.
SALES AND USE TAX

Effective October 1, 2015, the budget law expanded the
list of services subject to the computer and data processing tax
to include the creation, development, hosting, and maintenance
of all or part of a website. Early versions of the 2015 budget
bill included provisions that would have raised the sales and
use tax rate on computer and data processing services from
1% to 2% and then from 2% to 3%; however, these provi-

sions were repealed during the June 2015 special legislative
session, and the signed legislation left the tax rate unchanged
at 1%.

Additional sales tax changes effective July 1, 2015, include
the following: 
n Car wash services are now taxable. 
n The luxury sales tax rate increased from 7% to 7.75% for
sales of certain motor vehicles, jewelry, clothing, and footwear. 
n The 1.5% heavy equipment rental surcharge was expanded
to include all equipment owned by a rental company. 
n The exemption for clothing and footwear costing less than $50,
which was scheduled to take effect July 1, 2015, was repealed. 
n A sales tax on parking at state parks was enacted. 

Lastly, effective for tax periods ending on or after December
31, 2015, sales tax return due dates will revert to the end of
the following month, rather than the 20th day of the follow-
ing month. 
OTHER TAXES

Ambulatory surgical center tax. Beginning on or after
October 1, 2015, a new tax is imposed on each ambulatory
surgical center—as defined under 42 CFR 416.2—at a rate
of 6% of the gross receipts for each such center. This
includes an entity “that operates exclusively for the purpose
of providing surgical services to patients not requiring hospi-
talization and in which the expected duration of services would
not exceed 24 hours following an admission.” It also
includes an entity that is licensed by the Department of
Public Health as an outpatient surgical facility, and any other
Medicare-certified surgical center.

The new tax provides specific exclusions. For example, the
ambulatory surgical center tax is not imposed on the first
$1 million of gross receipts. The tax is also not imposed on
any amount of gross receipts constituting net patient revenue
of a hospital already subject to the Connecticut hospital tax.
The legislation also allows an ambulatory surgical center to
seek remuneration for the tax imposed.
FINAL COMMENTS

The Connecticut DRS is working to publish information
relating to the new unitary tax, but it is not clear when it will
become publically available. Also, a number of state com-
mittees and subcommittees are looking at Connecticut’s
overall business tax climate, so additional changes may be
forthcoming. Lastly, even with the significant tax increases
enacted during the past few legislative sessions, Connecticut
has a projected $1.5 billion deficit for its 2017/18 and 2018/19
budget cycles. Based on past legislative actions relating to bud-
get deficits, Connecticut taxpayers should be prepared for
another round of significant tax increases.                       q

Patrick Duffany, JD, CPA, is a partner and the state and
local tax practice leader, Milo Peck is a manager, and Corey
Rosenthal, JD, is a principal, all at CohnReznick LLP. 
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There are many reasons why taxpayers can owe back
state taxes (i.e., sales tax, payroll tax, income tax),
penalties, and interest. These reasons may include mak-

ing bad business decisions, having bad luck, or getting
caught doing something inappropriate. If the taxpayer’s mis-
takes were not a criminal matter, many states have programs
that enable taxpayers to “wipe the slate clean,” regardless of
the reason back taxes are owed. The specifics of these pro-
grams vary based on the state, the type of tax, and the tax-
payer either voluntarily coming forward or being caught by
the state. The four most common programs states offer are 1)
payment plans, 2) voluntary disclosure agreements, 3) amnesty,
and 4) offers in compromise.
THE PAYMENT PLAN

There are several important factors taxpayers should con-
sider before agreeing to a payment plan: First, interest con-
tinues to accrue on the outstanding balance until the liability
is completely relinquished. Second, depending on the state and
the length of the plan, the state may issue a tax lien or war-
rant on the taxpayer, which could affect the taxpayer's ability
to borrow money and therefore stay in business. Finally,
depending on the length of the plan (typically ranging from
12 to 18 months), states can require taxpayers to provide
detailed financial information before a plan is approved—the
longer the plan requested, the more financial data the state will
likely require. In the authors’ experience, the financial infor-
mation requirement can become a contentious issue. In the
case of a business requesting a plan, not only does the state
want to see the company’s financial records; it also wants to
see its owners’ records.
VOLUNTARY DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

A voluntary disclosure agreement (VDA) is an agreement
used in situations where a taxpayer proactively discloses
prior years’ tax liabilities previously not known by the state.
In return for voluntarily coming forward, states will typically

limit the number of back years on which they will assess tax
(typically three to six years). In addition, depending on the
state, all penalties and some amount of interest may also be
abated.

VDAs are generally viewed as a win-win by both states and
taxpayers. States generate revenue from the VDA and, in most
cases, have a new taxpayer on the tax roll. Taxpayers are
typically happy to put an unpleasant situation behind them. 

Most states do not permit a VDA in situations where the
taxpayer has already been identified by the state for audit.
Therefore, it is critical that once the decision is made to
move forward, taxpayers begin the process immediately. Once
the taxpayer receives an audit notice, a VDA may no longer
be available.
AMNESTY

From time to time, states offer amnesty programs to tax-
payers who owe back taxes. While some of the terms of the
amnesty are similar to a VDA, amnesty programs tend to be
more favorable to taxpayers. For example, from September 1,
2015, through October 30, 2015, Maryland is offering an
amnesty program for personal income, fiduciary, pass-through
entity nonresident income, corporate income, employer with-
holding, sales and use, and admissions and amusements
taxes. Taxpayers who failed to file a required return or pay a
tax imposed on or before December 31, 2014, can file an appli-
cation with the Maryland comptroller requesting a waiver of
all civil penalties (except for previously assessed fraud penal-
ties) and one-half of the interest due. During the amnesty peri-
od, a taxpayer cannot be charged with a criminal tax offense
arising out of any return filed and tax paid, provided the tax-
payer does not have any pending criminal charges in the
state courts and is not currently under investigation by the
Office of the Attorney General, the Office of the State
Prosecutor, the Office of the State’s Attorney, or any office
with constitutional authority.
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OFFER IN COMPROMISE
An offer in compromise (OIC) allows qualified taxpayers

owing state taxes to negotiate a settled amount that is less than
the total amount currently due. Typically, states are not obli-
gated to offer or accept a taxpayer’s OIC. Most states require
taxpayers to meet at least one of the following conditions in
order to be considered for an OIC settlement:
n The taxpayer can demonstrate that the past tax liability
may not be correct.
n The taxpayer can show that the liability is likely uncol-
lectable in full under any circumstances.
n The taxpayer does not contest liability or collectibility, but
can demonstrate extenuating circumstances that the collection
of the debt would “create an economic hardship or would be
unfair and inequitable.”

Once the state determines that a taxpayer meets one of
the above requirements, the taxpayer must provide full
financial disclosure of all known assets and liabilities.
Based upon this author’s experience, this is not an easy

process to go through. If the state determines that the tax-
payer had undisclosed assets, the OIC would become null
and void.
NO FREE LUNCH

States look to maximize revenue from audits, not forgive
liabilities. All of the programs described in this article
have potential negative implications for taxpayers—signif-
icant financial disclosures, penalties and interest, and detailed
audits—so it is very important that each program be care-
fully considered based on taxpayers’ specific circumstances.
Taxpayers should consult with their CPA and attorney before
finalizing which, if any, programs make sense because there
are many exceptions to the general rules discussed above
depending on the state, or states, involved and the type of
taxes owed. q

David Seiden, CPA, is a partner based in Citrin Cooperman’s
New York City office, where he leads the firm’s state and local
tax practice.
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Everyone can use estate planning assistance, but not every-
one needs estate tax planning, although the two are usu-
ally—incorrectly—considered together. Once a client’s

individual needs are identified, there are many opportunities for
CPA financial planners to assist with their estate planning. 
WHY USE THE CPA FINANCIAL PLANNER?

CPAs provide tremendous advice, guidance, and coaching.
CPAs are their clients’ closest, and certainly most trusted, advi-
sors. Even the smallest tax client interacts with their CPA at least
once per year. A financial planner’s involvement with estate plan-
ning can not only benefit clients, it is an excellent way to grow
a practice and increase revenue from existing clients.

Sharing knowledge does not always generate a fee, although
CPAs should charge clients who have more serious concerns.
It is appropriate for CPA financial planners to offer sugges-
tions as part of other engagements, such as a tax return inter-
view. For instance, ask whether a client has a will; if not,
discuss the importance of getting one. If a client has young
children, inquire if there has been provision for a guardian and
fixed periodic payments to that guardian; or whether there is
adequate life insurance to provide liquidity to the surviving
spouse or fund trusts to distribute payments to the guardian. 

Short conversations can provide great information or a need-
ed push for clients to move forward. A call from a CPA after
tax season could generate a paid consultation or strengthen the
bond with clients through one’s expertise in areas other than
tax preparation. It can also lead to meeting a client’s spouse
or other relatives. Both authors have had client discussions that
led to substantial engagements with the client’s parents, who
had sizeable assets and estate tax issues. A CPA’s involve-
ment can also lead to meeting with clients’ attorneys, who
are essential to the process and can broaden a CPA’s profes-
sional base of referral sources. 
PURPOSES OF ESTATE PLANNING

The planning process calls for a person to arrange his affairs
in an orderly, concerted manner that provides for the finan-
cial security and comfort of themselves and their spouse for
the balance of both their lives, while retaining control and
enjoyment over their assets until death, at which time any

remaining assets will be distributed in accordance with their
wishes. Estate planning is not solely a plan for a family after
a death. 

Part of estate planning is to estimate federal and state
estate taxes and determine how they will be paid, as well as
to find ways to minimize unnecessary expenses and delays of
probate and asset administration. In situations where there is
a chance that more than one state might make a claim of res-
idency, CPA financial planners can suggest ways to make it
clear in which state the client resides.

The following are 10 nontax estate planning ways CPA
financial planners can help clients:

Executing a will. When someone who does not have a
will dies, her affairs will be settled according to legislative and
bureaucratic norms, which are usually never fully the way
the deceased would have wanted. A will also permits the
appointment of people (i.e., executors and trustees) to settle
the deceased’s affairs and decides whether they will be com-
pensated or need to obtain surety bonds. CPA financial plan-
ners can review a client’s assets and illustrate how they
would be distributed with and without a will, and suggest ways
that executors and trustees interact with beneficiaries.

Plan bequests. Specific bequests, and bequests with “strings
attached,” can only be made with proper planning. This
includes provisions that keep family assets in the family’s
bloodline, making charitable bequests, providing for delayed
distributions to beneficiaries, classifying beneficiaries, and pro-
tecting assets from divorced spouses. Clients owning family-
run businesses, both those with and without children working
in the business, would need guidance on how to ensure the
continuance and control of the business along with an equi-
table distribution of the wealth represented by that asset. These
can all be done through a will, through a trust, or by the way
assets are owned and beneficiaries designated. CPAs can
review the many ways this can be accomplished and direct the
advice to the client’s specific circumstances.

Minimize probate. Probate can be minimized by carefully
titling of assets. Probate is the process of settling an estate by
proving the will, qualifying the executors, administering the
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estate, resolving all claims, accumulating and liquefying assets,
filing all tax returns, paying taxes, and making distributions
to beneficiaries. Experienced CPA financial planners can show
how costs can be minimized while transfers are expedited with
a minimum of complications. 

Choosing a guardian. Choosing a guardian can be easily
done in a will—or with much difficulty, confusion, and cost
in a surrogates court when there is no will. Choosing a guardian
is necessary in the event of the untimely death of both par-
ents of a minor child or children. CPAs can suggest the
methods and process of selecting a guardian.

Payments to guardians. A will or trust can include provi-
sions for an allowance or regular stipend to be paid to the
guardian, and a will or trust can also provide funding for addi-
tions or changes to the guardian’s home if needed for the appro-
priate care of the children. Without a will, needless costs will
mount up each time a guardian needs additional amounts for
the care of the children. CPAs can review budgets and run
models of the amounts that would be needed.

Estate liquidity. Estate liquidity can be arranged for in an
estate plan. This covers making funds available to heirs soon
after death, providing for the management and operation of busi-
nesses or real estate, providing funds to a guardian, or indicat-
ing a need for life insurance and payment of premiums. For
business owners, CPA financial planners can suggest a contin-
gency plan for the operation and sale of any businesses or
other non-liquid assets. Part of this process would be to discuss
the applicability of trusts and arrange for their creation and fund-
ing, as well as also to determine the scope, if any, of liabilities
the estate would have (e.g., notes signed and guaranteed, pre-
vious divorce settlements, prenuptial agreements, support com-
mitments for children born out of wedlock or after death, buy-sell
arrangements, outstanding tax audits and liabilities).

Nonprobate assets. Planning enables the synchronization of
nonprobate assets—such as IRAs, 401(k) and 403(b) accounts,
pension plans, annuities, life insurance, and jointly owned
accounts or houses—with individually owned assets. It is impor-
tant to understand that many assets are not distributed or cov-
ered by a will and care needs to be taken to consider the complete
distribution of all of a deceased’s assets in accordance with
their desires. In some instances, there can be a substantial dis-
connection between how the assets are titled and what a client
wants. CPA financial planners will assist in gathering the data
and can map out the distribution patterns, as well as any poten-
tial income and estate taxes. Planning is particularly important
if a client is contemplating acquiring significant life insurance;
for example, how the policy will be owned and possible gift tax
consequences that must be considered. 

Proper documents. A plan enables the preparation of health-
care proxies, living wills, powers of attorney, and provisions
for care when one is incapacitated or disabled. In many
instances, determining who “pulls the plug” is much more

important to individuals than who gets their money. These
documents are essential for a carefree life. 

A letter stating values. This is an appropriate time to pre-
pare a letter providing pertinent information that a client would
want their family to have regarding their affairs, background,
ethical, moral or religious values and any other sage advice a
client wants to leave behind.

Organizing affairs. Planning forces the organization of infor-
mation and the client’s affairs. One final word of advice CPAs
can give clients is to leave a list of their passwords in a safe,
designated place so their family will be able to access their
email, computer, and cell phone accounts.
BE PREPARED

Nothing beats being prepared, and estate planning is essen-
tial, even when there is no taxable estate. CPA financial
planners can be an effective advisor to assist clients in all
aspects of their estate planning process.                        q

Sidney Kess, JD, LLM, CPA, is of counsel to Kostelanetz &
Fink. He is a member of the NYSSCPA Hall of Fame and
was awarded the Society’s Educator of the Year Award in May
2015. He is also a member of The CPA Journal Editorial
Board. Edward Mendlowitz, CPA/PFS, ABV, is partner at
WithumSmith+Brown, PC. He is also the author of a twice-
weekly blog posted at www.partners-network.com.
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Estate planning for real estate developers is in many
ways similar to planning for any taxpayer, but CPAs
should be aware of many planning nuances, some of

which this article will explore.
REFINANCING

The ability to refinance a property and distribute the pro-
ceeds (typically out of the entity that owns the property) to the
developer, for personal use or to reinvest in new deals, is a
common client objective, and a vital component of the plan-
ning. Decisions as to the entities to be used, distribution pro-
visions and mechanisms in trusts to which real estate entities
are transferred, and so forth should all facilitate this.
INSURANCE

Real estate cycles can have a significant and variable
impact on the value and liquidity of properties. This is impor-
tant in assessing the availability of cash when paying estate
taxes, when funding working capital during a disability, or
following the death of the developer. Real estate cycles need
to be factored into insurance planning, because, depending
upon the circumstances, the ability to liquidate assets to raise
cash may be highly variable. Many real estate investors have
inadequate cash reserves (because cash is often viewed as
the deposit on the next deal), so “first-to-die” life insur-
ance coverage (e.g., coverage on the wife or on the husband
individually) may make more sense than survivorship cov-
erage (which pays when the last spouse dies and an estate
tax might be due since the unlimited marital deduction will
no longer shelter the estate). 

It is helpful to consider—and, if feasible, to project—the impact
of the estate plan and role of insurance. A “traditional” estate plan
might fund a bypass trust and bequeath the remainder over the
exemption amount (currently $5.43 million, assuming no state
estate tax) to a marital qualified terminable interest property (QTIP)
trust. New York’s exemption is lower, but is rising yearly
towards the federal amount. If the surviving spouse lives for
many years after the death of the first spouse, however, the
appreciation in that QTIP will be included in the survivor’s
estate. Some advisors suggest not funding a bypass trust, so that
a second step-up in basis will be realized upon the surviving

spouse’s death, but one should first evaluate how the different
options will impact potential estate tax. 
TRUSTEES

CPAs should be certain of who will be named trustee of
any non-grantor trust created for a real estate client, as this
could be critical to the trust being deemed to materially par-
ticipate for purposes of the passive loss rules under IRC sec-
tion 469, and the 3.8% surtax under IRC section 1411
[Frank Aragona Trust v. Comm’r., 142 T.C. No. 9 (March 27,
2014)]. It may be possible to create a directed trust naming
one person as a general trustee, and an active developer to
serve as investment trustee, in order to have the latter serve
as the litmus test for participation.  
ENTITIES

Real estate should always be held by an entity to minimize
the liability exposure to the developer. A separate entity should
almost always be used for each parcel of real estate; if mul-
tiple properties are held in one entity, a suit or problem with
one property could taint all of the others. Even if separate enti-
ties are used, if the client cross-collateralizes borrowing (e.g.,
several properties or entity interests are pledged as collateral
for a loan, perhaps to secure more favorable terms), the ben-
efit of separate entities could be undermined. 

A C corporation should very rarely be the entity format used
for real estate. An S corporation is also not an optimal for-
mat: Equity holders are limited to 100 shareholders, which can
prove limiting for larger developments, and S corporations
have limitations on who can be a shareholder. A non-resident
alien, C corporation, S corporation (unless a qualified subchap-
ter S subsidiary structure is used), and a subchapter K entity (such
as a general partnership) cannot be a shareholder. S corporations
also cannot have more than one class of stock. This can be a
problem if a developer needs to structure a cash infusion,
among other instances. For example, if the anchor tenant
renting 40% of a shopping center’s square footage vacates
the building, the developer may require a significant cash infu-
sion to cover the cost of the improvements necessary to rebuild
and release the space. An outside investor may be willing to
invest the required funds, but will likely want both a priority

C O L U M N S
e s t a t e  &  r e t i r e m e n t  p l a n n i n g

Estate Planning for Real Estate Developers
By Martin M. Shenkman



return on capital and return of capital. Such a second class of
stock would be impressible under an S corporation structure. 

Basis is a major issue for using S corporations. A share-
holder obtains basis for capital contributions and loans the
shareholder makes to the S corporation. Unlike a partner
partnership (or LLC taxed as a partnership), the S sharehold-
er’s basis is not increased for loans from third parties (e.g., a
bank or insurance company lender). 

When an individual dies with an interest in an S corpora-
tion, the estate will get a step-up in basis to the fair value in
the stock; but unlike in a partnership, the inside basis in the
real estate asset remains unchanged. If the S corporation sells
assets inside the S corporation, gain will be recognized in the
S corporation regardless of the basis in the stock. Contrast this
with a partnership, in which a IRC section 754 basis adjust-
ment permits the interest’s heir to step-up the basis of the asset
inside the partnership: if the property is sold thereafter, there
is no gain for that partner.

Limited liability entities. The entity of choice for new acqui-
sitions and developments is often a limited liability company
(LLC). It may even be feasible to form an LLC to own improve-
ments while retaining the property (fee) in an older and less favor-
able entity that cannot be changed. Consideration should be given
to the state in which the LLC is formed, because it is advanta-
geous to form an entity in a jurisdiction that has favorable LLC
creditor protection provisions (e.g., Delaware). The state where
an LLC is formed should provide that a creditor can only get a
charging order in the event of a suit. 

Another consideration to the choice of the state where the LLC
is formed is the use of a self-settled domestic asset protection
trust (DAPT). If an individual creates a DAPT trust in a juris-
diction other than his home state, any other entities should be
formed in that state to reinforce the nexus to that jurisdiction. 

As an example, consider a developer who resides in and
purchases property in New York. As part of an estate and asset
protection plan, the developer creates a DAPT in South Dakota
and transfers interests in various property entities to that trust.
If the developer wants to acquire new property, he should con-
sider forming a new LLC to hold the new venture in South
Dakota, where his DAPT is located. If interests in the new
LLC are transferred to the DAPT, the fact that the LLC was
formed in South Dakota may reinforce trust’s connection to
South Dakota. If the new LLC will own real estate in New
Jersey, it will have to be licensed to conduct business in New
Jersey because it was formed in a different state. It may also
be advantageous to create another LLC in that same jurisdic-
tion through which the various roles of persons involved in a
trust are maintained. For example, the trust protector, invest-
ment trustee, and other functions may be named in the trust
instrument to be handled by a special purpose entity LLC. The
people will be named individually to be managers of the
LLC instead of named directly in the trust instrument.

There is another application of LLCs for real estate owners.
Many real estate investors leave cash in property entities for
improvements and other work on a property, and this cash is
exposed to creditors. A simple, practical alternative for real
estate developers is to create a family investment LLC that
solely owns cash and marketable securities. The LLC can be
funded by distributing cash out of property entities and
recontributing that cash to the family financial LLC. This may
insulate the liquid assets from the risk associated with devel-
opment or other properties. This LLC could be the source of

a Graegin loan to pay estate taxes after the client’s demise.
(A Graegin is a loan by a family entity or trust to the dece-
dent’s estate to fund the payment of estate tax in an estate with
liquidity issues.) If properly done, the aggregate interest the
estate will pay to the deceased’s family LLC over the life of
the loan may be deducted as an administrative expense on
the estate tax return, thereby reducing the estate tax it is used
to pay.
DISCOUNTS

Discounts often drive much of the estate planning for real
estate assets. According to some commentators, discounts
of somewhat less than 40% in aggregate are a reasonable
approximation for many real estate entities. This is based
on approximately a 20% lack of control, and a subsequent
20% discount for lack of marketability. The Treasury
Department has stated that it will issue new regulations under
IRC Chapter 14 that will restrict or eliminate some or all dis-
counts. As of this writing, the exact issuance date and pro-
visions are uncertain. If the regulations do not affect real
estate, then planning transfers of minority interests in real
estate entities valued with discounts to grantor retained annu-
ity trusts (GRAT) and via gift or sale to intentionally defec-
tive grantor trusts (IDGT) will continue to be the common
estate transfer techniques. If the regulations restrict discounts,
then CPAs will have to reexamine the anticipated benefits
of these traditional techniques. 
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BUYOUT ARRANGEMENTS

Real estate entities with multiple owners should evaluate the
benefits of buyout agreements to disentangle equity owners
who do not get along. The value of the underlying property
could be impaired by conflict in decision making. A certifi-
cate of stated value—set by an agreement of the equity own-
ers in advance of any buyout—is common in many businesses. 

An appraisal method is also common. The partner seeking to
be bought out may hire an appraiser; if the buying partner does
not agree, he can hire another appraiser. If the appraisers’ values
are within 10%, the difference can usually be split; if they are
not in close agreement, the two appraisers can hire a third apprais-

er. This kind of approach represents additional cost. In some
instances, an approach called “Russian roulette” might be more
advantageous: In this approach, one partner (A) sets the price, but
she does not know if she will buy or sell at that price. Partner B
can then choose to either buy from A at that price, or sell to A
at that price. Payouts can be structured over time if necessary.
CAPITAL GAIN VERSUS ORDINARY INCOME

If a developer converts low-basis property to a condomini-
um, or subdivides and improves raw land, it could convert
the property owner into a dealer for income tax purposes, there-
by transforming a capital gain into ordinary income. Planning
to minimize this impact might include transferring the prop-
erty to an entity and appraising the fair value at that point in
time [Bramblett v. Comm’r., 960 F.2d 526 (5th Cir. 1992)].
The planning should be coordinated with the estate planning
under consideration. If the property will increase substantial-
ly in value after subdivision or renovation, consider transfer-
ring the property to an irrevocable grantor trust, using a GRAT,
or employing another freeze technique before that process is
undertaken. 

TAX ON SALE OF PROPERTY

If property is sold, consider the impact of recapture, and the
3.8% net investment income tax (NIIT; IRC section 1411). CPAs
should make certain the client understands that the proceeds may
be wholly or partly held in irrevocable trusts created as part of
the estate plan. While an individual may be willing to incur the
income tax on the portion of rental income held in these trusts,
he may not realize the magnitude of the impact on cash flow
when a substantial portion of the sales proceeds are paid to a
trust while the individual bears the tax burden. In advance of any
property sale, CPAs should review whether a client’s grantor
trusts have tax reimbursement clauses, and, if not, whether they
can be decanted into trusts that include such clauses. Without
this step, a client will have to bear the income tax cost on the
sales income realized in the trust without any contribution from
the trust towards that cost.

Some real estate developers might presume that IRC section
1031 exchanges will be available to defer any such gain; how-
ever, there is a risk that this benefit might be modified or repealed.
For example, the Obama administration has proposed repealing
the benefit of tax deferral for capital gains in excess of $1 mil-
lion. Other proposals have called for complete repeal.
IRC SECTION 6166

Often, real estate developers have liquidity issues that can
interfere with the ability to pay estate taxes. Using the estate
tax deferral provisions of IRC section 6166 may be an ideal
approach to stretch out the tax payments for 14 years. This
deferral might allow the developer’s heirs to retain the real
estate investments. 

When trying to plan for deferral, a number of questions
should be reviewed and answered:
n Can cash held in various entities be demonstrated to be
reasonable working capital so that it can be included in the
deferred amount? What can be done to corroborate the rea-
sonableness of such reserves (e.g., a business plan)?
n Will the real estate constitute an active trade or business,
and, if so, what must be done?
n Will a potential IRS lien for the tax deferred interfere with
financing by the decedent’s lenders? [See IRC section 6324(a).]
n Will gifts and other inter vivos transfers taint qualification
for IRC section 6166 by pushing the estate below the
required percentage interests to qualify?
n Can, or should, swap powers be exercised to bring sufficient
business assets back into the developer’s estate in order to meet
the various percentage tests to qualify for IRC section 6166?

These are just some of the unique nuances created by the
nature of real estate assets and businesses that estate tax plan-
ners must take into consideration for such clients. q

Martin M. Shenkman, JD, CPA/PFS, AEP, is an attorney
at Shenkman Law in Fort Lee, N.J. His newsletter is available
from http://www.shenkmanlaw.com.
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The Taxpayer Advocate Service (TAS) is an indepen-
dent voice within the IRS to advocate for taxpayers
and help resolve individual and business tax prob-

lems, as well as address system-wide issues. Its website at
http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov has a user-friendly
approach in the delivery and content of available resources.
The TAS is a great resource for tax professionals and tax-
payers, and CPAs will find many useful tools on this website
to aid in their tax compliance practices. 

The National Taxpayer Advocate, Nina Olson, has referred
to the most recent tax season as one of the worst filing sea-
sons ever. In a July 21, 2015, interview on Federal News Radio
(http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/news/nina-olson-
reviewing-one-of-the-worst-tax-filing-seasons-ever-federal-
news-radio), she discussed the negative effect of budget cuts
and the increased workload from Affordable Care Act
(ACA) compliance and Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
(FATCA) reporting on the IRS’s customer service. 

Additionally, readers can download the full 120-page
National Taxpayer Advocate Objectives Report to Congress
for Fiscal Year 2016, or review selected focus areas, 
such as identity theft, return preparer fraud, IRS levies on retire-
ment plan assets, and review of the 2015 filing season
(http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/reports/fy-2016-
objectives-report-to-congress).
TAX PROFESSIONAL RESOURCES

The “For Tax Pros” main page is a great place for CPAs
to access TAS materials targeted to accounting professionals.
The guidance and tools area highlights information on
obtaining a preparer tax identification number (PTIN), links
to the main IRS site for continuing education and e-services,
and features TAS-created ACA resources. CPAs might also
be interested in resources for taxpayers, such as the article “5
Tips for Choosing a Tax Return Preparer,” which includes
links for contact information on state boards of accountancy
to check on the status of a tax preparer’s license.

Tax professionals can report tax issues that have affected mul-
tiple clients to the TAS via the Systemic Advocacy Management
System (SAMS). The types of issues that qualify for SAMS are
those involving IRS systems, policies, and procedures, as well
as protecting taxpayer rights and ensuring fair treatment. 

For CPAs who encounter lower-income individuals in
need of help in contesting disputes with the IRS, settling com-
pliance obligations, or avoiding falling prey to unscrupulous
return preparers, the TAS website offers background infor-
mation on low income taxpayer clinics (LITC), links to
locate them, and a downloadable version of the most recent
annual report published by the TAS. The December 2014 LITC
report includes the summary program statistics presented on
the website, as well as the mission and history of the clinics.
In 2013, the LITC case breakdown included 45% on collec-
tion issues, 17% on examinations (audits), and 16% on
accounts management problems, such as problems in return
processing and delays in receiving refunds (http://www.
taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/about/litc). 

Many tax professionals are aware that the IRS sponsors
annual tax education conferences, called “tax forums,” during
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the summer and early fall months. At the 2015 session, the
TAS presented seminars on advocating for clients in matters
of injured and innocent spouse relief, offers in compromise
for victims of payroll service provider failures, and collection
due process hearings. The TAS also runs a case resolution pro-
gram at the annual forums, allowing tax professionals to
meet with IRS specialists on an appointment basis on behalf
of one client. CPAs should bring a Form 2848 power of
attorney and a case resolution data sheet, available on the TAS
website (http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/news/2015-tax-
forums-tas-seminars-and-case-resolution). Archived forum ses-
sions are also available (http://irstaxforumsonline.com). 
ACA COMPLIANCE

The TAS offers some great resources and several tools to
help tax preparers assist their clients with ACA compliance.
These resources are independent of the IRS and healthcare
exchanges, so CPAs and taxpayers can explore them without
concern for privacy. Nina Olson reported that 300,000 tax-
payers overpaid shared responsibility payments, emphasizing
the importance of having a full understanding of the law’s pro-
visions. The ACA main page provides brief summary infor-
mation on provisions for individuals, including the individu-
al shared responsibility payment and premium tax credit,
with links to handy single-page PDF fact sheets. For employ-
ers, the TAS provides a similar brief explanation of the
small-business healthcare tax credit, with an easy-to-read fact
sheet detailing eligibility and credit rates (http://www.
taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/get-help/aca). 

Three ACA estimators are available from the TAS: an
individual shared responsibility provision payment estimator,
a premium tax credit change estimator, and a small-business
healthcare tax credit estimator. The shared responsibility cal-
culator (http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/estimator/isrp/.)
estimates amounts that taxpayers who did not have minimum
essential coverage may owe. The premium tax credit change
estimator (http://taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/estimator/premium-
taxcreditchange/) calculates new values for advance payment
and credit eligibility amounts due to changes in income and
other circumstances.

The small business tax credit tool (http://www.taxpayer
advocate.irs.gov/estimator/smallbusiness2014/) uses detailed
information on number of employees, wages, and insurance
cost to calculate an employer’s eligibility for the credit.

For each calculator, background information, instructions,
and two examples are provided. The web pages also include user-
friendly glossaries of key terms and explanations, along with
links to IRS and Healthcare.gov resources. The TAS estimators
do not report changes to the Marketplace, allowing tax prepar-
ers and their clients to determine the best course of action.

The TAS website offers links to three archived summer
2015 IRS webinars on the ACA’s provisions concerning employ-
er and insurance coverage providers. These 45-minute videos

(http://www.taxpayeradvocate.irs.gov/news/health-care-law-tax-
provisions-irs-webinars-for-employers-and-coverage-providers-
now-available) address information reporting requirements.  q 

Susan B. Anders, PhD, CPA/CGMA, is the Louis J. and
Ramona Rodriguez Distinguished Professor of Accounting at
Midwestern State University, Wichita Falls, Tex. She is a mem-
ber of The CPA Journal Editorial Board.
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U .S. Tax Brackets is a free Android mobile application
that runs on smartphones and tablets and allows
users to calculate tax rates, total tax liability, and

average tax rate for federal and state income taxes. For
each calculation, users can select from years 2011 through
2015, filing status for individuals or C corporation, state
(optional), and the amount of federal and state income sub-
ject to tax. The results are presented in bar charts, pie
charts, and graphs. Unlike many tax calculators, it includes

corporate federal rate schedules, although unfortunately it
does not offer state tax rates for corporations. The best fea-
ture, however, is the combined federal and state tax rate
schedule for individuals, which could be used simply as a
fast reference tool. The app (https://play .google.com/ store/
apps/ details?id=com.irscalculators .taxbrackets &hl= en) is
available at the Google Play store. 

APP TALK: U.S. TAX BRACKETS



Classifieds

66 OCTOBER 2015 / THE CPA JOURNAL

CPA Journal
l LEGAL SERVICES l PEER REVIEW SERVICES l POSITION AVAILABLE l PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT EXPERT
l PROFESSIONAL OPPORTUNITIES l SITUATION WANTED l SPACE FOR RENT/REAL ESTATE l TAX CONSULTANCY

PROFESSIONAL OPPORTUNITIES Westchester CPA firm seeks to acquire accounts
and/or practice. Retirement minded, sole practi-
tioners, and small firms welcome. High retention
and client satisfaction rates. Please call Larry
Honigman at (914) 762-0230, or e-mail
Larry@dhcpas.biz.

Nassau County New York, CPA practice 
welcomes discussions regarding merger. Will
consider CPA with expertise in taxation and sub-
stantial time available. lynbrookcpas@gmail.com.

NASSAU COUNTY / NEW YORK CITY
CPA FIRM

Established firm with offices in NYC and Long
Island, which has successfully completed transac-
tions in the past, seeks to acquire or merge with
either a young CPA with some practice of his own
or a retirement-minded practitioner and/or firm.
Call partner at 516.328.3800 or 212.576.1829.
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TAX CONSULTANCY

INNOVATIVE STRATEGIES
for sales and use tax compliance, audits, 

refunds, appeals, and bankruptcy.
Extensive multistate experience.

Jeffrey J. Coren, CPA
212-594-6970

JCorenCPA@gmail.com

Buffalo, NY peer reviewed CPA firm is seeking
candidates for merger or acquisition for our
growing diverse practice. Inquires welcomed
from sole practitioners, multiple partner firms
and young CPAs with partnership potential.
Mail contact information to Buffalo CPA Firm,
P.O. Box 86, Buffalo, NY 14240-0086. 

Mid-town NYC firm, est. 1958, $5,000,000+
gross, seeks association with CPA, with
$400,000 - $800,000 in billings who is 
contemplating transitioning and retiring in 
the near future. Please reply in confidence to:
PGCPAFIRM@gmail.com

Established Great Neck CPA firm, peer reviewed,
seeks acquisition. We have successfully completed
acquisitions with high client retention and satisfac-
tion. References available. info@bgccpany.com.

Bethpage CPA firm has an office space available
for a sole practitioner interested in maintaining
their practice while affiliating with a several
member firm for support and cost control. 
Reply to: Cpa.recruit@aol.com
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PEER REVIEW SERVICES

Peer Review
We author it, we teach it, but most importantly, we
help you learn about practical peer review issues.

We are the only currently approved
(by the AICPA) trainer of peer review 

within New York State

If you need help, call us first.

Nowicki and Company, LLP
716-681-6367

ray@nowickico.com

PEER REVIEWS
Kurcias, Jaffe & Company LLP

Providing Peer Reviews for
small and mid-sized firms.

Available for Consulting, Pre-Issuance
Reviews and Monitoring.

(516) 482-7777
emendelsohn@kjandco.com

ijaffe@kjandco.com
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SPACE FOR RENT/REAL ESTATE

AAA PROFESSIONAL OFFICES FOR RENT.
NASSAU COUNTY. 1-, 2-, 3-room suites 
facing Hempstead Tpke. FREE UTILITIES.
FREE FRONT PARKING.     516-735-6681.

OFFICE SPACE AVAILABLE 
THROUGHOUT MANHATTAN
300 square feet to 15,000 square feet.
Elliot Forest, Licensed Real Estate Broker,
212-447-5400.

For Rent: 3 Forest Hills offices in attorney suite,
approx 110 ft² each. Indoor parking/utilities/wifi.
Shared reception and conference rooms. Close to
71st Ave subway/LIRR. Call (718)344-7866.

OFFICE BUILDING AVAILABLE- 
CORNER PROPERTY, FOREST AVE., 
STATEN ISLAND, NY

FULL RECEPTION AREA, MINI KITCHEN,
SERVER ROOM, 2 BATHROOMS, 
3 PARKING SPACES,
NEAR TRANSPORTATION, CALL, 718-234-0190

PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT EXPERT

ROBERT S. ASHER, ESQ.
Former Director Professional Discipline, 25 yrs
experience, Licensure, Discipline & Restoration
of License. Transfer of Practice, OPD, AICPA &
NYSSCPA proceedings, Professional Business
Practice, Fed Education & Labor Dept referrals
Available in Scarsdale & NYC. 
(914) 723-0799   (212) 697-2950
theashers@hotmail.com
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Ad Index & Website Connections

Ad Index & FAXFORMATION Service.
Here’s the quickest and easiest way to receive information from the advertisers in this issue of The CPA Journal. Simply

circle the name of the company/product you are interested in and fax this page or a copy to us at: 
FAX # 800-605-4392.

AD INDEX                                        Page#             INTERNET ADDRESS
                                                                                  Find our advertisers on the Web.

cpajournalclassifieds

For more information, or to secure your ad space,
contact: Karyn Kessler - 410.316.9852
kkessler@networkmediapartners.com

SITUATIONS WANTED

New York City Metro
Technical

Accounting/Auditing Pro
seeks issues-oriented and

financial statements 
completion-type work, such as
draft footnotes and statement
format, on a project or other

basis at a reasonable 
professional rate for CPAs in

need of this type of temporary
help. Also available for audit,

reviews or compilations 
workpaper or report review.
Can serve in SOX/PCAOB
concurring partner review
function or independent 

monitoring function under new
Engagement Quality Review

(EQR) in years between
smaller firm AICPA Peer

Reviews. Call 516-448-3110. 

A peer reviewed CPA firm, Midtown, seeking a
Retirement minded practitioner. Windowed office
in a CPA suite, totally equipped with a support
staff for a transitional period of up to three years.
Contact: ptesoriero@aol.com

Sole proprietor CPA in NY City seeking a strategic
alliance with another sole proprietor CPA firm to
increase the value of the business by co-running
the practice. mukesh@msaccountingoffice.com.

LEGAL SERVICES

NEED TO INCORPORATE?
Complete Incorporation Package Includes:

Preparation–State Filing Fees–
Corporate Kit via UPS

Registered Agent Services Available
NEED TO DISSOLVE or REINSTATE or

AMEND?
Qualified Staff to Help Accomplish

Your Corporate or LLC Goals!
All 50 States. Simply Call.

INTERSTATE DOCUMENT FILINGS INC.
Toll Free 800-842-9990
margenjid@yahoo.com

Guardian Life Insurance C2 www.NextGenWholeLife.com/CPAJournal
The Herbert H. Landy Insurance Agency, Inc. 21 www.landy.com
Acumatica 23 www.acumatica.com/control
Avalara 27 www.avalara.com/ny
CAMICO 35 www.camico.com
Accounting Practice Sales 45 www.AccountingPracticeSales.com
New York Life Insurance Company C3 www.NYLAdvisors.com
Thomson Reuters Checkpoint C4 www.Tax.ThomsonReuters.com/Quickfinder

POSITIONS AVAILABLE
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   Selected Interest Rates                             8/31/15                        7/31/15

   Fed Funds Rate                                           0.08%                          0.08%
   3-Month Libor                                              0.33%                          0.30%
   Prime Rate                                                   3.25%                          3.25%
   15-Year Mortgage                                        3.25%                          3.17%
   30-Year Mortgage                                        4.10%                          3.98%
   1-Year ARM                                                  2.39%                          2.52%
   3-Month Treasury Bill                                 0.08%                          0.08%
   3-Year Treasury Note                                  1.07%                          1.00%
   30-Year Treasury Bond                               2.95%                          2.92%
   10-Year Inflation Indexed Treas.                0.58%                          0.46%

E C O N O M I C &  M A R K E T D A T A

m o n t h l y  u p d a t e

The information herein was obtained from various sources believed to be accurate; however, Forté Capital does not guarantee its accuracy or completeness. This report was prepared for
general information purposes only. Neither the information nor any opinion expressed constitutes an offer to buy or sell any securities, options, or futures contracts. Forté Capital’s
Proprietary Market Risk Barometer is a summary of 30 indicators and is copyrighted by Forté Capital LLC. For further information, visit www.fortecaptial.com, send a message to
info@forte-capital.com, or call 866-586-8100. 

Forté Capital’s Selected Statistics

   U.S. Equity Indexes                                   8/31/15                     YTD Return

   S & P 500                                                  1,972                       --4.20%

   Dow Jones Industrials                           16,528                       --7.27%

   NASDAQ Composite                                 4,777                          0.90%

   NYSE Composite                                     10,177                       --6.10%

   Dow Jones Total Stock Market             20,602                       --3.80%

   Dow Jones Transports                             7,845                     --14.20%

   Dow Jones Utilities                                      562                       --9.10%

Forté Capital's Proprietary                  Bullish         Neutral    Bearish

Market Risk Barometer 10    9    8    7 6    5    4 3    2    1

Market Valuation
Monetary Environment 
Investor Psychology
Internal Market Technicals

Overall Short-Term Outlook             7.13
Overall Long-Term Outlook             6.16
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      Equity Market Statistics                                   8/31/15                     7/31/15

Dow Jones Industrials

     Dividend Yield                                                          2.67%                         2.51%
     Price-to-Earnings Ratio (12-Mth Trailing)           15.01                          15.42
     Price-to-Book Value                                               2.88                              3.08

S&P 500 Index

     Earnings Yield                                                          5.49%                         5.15%
     Dividend Yield                                                           2.27%                         2.15%
     Price/Earnings (12-Mth Trailing as Rpt)              18.21                          19.41
     Price/Earnings (Estimated 2014 EPS)                 17.75                          18.80

Commentary on Significant Economic Data This Month

Industrial production fell 0.4% in August following an upwardly revised 0.9% increase in July. A big drop in motor vehicle production of −6.4% drove
the manufacturing production down; however, the drop was somewhat misleading as auto manufacturers either skipped or shortened their usual summer
shutdowns in July. Excluding the auto sector, manufacturing output was unchanged. Overall, signs of improvement in the industrial sector remain elusive,
with mining shrinking in the face of a downturn in oil drilling. For now, it will be up to consumers to propel the economy, as retail sales figures for the
month of August suggest that stronger spending growth from the second quarter is being maintained.

                                                                                          Most          Prior 

   Key Economic Statistics                                          Recent      Month

National

   Producer Price Index (monthly chg)                         0.00%            0.20%

   Consumer Price Index (monthly chg)                    --0.10%            0.10%

   Unemployment Rate                                                   5.10%            5.30%

   ISM Manufacturing Index                                         51.10              52.70

   ISM Services Index                                                   59.00              60.30

   Change in Non-Farm Payroll Emp. 173,000 215,000  

New York State

   Consumer Price Index - NY, NJ, CT (monthly)     --0.20%         --0.10%

   Unemployment Rate                                                   5.20%            5.40%

   NYS Index of Coincident indicators (annual)            5.90%            6.60%

As of 8/31/15

Chart of the Month

Industrial Production

Source: Federal Reserve
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In a June 2013 speech, Hans Hoogervorst,
chairman of the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), stated, “For

many companies, the size of their annual
report is ballooning. The amount of useful
information contained within those disclo-
sures has not necessarily been increasing at
the same rate. The risk is that annual reports
become simply compliance documents, rather
than instruments of communication.” This
article summarizes the steps the board is
taking to address this situation. 

Background 
In January 2013, the board held a discus-

sion forum, “Disclosures in Financial
Reporting,” and conducted a related survey.
A feedback statement was published in May
2013, and the disclosure initiative, a portfo-
lio of projects including both implementa-
tion and research, was formally established. 

Implementation projects include the fol-
lowing: 
n Narrowly focused amendments to
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1
(amendments to IAS 1 were published in
December 2014) and 
n Narrowly focused amendments to IAS 7
(proposed amendments to IAS 7 were also
published in December 2014).

Research projects include the following: 
n Principles of disclosure, including a
review of IAS 1, IAS 7, and IAS 8; 
n Materiality; and 
n A more general review of disclosure
requirements in existing standards.

Actionable Steps
Together, these projects provide the mech-

anism through which the actions below are
being implemented.

Action 1. The IASB clarified in IAS 1 that
the materiality principle not only means that
material items should be included; it is also
preferable to exclude immaterial disclo-
sures. Too much detail can make material
information more difficult to understand. 

Action 2. The IASB has also clarified that
a materiality assessment applies to the whole
of the financial statements, including the

notes. There is a widely held view that items
specified in IFRS that are not included as a
line item on the face of the primary finan-
cial statements need to be disclosed in the
notes. If an item is not material, however,
it does not need to be disclosed anywhere
at all.

Action 3. The board has further clarified
that if a standard is relevant to the entity’s
financial statements, it does not necessarily
follow that every disclosure requirement will
provide material information. A particular
requirement might not be relevant enough to
justify a separate disclosure. 

Action 4. The IASB has removed lan-
guage from IAS 1 that has been interpreted
as prescribing the order of the notes to the
financial statements. This should make it eas-
ier for entities to communicate information
in a logical and coherent fashion.

Action 5. The IASB has ensured that IAS
1 gives companies flexibility about where
they disclose accounting policies in the
financial statements; specifically, important
accounting policies should be given greater
prominence. Less significant accounting
policies can be relegated to the back.

Action 6. The proposed amendments to
IAS 7 are designed to improve 1) informa-
tion provided about an entity’s financing activ-
ities, excluding equity items, and 2) disclo-
sures to understand an entity’s liquidity. 

Action 7. The IASB will soon publish
draft guidance on the application of materi-
ality. This should provide auditors, prepar-
ers, and regulators with a clearer view of
what constitutes material information. The
board has conducted outreach with both
national and regional standards setters regard-
ing local guidance and practice on the appli-
cation of materiality. It has consulted numer-
ous other stakeholders, including the
International Organization of Securities
Commissions (IOSCO) and the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
(IAASB), about how materiality is applied
in practice. The board is aware of some sen-
sitivity on this topic because some consider
materiality to be the responsibility of the
securities regulator and the courts. The IASB

remains confident that it can develop help-
ful, voluntary guidance that works globally.

Action 8. When developing new standards,
the board will seek to use less prescriptive
wording for disclosure requirements. Instead,
it will focus on disclosure objectives and relat-
ed examples. In recent standards, the board
has explicitly stated the need to exercise judg-
ment when determining what is material. 

Action 9. The principles-of-disclosure pro-
ject is the cornerstone of the IASB’s disclo-
sure initiative. The project’s ultimate aim is
to replace the disclosure requirements in IAS
1, IAS 7, and IAS 8, but it may also affect
other standards. This project is revisiting some
of the work that was previously completed
as part of the financial statement presentation
project, and the board aims to publish a dis-
cussion paper early in 2016.

Action 10. The board is undertaking a gen-
eral review of disclosure requirements in
existing standards. This project will identify
and assess conflicts, duplication, and over-
laps. The project will also identify problem
areas, such as overly prescriptive wording
or the absence of clear objectives. 

Further Support
The IASB continues to receive strong sup-

port for the disclosure initiative, including
support for nearly all of the changes to the
IAS 1 amendments package. IASB’s out-
reach indicates considerable support for the
other projects outlined above.

The above measures have great potential
and, taken together, should evoke real behav-
ioral change among preparers and help
“break the boilerplate” of disclosures. It is
also hoped that these measures will change
the mindset among auditors and regulators.
In the meantime, the board will continue to
engage with all constituents, as well as users,
in making disclosures more meaningful
and more effective. q

Hugh Shields, CA, is the executive techni-
cal director of the IASB. Previously, he was
a managing director of Credit Suisse, based
in London. 
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